Transcranial Alternating Current Stimulation as an Alternative Treatment for Patients with Attention-Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD)

Doctoral thesis

to obtain a doctorate (PhD)

from the Faculty of Medicine

of the University of Bonn

Kyra Kannen

from Neuss, Germany 2024

Written with authorization of

the Faculty of Medicine of the University of Bonn

First reviewer: Prof. Dr. Alexandra Philipsen

Second reviewer: Prof. Dr. Christoph Herrmann

Day of oral examination: 28.05.2024

From the Clinic and Policlinic for Psychiatry and Psychotherapy Director: Prof. Dr. Alexandra Philipsen

Table of Contents

List of Abbreviations	4
1. Abstract	5
2. Introduction and Aims with References	6
2.1 Symptoms and Therapy of Attention-Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD)	6
2.2 Neurophysiological Correlates of Attention Deficits in ADHD	7
2.3. Brain Oscillations and Transcranial Alternating Current Stimulation (tACS) as an	
Alternative Treatment Approach for ADHD	8
2.4 Aims of the Dissertation	. 10
2.5 References	. 11
3. Publications	.19
3.1 Publication 1: Multimodal Virtual Reality-Based Assessment of Adult ADHD: A	
Feasibility Study in Healthy Subjects	. 19
3.2 Publication 2: P300 Modulation via Transcranial Alternating Current Stimulation	
in Adult Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder: A Crossover Study	.39
3.3 Publication 3: Alpha Modulation via Transcranial Alternating Current Stimulation	
in Adults with Attention-Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder	.59
4. Discussion with References	.75
4.1 Summary	.75
4.2 Electrical Brain Stimulation as a Therapeutic Approach for Psychiatric Disorders	
	.76
4.3 Limitations and Future Perspective	.76
4.4 Implications for Clinical Application of tACS	.77
4.5 Conclusion	.78
4.6 References	.79
5. Acknowledgements	. 82

List of Abbreviations

ANOVA	Analysis of variance
ADHD	Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder
CPT	Continuous Performance Task
ERP	Event-related-potential
fMRI	Functional magnetic resonance imaging
fNIRS	Functional near-infrared spectroscopy
NiBS	Non-invasive brain stimulation
NICE	National Institute for Health and Care Excellence
tACS	Transcranial alternating current stimulation
tDCS	Transcranial direct current stimulation
TES	Transcranial electric stimulation
VSR	Virtual Seminar Room
VR	Virtual Reality

1. Abstract

Attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) is a common neurodevelopmental disorder characterized by persistent inattention, hyperactivity, and impulsivity, with massive psychosocial and health-economical burdens. To improve ADHD symptoms, patients often receive long-lasting psychopharmacological treatment. Despite the high success of psychopharmacology, a significant minority of patients experience undesirable side effects or do not respond to the therapy. Since ADHD is associated with altered brain oscillations, a promising alternative treatment approach with less side effects is the application of noninvasive brain stimulation (NiBS). The potential of NiBS to modulate brain oscillations makes it a promising technique for the treatment of mental disorders that are characterized by pathologically altered brain oscillations compared to healthy controls. Thus, the main aim of this dissertation was to explore transcranial alternating current stimulation (tACS), a novel NiBS technique, as an alternative therapy intervention for adult ADHD.

To examine its clinical effectiveness, within the scope of this research, adults with ADHD received active tACS and a placebo stimulation on distinct days. Recorded subjective, behavioral, and neurophysiological data were analyzed before and after each intervention. While in the first tACS study conventional attention tasks were used to assess attentional performance, the second study was conducted in a developed reality-close, multi-modal, and standardized virtual reality (VR) test environment.

Electrophysiological analyses did not confirm that tACS significantly modulated the targeted brain oscillations. Consequently, no stimulation-related improvement of attentional ability was determined. Although we were not able to confirm a benefit of tACS for ADHD patients so far, the developed realistic and multi-modal VR test environment provides a comprehensive and ecologically valid assessment tool, capturing the complexity of ADHD symptomatology. Overall, our research emphasizes the need for further fundamental research to develop ADHD-tailored tACS therapies. In addition, our findings demonstrated that VR test settings advance the assessment of ADHD symptoms and are suitable for testing the efficiency of potential ADHD treatment interventions.

2. Introduction and Aims with References

2.1 Symptoms and Therapy of Attention-Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD)

ADHD is a childhood-onset developmental disorder that manifests as the core symptoms of inattention, impulsivity, and/or hyperactivity (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). Traditionally, ADHD was viewed as a childhood disorder that grows out of with age. By the end of the 20th century, there was convincing evidence for the existence of ADHD in adults and its continuity from childhood to adulthood (Wood et al., 1976). Patients diagnosed with ADHD show various neuropsychological characteristics, including impairments in attention and executive functions such as information processing, working memory, and inhibitory control (Woods et al., 2010; Kofler et al., 2020). But ADHD is also often associated with high creativity (see, for example, Abraham et al., 2006; Hoogman et al., 2020). In general, the clinical presentation of ADHD is heterogeneous, with a wide spectrum of severities and symptoms. The clinical presentation of adult ADHD is more diverse than that observed in pediatric populations, extending beyond typical motor symptoms. This presentation includes a wider range of emotional dysregulation and functional impairment (for a detailed overview, see Barkley et al., 2010). Lifespan research on consequences for patients with ADHD has revealed various individual burdens, such as difficulties in academic careers (Barbaresi et al., 2007; Birchwood and Daley, 2012), occupational burdens (Halmøy et al., 2009), difficulties in social interactions and relationships (Eakin et al., 2004; Gardner and Gerdes, 2015), higher accident rates (Brunkhorst-Kanaan et al., 2021), the development of comorbid mental disorders such as anxiety and affective disorders (Sobanski et al., 2007; Torgersen et al., 2009), and high societal burdens expressed by massive global economic costs (Chhibber et al., 2021; Matza et al., 2005). Stimulant medication is usually considered the first-choice treatment with good therapeutic effects (Bolea-Alamañac et al., 2014; Cortese, 2020). Although pharmacological interventions have been proven effective, the management of ADHD symptoms remains an ongoing challenge. One challenge is the suboptimal medication adherence which may result in more severe symptoms (Safren et al., 2007; Perwien et al., 2004; Semerci et al., 2016). For a review of factors that influence medication adherence in adults with ADHD, see the study by Khan and Aslani (2021). In addition, stimulants may cause adverse events in some patients, such as sleep disturbances (Wynchank et al., 2017), decreased

appetite and weight (Kis et al., 2020), as well as cardiovascular effects (Cortese et al., 2018; Hennissen et al., 2017). Moreover, current clinical guidelines emphasize the evaluation of potential long-term risks associated with pharmacological treatments for adult patients with ADHD. These guidelines recommend regular health examinations, suggesting that at least an annual assessment is necessary to determine the ongoing appropriateness of medication use (see, for example, NICE Guideline, 2018). Psychosocial treatment, cognitive training, and neurofeedback are additional treatment options that may improve symptoms but require significant effort and time (Cortese et al., 2015; Daley et al., 2014; Evans et al., 2018; Moreno-García et al., 2022; Nimmo-Smith et al., 2020).

Another increasingly researched and clinically applied therapeutic option for ADHD is transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS), a NiBS technique that involves the continuous depolarization or hyperpolarization of neurons in a targeted brain area (Nitsche and Paulus, 2000). TDCS has been the focus of many studies and is proposed as a promising alternative therapeutic approach for ADHD (Salehinejad et al., 2022), providing potential long-term benefits through neuroplasticity, which offers a significant advantage over the transient efficacy of pharmacological treatment (Rubia, 2018). This treatment approach aims to modulate underactive frontal brain regions in patients with ADHD (Hart et al., 2012). However, to fully comprehend its clinical utility, larger sample sizes are required for further systematic investigations (Salehinejad et al., 2020). In contrast, the potential benefits of a new NiBS technique, transcranial alternating current stimulation (tACS), for treating ADHD are still largely unexplored (Westwood et al., 2019).

2.2 Neurophysiological Correlates of Attention Deficits in ADHD

Research has consistently demonstrated differences in the neuromechanisms between adults with ADHD and healthy controls. These differences are primarily characterized by the dysregulation of brain regions associated with attention, emotion, and executive functions, such as the prefrontal cortex, anterior cingulate cortex, basal ganglia, and cerebellum (Bayard et al., 2020). Research using functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) has demonstrated, for instance, reduced activity in these brain regions for adults with ADHD during tasks that require attention and cognitive control, compared to healthy controls (Hart et al., 2013). Moreover, electroencephalography (EEG) studies have reported altered brain activity, including reduced frontal theta oscillations (Adamou et al., 2020;

7

Snyder and Hall, 2006) and a reduced event-related P300 amplitude in adults with ADHD (Peisch et al., 2021; Szuromi et al., 2011).

As previously noted, ADHD is a highly heterogeneous neurodevelopmental disorder, encompassing a range of comorbid psychiatric conditions, diverse clinical presentations, varying neurocognitive impairments, and developmental trajectories (Luo et al., 2019). Therefore, various medical and (neuro-)psychological assessments must be undertaken to diagnose ADHD (Kooij et al., 2019). While clinical interviews and rating scales are reliable methods to assess ADHD (Faraone et al., 2021), the diagnostic value of traditional neuropsychological assessments is limited, likely due to their low ecological validity and the diverse clinical presentation of ADHD (Baggio et al., 2020). To address this problem, virtual reality (VR) technique can help to enhance the ecological validity by capturing the complexity of everyday life situations in a standardized test environment (Wiebe et al., 2022).

Taken together, capturing ADHD with a single neurophysiological variable is unlikely due to its heterogeneity (Lenartowicz and Loo, 2014). In addition, different ADHD subtypes appear to be associated with distinct neural markers (see, e.g., Qian et al., 2019; Sanefuji et al., 2017). The heterogeneity of ADHD complicates its diagnosis and treatment, emphasizing the need to identify specific neuromarkers, such as altered brain oscillations, for the development of individualized, effective treatments.

2.3. Brain Oscillations and Transcranial Alternating Current Stimulation (tACS) as an Alternative Treatment Approach for ADHD

TACS is a novel NiBS technique that modulates intrinsic brain activity, specifically brain oscillations (Helfrich et al., 2014). Brain oscillations, which occur in distinct frequency bands (delta: less than 4 Hz, theta: 4-7 Hz, alpha: 8-12 Hz, beta: 13-30 Hz, gamma: higher than 30 Hz) play a crucial role in the transmission of information within and between different brain regions (Ward, 2003). Thereby, different frequency bands are associated with specific cognitive functions (Beste et al., 2023; Kahana, 2006). The theta band is related to various cognitive functions, such as attentional processing, navigation, memory processes, and sensory motor integration (for review, see Karakaş, 2020), while alpha oscillations are involved in attention processing, working memory, sensory processing, and the suppression of irrelevant information (Alamia et al., 2023; Klimesch, 2012; van

Ede, 2018; Wianda and Ross, 2019). A modulation of oscillations via tACS is achieved by applying a sinusoidal waveform with gradually alternate voltage between an anode and cathode electrode on the scalp (Ruffini et al., 2013). The exact physiological mechanisms underlying tACS effects are still under debate. Generally, tACS entails administrating electric currents to the scalp, penetrating the skull to primarily impact cortical neurons, with the voltage transitioning from positive to negative every half cycle (Elyamany et al., 2021). The main proposed mechanisms of action are entrainment, the modulation of cortical excitability, and the induction of long-term synaptic plasticity. Entrainment describes the adaptation of an intrinsic brain oscillation to a frequency-specific extrinsic driving force (Helfrich et al., 2014; Zaehle et al., 2010). To entrain brain oscillations successfully by tACS, it is important to consider the following principle: when an intrinsic oscillator is weakly stimulated, only a narrow range of frequencies, typically within 1 Hz of the stimulation frequency, can synchronize the oscillator with the external force. However, as stimulation intensity increases, the frequency range over which synchronization occurs becomes wider, typically within a stimulation frequency of 2 Hz (Herrmann et al., 2016; Huang et al., 2021; Kurmann et al., 2018). This synchronization region, which resembles a triangular shape, is referred to as the Arnold's tongue (Strogatz, 2003). While entrainment effects occur online, during the ongoing stimulation, offline effects persist beyond the stimulation period (see, e.g., Heise et al., 2019; Pozdniakov et al., 2021). The mechanisms underlying these offline effects involve neuroplasticity, which refers to the brain's ability to adapt to changes in the environment by increasing or decreasing neuronal synchronization (for a detailed overview, see Elyamany et al., 2021). Several EEG studies have demonstrated that the modulation of brain oscillations via entrainment can lead to improvements in cognitive performance (for a systematic review, see Klink et al., 2020). For instance, it was shown that it is possible to enhance cognitive performance parameters by stimulating theta-tACS (Lang et al., 2019; Mosbacher et al., 2021; Pahor and Jaušovec, 2018). Other researchers have found improved visuospatial attentional performance after applying alpha-tACS (Coldea et al., 2021; Hilla et al., 2023; Kasten and Herrmann, 2017; Kemmerer et al., 2022). A recent systematic review and meta-analysis has endorsed tACS for enhancing specific cognitive function, further supporting its therapeutic effectiveness (Grover et al., 2023). Due to its ability to enhance attentional processing, tACS is a promising therapeutic approach for addressing various cognitive disorders, particularly those associated with altered brain oscillations compared to healthy controls (Elyamany et al., 2021). Research has identified potential ADHD-related neuromarkers for tACS targeting, such as decreased alpha frequency band power (e.g., Kiiski et al. 2020) and reduced P300 amplitude (e.g., Hasler et al., 2016). Recently, it has been suggested that tACS can have a positive impact on ADHD symptoms by increasing the P300 amplitude (Boetzel and Herrmann, 2021; Dallmer-Zerbe et al., 2020). Another study compared tACS to the ADHD medication *Ritalin*. Results reported an advantage of tACS, demonstrating a higher reduction in attention deficit, hyperactivity, and impulsivity compared to *Ritalin* (Farokhzadi et al., 2021). However, as noted above, tACS has been largely neglected in ADHD research, so its utility in the therapy of ADHD remains unclear and needs further investigation (Westwood et al., 2019).

2.4 Aims of the Dissertation

The main objectives of this dissertation were to investigate the feasibility of a multi-modal, realistic, and standardized test-environment for assessing ADHD symptoms and to explore tACS as a treatment for adult ADHD. To address these objectives, first a virtual reality seminar room (VSR) was developed that is capable of characterizing ADHD symptoms (Publication 1). The VSR simulates a real-life seminar room with various distractions and offers multiple data measurement options (e.g., EEG, eye tracking, and actigraphy), creating a more realistic, complex, and yet standardized testing environment. In addition, two different tACS application techniques were tested for their efficacy in modulating brain oscillations and improving ADHD symptoms: the first tACS intervention aimed to modulate the P300 amplitude in adults with ADHD conducting a standard neuropsychological test. During the second tACS intervention, participants were immersed into the VSR while receiving tACS stimulation with the aim of increasing the alpha band power (Publication 2 and 3). This dissertation includes a comprehensive discussion of the potential utility of tACS as a treatment for ADHD, including detailed information on its implications for clinical application, as well as a comparison between tDCS and tACS. Finally, a roadmap is presented for investigating the potential of tACS in future ADHD treatment studies.

2.5 References

- Abraham A, Windmann S, Siefen R, Daum I, Güntürkün O. Creative Thinking in Adolescents with Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD). Child Neuropsychol 2006;12(2):111–123
- Adamou M, Fullen T, Jones SL. EEG for Diagnosis of Adult ADHD: A Systematic Review With Narrative Analysis. Front Psychiatry 2020;11
- Alamia A, Terral L, D'ambra MR, VanRullen R. Distinct roles of forward and backward alpha-band waves in spatial visual attention. Obleser J, Baker CI, Keitel C, editors. eLife 2023;12:e85035
- American Psychiatric Association. Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders: DSM-5[™], 5th ed. Arlington: American Psychiatric Publishing, 2013
- Baggio S, Hasler R, Giacomini V, El-Masri H, Weibel S, Perroud N, et al. Does the Continuous Performance Test Predict ADHD Symptoms Severity and ADHD Presentation in Adults? J Atten Disord 2020;24(6):840–884
- Barbaresi WJ, Katusic SK, Colligan RC, Weaver AL, Jacobsen SJ. Long-Term School Outcomes for Children with Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder: A Population-Based Perspective. J Dev Behav Pediatr 2007;28(4):265
- Barkley RA, Murphy KR, Fischer M. ADHD in adults: What the science says. New York: The Guilford Press, 2010
- Bayard F, Nymberg Thunell C, Abé C, Almeida R, Banaschewski T, Barker G, et al. Distinct brain structure and behavior related to ADHD and conduct disorder traits. Mol Psychiatry 2020;25(11):3020–3033
- Beste C, Münchau A, Frings C. Towards a systematization of brain oscillatory activity in actions. Commun Biol 2023; 6(1):1–11
- Birchwood J, Daley D. Brief report: The impact of Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD) symptoms on academic performance in an adolescent community sample. J Adolesc 2012;35(1):225–231
- Boetzel C, Herrmann CS. Potential targets for the treatment of ADHD using transcranial electrical current stimulation. In: Kadosh RC, Zaehle T, Krauel K, eds. Non-invasive Brain Stimulation (NIBS) in Neurodevelopmental Disorders Amsterdam: Elsevier, 2021:151–170

- Bolea-Alamañac B, Nutt DJ, Adamou M, Asherson P, Bazire S, Coghill D, et al. Evidencebased guidelines for the pharmacological management of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder: Update on recommendations from the British Association for Psychopharmacology. J Psychopharmacol 2014;28(3):179–203
- Brunkhorst-Kanaan N, Libutzki B, Reif A, Larsson H, McNeill RV, Kittel-Schneider S. ADHD and accidents over the life span A systematic review. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 2021;125(6):582–591
- Chhibber A, Watanabe AH, Chaisai C, Veettil SK, Chaiyakunapruk N. Global Economic Burden of Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder: A Systematic Review. Pharmacoeconomics 2021;39(4):399–420
- Coldea A, Morand S, Veniero D, Harvey M, Thut G. Parietal alpha tACS shows inconsistent effects on visuospatial attention. PLOS ONE 2021;16(8):e0255424
- Cortese S. Pharmacologic Treatment of Attention Deficit–Hyperactivity Disorder. N Engl J of Med 2020;383(11):1050–1056
- Cortese S, Adamo N, Giovane CD, Mohr-Jensen C, Hayes AJ, Carucci S, et al. Comparative efficacy and tolerability of medications for attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder in children, adolescents, and adults: a systematic review and network meta-analysis. Lancet Psychiatry 2018;5(9):727–738
- Cortese S, Ferrin M, Brandeis D, Buitelaar J, Daley D, Dittmann RW, et al. Cognitive Training for Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder: Meta-Analysis of Clinical and Neuropsychological Outcomes From Randomized Controlled Trials. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2015;54(3):164–174
- Daley D, Oord S van der, Ferrin M, Danckaerts M, Doepfner M, Cortese S, et al. Behavioral Interventions in Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder: A Meta-Analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials Across Multiple Outcome Domains. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2014;53(8):835-847.e5
- Dallmer-Zerbe I, Popp F, Lam AP, Philipsen A, Herrmann CS. Transcranial Alternating Current Stimulation (tACS) as a Tool to Modulate P300 Amplitude in Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD): Preliminary Findings. Brain Topogr 2020;33(2):191– 207
- Eakin L, Minde K, Hechtman L, Ochs E, Krane E, Bouffard R, et al. The marital and family functioning of adults with ADHD and their spouses. J Atten Disord 2004;8(1):1–10

- Elyamany O, Leicht G, Herrmann CS, Mulert C. Transcranial alternating current stimulation (tACS): from basic mechanisms towards first applications in psychiatry. Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci 2021;271(1):135-156
- Evans SW, Owens JS, Wymbs BT, Ray AR. Evidence-Based Psychosocial Treatments for Children and Adolescents With Attention Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder. J Clin Child Adolesc Psychol 2018;47(2):157–198
- Faraone SV, Banaschewski T, Coghill D, Zheng Y, Biederman J, Bellgrove MA, et al. The World Federation of ADHD International Consensus Statement: 208 Evidence-based conclusions about the disorder. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 2021;128:789–818
- Farokhzadi F, Mohamadi MR, Khosli AK, Akbarfahim M, Beigi NA, Torabi P. Comparing the Effectiveness of the Transcranial Alternating Current Stimulation (TACS) and Ritalin on Symptoms of Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder in 7-14-Year-Old Children. Acta Med Iran 2021;58(12): 637-648.
- Gardner DM, Gerdes AC. A Review of Peer Relationships and Friendships in Youth With ADHD. J Atten Disord 2015;19(10):844–855
- Grover S, Fayzullina R, Bullard BM, Levina V, Reinhart RMG. A meta-analysis suggests that tACS improves cognition in healthy, aging, and psychiatric populations. Sci Transl Med 2023;15(697):eabo2044
- Halmøy A, Fasmer OB, Gillberg C, Haavik J. Occupational Outcome in Adult ADHD: Impact of Symptom Profile, Comorbid Psychiatric Problems, and Treatment: A Cross-Sectional Study of 414 Clinically Diagnosed Adult ADHD Patients. J Atten Disord 2009;13(2):175–187
- Hart H, Radua J, Mataix-Cols D, Rubia K. Meta-analysis of fMRI studies of timing in attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD). Neurosci Biobehav Rev 2012;36(10):2248–2256
- Hart H, Radua J, Nakao T, Mataix-Cols D, Rubia K. Meta-analysis of Functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging Studies of Inhibition and Attention in Attention-deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder: Exploring Task-Specific, Stimulant Medication, and Age Effects. JAMA Psychiatry 2013;70(2):185–198
- Hasler R, Perroud N, Meziane HB, Herrmann F, Prada P, Giannakopoulos P, et al. Attention-related EEG markers in adult ADHD. Neuropsychologia 2016; 87:120-33

- Heise KF, Monteiro TS, Leunissen I, Mantini D, Swinnen SP. Distinct online and offline effects of alpha and beta transcranial alternating current stimulation (tACS) on continuous bimanual performance and task-set switching. Sci Rep 2019;9(1):3144
- Helfrich RF, Schneider TR, Rach S, Trautmann-Lengsfeld SA, Engel AK, Herrmann CS. Entrainment of Brain Oscillations by Transcranial Alternating Current Stimulation. Curr Biol 2014;24(3):333–339
- Hennissen L, Bakker MJ, Banaschewski T, Carucci S, Coghill D, Danckaerts M, et al. Cardiovascular Effects of Stimulant and Non-Stimulant Medication for Children and Adolescents with ADHD: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Trials of Methylphenidate, Amphetamines and Atomoxetine. CNS Drugs 2017;31(3):199-215
- Herrmann CS, Murray MM, Ionta S, Hutt A, Lefebvre J. Shaping Intrinsic Neural Oscillations with Periodic Stimulation. J Neurosci 2016;36(19):5328–5337
- Hilla Y, Link F, Sauseng P. Alpha-tACS alters attentional control but not cognitive functions as video games do: A psychophysical investigation based on the theory of visual attention. Eur J Neurosci 2023;57(10):1705–1722
- Hoogman M, Stolte M, Baas M, Kroesbergen E. Creativity and ADHD: A review of behavioral studies, the effect of psychostimulants and neural underpinnings. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 2020;119(12):66–85
- Huang WA, Stitt IM, Negahbani E, Passey DJ, Ahn S, Davey M, et al. Transcranial alternating current stimulation entrains alpha oscillations by preferential phase synchronization of fast-spiking cortical neurons to stimulation waveform. Nat Commun 2021;12(1):3151
- Kahana MJ. The Cognitive Correlates of Human Brain Oscillations. J Neurosci 2006;26(6):1669–1672
- Karakaş S. A review of theta oscillation and its functional correlates. Int J Psychophysiol 2020;157:82–99
- Kasten FH, Herrmann CS. Transcranial Alternating Current Stimulation (tACS) Enhances Mental Rotation Performance during and after Stimulation. Front Hum Neurosci 2017 11(2):1-16
- Kemmerer SK, Sack AT, de Graaf TA, ten Oever S, De Weerd P, Schuhmann T. Frequency-specific transcranial neuromodulation of alpha power alters visuospatial attention performance. Brain Research 2022;1782:147834

- Khan MU, Aslani P. Exploring factors influencing initiation, implementation and discontinuation of medications in adults with ADHD. Health Expectat 2021;24(S1):82–94.
- Kis B, Lücke C, Abdel-Hamid M, Heßmann P, Graf E, Berger M, et al. Safety Profile of Methylphenidate Under Long-Term Treatment in Adult ADHD Patients – Results of the COMPAS Study. Pharmacopsychiatry 2020;53(6):263–271
- Kiiski H, Bennett M, Rueda-Delgado LM, Farina FR, Knight R, Boyle R, et al. EEG spectral power, but not theta/beta ratio, is a neuromarker for adult ADHD. Eur J Neurosci 2020;51(10):2095–2109.
- Klimesch W. Alpha-band oscillations, attention, and controlled access to stored information. Trends Cogn Sci 2012;16(12):606–617
- Klink K, Paßmann S, Kasten FH, Peter J. The Modulation of Cognitive Performance with Transcranial Alternating Current Stimulation: A Systematic Review of Frequency-Specific Effects. Brain Sci 2020;10(12):932
- Kofler MJ, Soto EF, Fosco WD, Irwin LN, Wells EL, Sarver DE. Working memory and information processing in ADHD: Evidence for directionality of effects. Neuropsychology 2020;34(2):127–143
- Kooij JJS, Bijlenga D, Salerno L, Jaeschke R, Bitter I, Balázs J, et al. Updated European Consensus Statement on diagnosis and treatment of adult ADHD. Eur Psychiatry 2019;56(1):14–34
- Kurmann R, Gast H, Schindler K, Fröhlich F. Rational design of transcranial alternating current stimulation: Identification, engagement, and validation of network oscillations as treatment targets. Clin Transl Neurosci 2018;2(2):2514183X18793515
- Lang S, Gan LS, Alrazi T, Monchi O. Theta band high definition transcranial alternating current stimulation, but not transcranial direct current stimulation, improves associative memory performance. Sci Rep 2019;9(1):8562
- Lenartowicz A, Loo SK. Use of EEG to Diagnose ADHD. Curr Psychiatry Rep 2014;16(11):498
- Luo Y, Weibman D, Halperin JM, Li X. A Review of Heterogeneity in Attention Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD). Front Hum Neurosci 2019;13:42
- Matza LS, Paramore C, Prasad M. A review of the economic burden of ADHD. Cost Eff Resour Alloc 2005;3(6):5

- Moreno-García I, Cano-Crespo A, Rivera F. Results of Neurofeedback in Treatment of Children with ADHD: A Systematic Review of Randomized Controlled Trials. Appl Psychophysiol Biofeedback 2022;47(3):145–181
- Mosbacher JA, Halverscheid S, Pustelnik K, Danner M, Prassl C, Brunner C, et al. Theta Band Transcranial Alternating Current Stimulation Enhances Arithmetic Learning: A Systematic Comparison of Different Direct and Alternating Current Stimulations. Neurosci 2021;477:89–105
- National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE), 2018: Attention deficit hyperactivity disorder: diagnosis and management. <u>https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng87</u> (Available from: 07.01.2024)
- Nitsche MA, Paulus W. Excitability changed induced in the human motor cortex by weak transcranial direct current stimulation. J Physiol 2000;527(3): 633–639
- Nimmo-Smith V, Merwood A, Hank D, Brandling J, Greenwood R, Skinner L, et al. Nonpharmacological interventions for adult ADHD: a systematic review. Psychol Med 2020;50(4):529–541
- Pahor A, Jaušovec N. The Effects of Theta and Gamma tACS on Working Memory and Electrophysiology. Front Hum Neurosci 2018;11:651
- Peisch V, Rutter T, Wilkinson CL, Arnett AB. Sensory processing and P300 event-related potential correlates of stimulant response in children with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: A critical review. Clin Neurophysiol 2021;132(4):953–966
- Perwien AR, Hall J, Swensen A, Swindle R. Stimulant Treatment Patterns and Compliance in Children and Adults With Newly Treated Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder. J Manag Care Pharm 2004;10(2):122–129
- Pozdniakov I, Vorobiova AN, Galli G, Rossi S, Feurra M. Online and offline effects of transcranial alternating current stimulation of the primary motor cortex. Sci Rep 2021;11(1):3854
- Qian X, Castellanos FX, Uddin LQ, Loo BRY, Liu S, Koh HL, et al. Large-scale brain functional network topology disruptions underlie symptom heterogeneity in children with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. NeuroImage 2019;21:101600
- Rubia K. Cognitive Neuroscience of Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD) and Its Clinical Translation. Front Hum Neurosci 2018;12:100

- Ruffini G, Wendling F, Merlet I, Molaee-Ardekani B, Mekonnen A, Salvador R, et al. Transcranial Current Brain Stimulation (tCS): Models and Technologies. IEEE Trans Neural Syst Rehabil Eng 2013;21(3):333-345.
- Safren SA, Duran P, Yovel I, Perlman CA, Sprich S. Medication Adherence in Psychopharmacologically Treated Adults With ADHD. J Atten Disord 2007;10(3):257–260
- Salehinejad MA, Nejati V, Mosayebi-Samani M, Mohammadi A, Wischnewski M, Kuo MF, et al. Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation in ADHD: A Systematic Review of Efficacy, Safety, and Protocol-induced Electrical Field Modeling Results. Neurosci Bull 2020;36(10):1191–1212
- Salehinejad MA, Ghanavati E, Glinski B, Hallajian AH, Azarkolah A. A systematic review of randomized controlled trials on efficacy and safety of transcranial direct current stimulation in major neurodevelopmental disorders: ADHD, autism, and dyslexia. Brain Behav 2022;12(9):e2724
- Sanefuji M, Craig M, Parlatini V, Mehta MA, Murphy DG, Catani M, et al. Double-dissociation between the mechanism leading to impulsivity and inattention in Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder: A resting-state functional connectivity study. Cortex 2017;86:290–302
- Semerci B, Taskıran S, Tufan E, Şanlı I. Factors predicting treatment adherence in patients with adult attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: a preliminary study. ADHD Atten Def Hyp Disord 2016;8(3):139–147
- Snyder SM, Hall JR. A Meta-analysis of Quantitative EEG Power Associated With Attention-Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder. J Clin Neurophysiol 2006;23(5):441
- Sobanski E, Brüggemann D, Alm B, Kern S, Deschner M, Schubert T, et al. Psychiatric comorbidity and functional impairment in a clinically referred sample of adults with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD). Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosc 2007;257(7):371–377
- Strogatz S. Synchronization: A Universal Concept in Nonlinear Sciences. Phys Today 2003;56(1):47
- Szuromi B, Czobor P, Komlósi S, Bitter I. P300 deficits in adults with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder: a meta-analysis. Psychol Med 2011;41(7):1529–1538
- Torgersen T, Gjervan B, Rasmussen K. ADHD in adults: A study of clinical characteristics, impairment and comorbidity. Nord J Psychiatry 2009;60(1):38–43

- van Ede F. Mnemonic and attentional roles for states of attenuated alpha oscillations in perceptual working memory: a review. Eur J Neurosci 2018;48(7):2509–2515
- Ward LM. Synchronous neural oscillations and cognitive processes. Trends Cogn Sci 2003;7(12):553–559.
- Westwood S, Radua J, Rubia K. Non-invasive brain stimulation as an alternative treatment for ADHD: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Brain Stimul 2019;12(2):502
- Wianda E, Ross B. The roles of alpha oscillation in working memory retention. Brain Behav 2019;9(4):e01263
- Wiebe A, Kannen K, Selaskowski B, Mehren A, Thöne AK, Pramme L, et al. Virtual reality in the diagnostic and therapy for mental disorders: A systematic review. Clin Psychol Rev 2022;98:102213
- Wood DR, Reimherr FW, Wender PH, Johnson GE. Diagnosis and Treatment of Minimal Brain Dysfunction in Adults: A Preliminary Report. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1976;33(12):1453–1460
- Woods SP, Lovejoy DW, Ball JD. Neuropsychological Characteristics of Adults with ADHD: A Comprehensive Review of Initial Studies. Clin Neuropsychol 2010;16(1):12–34
- Wynchank D, Bijlenga D, Beekman AT, Kooij JJS, Penninx BW. Adult Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD) and Insomnia: an Update of the Literature. Curr Psychiatry Rep 2017;19(12):98

Zaehle T, Rach S, Herrmann CS. Transcranial Alternating Current Stimulation Enhances Individual Alpha Activity in Human EEG. PLOS ONE 2010;5(11):e13766

3. Publications

3.1 Publication 1: Multimodal Virtual Reality-Based Assessment of Adult ADHD: A Feasibility Study in Healthy Subjects

Multimodal Virtual Reality-Based Assessment of Adult ADHD: A Feasibility Study in Healthy Subjects

Assessment 2023, Vol. 30(5) 1435–1453 © The Author(s) 2022

Article reuse guidelines: sagepub.com/journals-permissions DOI: 10.1177/10731911221089193 journals.sagepub.com/home/asm

Annika Wiebe^{1*}, Kyra Kannen^{1*}, Mengtong Li¹, Behrem Aslan¹, David Anders¹, Benjamin Selaskowski¹, Ulrich Ettinger², Silke Lux¹, Alexandra Philipsen¹, and Niclas Braun¹

Abstract

Neuropsychological assessments are often surprisingly inaccurate in mapping clinically-reported attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) symptoms, presumably due to their low ecological validity. Virtual reality (VR) might offer a potential solution for this problem, given its capability to generate standardized and yet highly realistic virtual environments. As the first adaptation of existing virtual classroom scenarios to an adult population, we developed a Virtual Seminar Room (VSR) for multimodal characterization of ADHD symptoms. To test its feasibility, N = 35 healthy participants were immersed into the VSR via a head-mounted display and carried out a VR-embedded continuous performance task (CPT) under varying levels of distractions in two experimental blocks (24 min each). CPT performance, electroencephalography (EEG) measures, and head movements (actigraphy) were simultaneously recorded and analyzed offline. Although CPT performance remained constant throughout the task, head movements increased significantly from Block I to Block 2. In addition, EEG theta (4–7 Hz) and beta (13–30 Hz) power was higher during Block I than Block 2, and during distractor-present than distractor-absent phases. Moreover, P300 amplitudes were higher during Block I than Block 2, and P300 latencies were prolonged in distractor-absent compared with distractor-present phases. Although the paradigm awaits further improvements, this study confirms the general feasibility of the VSR and provides a first step toward a multimodal, ecologically valid, and reliable VR-based adult ADHD assessment.

Keywords

Virtual Seminar Room, ADHD, VR, multimodal assessment, EEG, inattention, continuous performance task

Attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) is a childhood-onset developmental disorder that manifests in symptoms of inattention, impulsivity, and/or hyperactivity (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). While symptoms of impulsivity and hyperactivity often diminish with age, inattention symptoms frequently persist across the whole lifespan (Francx et al., 2015; Franke et al., 2018; Willcutt et al., 2012). Therefore, ADHD is not only a disease of childhood and adolescence but often also of adulthood. On a neuropsychological level, adults with ADHD show deficits in a variety of cognitive domains, including sustained attention, interference control, behavioral inhibition, and perceptual speed (Chamorro et al., 2021; Hervey et al., 2004; Woods et al., 2002). Among the neuropsychological tests most commonly employed, is the continuous performance task (CPT; Rosvold et al., 1956). In this task, participants are presented with a series of stimuli and instructed to press a response key as soon as a certain, infrequent target stimulus appears and to suppress responses to any other, nontarget stimuli. For reaching optimal task performance, participants, thus, need to concomitantly sustain their attention and control their impulsive behavior throughout the task, which is why the CPT theoretically appears well-suited for assessing inattention and impulsivity.

Although the CPT is often employed in the assessment of ADHD, it has been of surprisingly limited diagnostic utility so far. In fact, although numerous variants of the CPT have been developed, with modifications in form, number, and frequency of stimuli, correlations between clinically reported ADHD symptoms and CPT performance are typically only low to moderate (Barkley, 1991; Lange et al.,

¹Department for Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, University Hospital Bonn, Bonn, Germany

²Department of Psychology, University of Bonn, Bonn, Germany

*Both authors equally contributed to this work.

Corresponding Author:

Niclas Braun, Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, University of Bonn, Venusberg-Campus 1, Bonn 53127, Germany. Email: niclas.braun@ukbonn.de 2014). Likewise, although at group level some CPT differences between ADHD patients and healthy controls have been observed, a precise, CPT-based single-subject classification between ADHD patients and healthy controls is not yet possible (Barkley, 2019; Lange et al., 2014).

So far, the reasons for the CPT's low diagnostic utility are not sufficiently understood. However, several causes are conceivable. First, ADHD is a highly heterogeneous disorder. The pattern and severity of cognitive deficits differ greatly between patients, with some individuals even scoring in the normal range on neuropsychological tasks, therefore not showing any impairment at all (Mostert et al., 2015; Nigg et al., 2005; Willcutt et al., 2005). Second, most CPT evaluations focus on markers of inattention (e.g., omission errors) and impulsivity (e.g., commission errors), while markers of hyperactivity are usually not evaluated. A CPTbased evaluation of this ADHD core symptom, however, appears possible by acquiring additional levels of analysis, for example, recording the participant's motor activity during the CPT. Hall et al. (2016), for instance, demonstrated that by combining CPT performances with actigraphy, classification rates can be improved. And third, ecological validity of most CPT implementations appears to be rather low. Given the need for a highly standardized and reproducible test environment, most existing CPT implementations confine themselves to the presentation of simple, twodimensional stimuli (e.g., letters or numbers) via computer screens. Such test implementations, however, raise the question, as to how far such a stimulus presentation may reliably mimic everyday life challenges, where environments are substantially more complex and the individual is surrounded by various distracting external stimuli (Varao-Sousa et al., 2018).

A solution for creating more reality-close test situations may be offered by virtual reality (VR) technology. Through creating three-dimensional (3D), immersive, and interactive virtual environments which allow to reliably mimic everyday life demands, ecological validity can be increased while still maintaining a high level of standardization (Parsons, 2015).

Regarding ADHD assessment during childhood and adolescence, two similar, but independently-developed virtual test environments have been investigated over the last years: the Virtual Classroom by Rizzo et al. (2006) and the AULA Nesplora by Iriarte et al. (2016). In the Virtual Classroom, children with ADHD are immersed into a virtual environment that resembles an ordinary classroom. Sitting at a desk surrounded by virtual classmates, the children are instructed to follow a classical visual CPT that is presented on the blackboard. To enhance reality closeness and incorporate a measure of distractibility and external interference control, different visual, auditory, and audiovisual distractors inside the virtual environment (e.g., a paper-plane flying through the room) can be presented Assessment 30(5)

during the task (Parsons & Rizzo, 2019). The design of the AULA Nesplora is similar, except that it contains both visual and auditory CPT stimuli (Iriarte et al., 2016). Both virtual test environments have been shown to differentiate between ADHD children/adolescents and healthy controls, with ADHD patients committing more overall errors in the CPT (Areces et al., 2018; Mühlberger et al., 2016; Negut et al., 2017; Parsons et al., 2007; Rizzo et al., 2006) and displaying a larger amount of head- and overall body-movements during task completion (Areces et al., 2018; Parsons et al., 2007; Rizzo et al., 2006). In the Virtual Classroom, ADHD patients were additionally more affected by the insertion of distractors than healthy controls (Negut et al., 2017; Parsons et al., 2007; Rizzo et al., 2006). Moreover, Adams et al. (2009) found a higher classification rate for discriminating ADHD patients from healthy controls if the classifier was trained on a VR-based CPT compared with a traditional CPT.

Although the two virtual test environments have demonstrated their potential utility in assessing ADHD during childhood and adolescence, no similar VR scenarios have yet been developed for adult ADHD patients. Moreover, besides behavioral assessments and actigraphy analyses, no other variables of interest have been investigated yet. To gain further insights into possible neuromarkers of ADHD, it would, however, be beneficial to additionally examine task-dependent brain activity.

Regarding electroencephalography (EEG), one oscillation of interest might, for instance, be the theta rhythm (4-8 Hz), which has been reported to be abnormally elevated in ADHD patients (see, for example, Adamou et al., 2020). More specifically, it has been suggested that the increased theta power in ADHD children and adolescents declines with age but remains enhanced during adulthood (Bresnahan & Barry, 2002; Koehler et al., 2009; Picken et al., 2020).

Another interesting EEG parameter is the theta-beta ratio (TBR), which reflects the ratio between absolute theta power and absolute beta power (12-40 Hz) and has been associated with attentional control (e.g., Angelidis et al., 2016). Although for several years the TBR was considered a robust neuromarker for ADHD (see, for example, Arns et al., 2013; Barry et al., 2003), more recent studies found only low diagnostic utility (e.g., Loo & Makeig, 2012) and qualified the TBR-hypotheses: Although TBR differences between children with ADHD and healthy controls appear to exist (Monastra et al., 2001; Snyder & Hall, 2006; Zhang et al., 2017), a significant TBR difference between adult ADHD patients and healthy controls could not be consistently found (Kiiski et al., 2020; Saad et al., 2015; van Dijk et al., 2020).

A third EEG parameter of interest relating to eventrelated potential (ERP) analyses is the P300 component, a positive voltage deflection ~300 ms after the target stimulus, which has been associated with stimulus evaluation (Sutton et al., 1965). Evidence from numerous studies suggests reduced amplitude (Grane et al., 2016; Hasler et al., 2016; Marquardt et al., 2018; Prox et al., 2007; Szuromi et al., 2011; Wiersema et al., 2006; Woltering et al., 2013) and prolonged latency (Idiazábal et al., 2002; Lazzaro et al., 2001; Tsai et al., 2012; Yamamuro et al., 2016) of this ERP component in ADHD patients compared with healthy controls.

The aim of the present, preregistered feasibility study was to complement existing VR research by undertaking a first step toward a VR-assisted, ecologically valid, and multimodal assessment procedure for adult ADHD patients. As a first step, we developed a new Virtual Seminar Room (VSR) scenario that resembles the already existing virtual classroom paradigms but is specifically tailored to adults. Moreover, our VSR not only enables CPT performance and actigraphy analyses but also ecological momentary assessment and EEG analyses. To demonstrate the general feasibility of our newly developed scenario, we applied our VSR to a sample of N = 35 healthy adults. Our main objectives were, first, to ensure that the VR scenario is feasible and does not induce discomfort in participants (see, for example, Barrett, 2004), and second, to test whether the simultaneous assessment of the different measures in VR is possible. Here, our main focus was on the combination of VR and mobile EEG, considering that EEG signals are easily distorted by head movements or pressure on the electrodes (Tauscher et al., 2019). In the VSR, both of those confounders are difficult to avoid. On one hand, a headmounted display (HMD) on top of an EEG cap may induce strain on the electrodes, which might cause artifacts interfering with EEG signals. On the other hand, an immersive VR experience can only be created if participants can freely move their heads and look around, which may lead to an increased amount of motion artifacts.

Therefore, to test whether our setup allows us to derive plausible data, we analyzed participants' CPT performance, EEG data, and head actigraphy over time and during distractor-present and distractor-absent task phases. Regarding CPT performance over time, previous VR classroom studies did not find a performance drop in healthy participants (see, for example, Bioulac et al., 2012). However, in the current VSR paradigm, the CPT blocks are substantially longer, and therefore we expect to observe a similar increase in error rates over time, as observed in traditional computer-based CPTs (Ballard, 1996a; Grier et al., 2003). Regarding the influence of distractions on CPT performance, previous VR classroom studies yielded mixed results. Although Parsons et al. (2007) found distractor-induced increases in error rates in healthy controls, Negut et al. (2017) did not. Therefore, considering the length of our task and the comparatively high number of distractor-present and distractor-absent phases, we expect to see a distractor-induced performance decline in our present sample. Regarding ERP analyses, we expect to see a target

1437

P300 as in previous CPT studies (Fallgatter et al., 2000; Kirmizi-Alsan et al., 2006). Moreover, regarding TBR analyses, we expect an increased TBR over time which has been attributed to mind-wandering in the past (van Son et al., 2018). With regards to head actigraphy, we hypothesize that, similar to previous VR classroom studies, head movements will increase over time (Mühlberger et al., 2016) and in distractor phases (DP) compared with non-distractor phases (NDP; Parsons et al., 2007).

Method

Participants

Thirty-five healthy volunteers ($M_{age} = 23.43$; SD = 2.87; 14 males) were recruited for the study via mailing lists, direct advertisements, and social media. Eligibility criteria were normal or corrected-to-normal vision, no history of severe psychiatric or neurological disease and sufficient knowledge of the German language. Participants filled in a demographic questionnaire in which they had to inform the experimenter about current medication and whether they received any neurological, psychiatric or psychotherapeutic treatment. All participants gave written informed consent and received an expense allowance of 20 € for their participation. The study was approved by the University of Bonn's medical ethics committee (protocol number: 011/20) and preregistered at the German Clinical Trials Register (https://www.drks.de/, Trial-ID: DRKS00021495).

General Procedure

The experiment lasted approximately 2 hr and was conducted in the VR laboratory of the University Hospital of Bonn. Upon arrival, participants were first informed about the study procedure and then signed the consent sheet. Next, they filled in three digital questionnaires via a computer, using the online survey tool SoSci-Survey (https://www. soscisurvey.de/). The three questionnaires administered were a demographical questionnaire, the Scale for the Evaluation of Attention Deficits (revised version, SEA-R, Volz-Sidiropoulou et al., 2007) and the Scale of Impulsive Behavior 8 (I-8, Kovaleva et al., 2012). After these questionnaires were filled in, the participants were prepared for the EEG measurement. Next, they became equipped with a HMD and immersed into the VSR, in which they first underwent a 60 s familiarization phase and then the actual CPT. In total, the CPT lasted ~48 min and took place directly within the VSR (details in "Continuous Performance Task" section). After the CPT was finished, the participants remained in the VSR to document their momentary level of cybersickness. To this end, they completed a subset of the Virtual Reality Sickness Questionnaire (VRSQ, Kim et al., 2018) by means of a VR-embedded gesture-based user



Figure 1. The Virtual Seminar Room. (A) Real-world third-person perspective and (B) first person perspective in the virtual environment. Participants were immersed into the Virtual Seminar Room (VSR), in which the continuous performance task (CPT) was presented at the canvas in front of the room.

interface (UI, see "Experience Sampling" section). Finally, the participants left the virtual environment and completed a recognition test (see "Recognition test" section) and an expense allowance sheet.

Apparatus and Virtual Environment Implementation

The experimental apparatus and VSR are displayed in Figure 1. Participants sat at a 1 m × 1 m table (cf. Figure 1A) within a 3.70 m × 2.65 m VR-play area (cf. Figure 1B). The VSR was presented via the HMD HTC VIVE Pro (HTC Corporation, Taoyuan City, Taiwan). This HMD has a 110-degree field of view, 90 Hz screen refresh rate and 1,440 × 1,600 per eye image resolution. The VSR was self-assembled under Unity 3D 2019.1.10f1 (Unity Technologies, San Francisco, CA, USA) and C#. When immersed into the VSR, participants found themselves sitting at a 1 m × 1 m virtual table, whose position matched the position of the 1 m × 1 m table in the real world. The virtual table was located in the back of the VSR, so that the participants had a good overview over the entire VSR. The VSR contained the typical furniture found in a seminar room, including a

canvas right at the front wall of the VSR. Moreover, the VSR contained virtual classmates that performed unobtrusive idle movements during NDP and, if applicable, more complex actions during DP (details in "Continuous Performance Task" section). The 3D objects, sounds, and animations used for implementing the VSR were obtained from different commercial and non-commercial asset sources (i.e. Mixamo, Unity Asset Store, Renderpeople).

Both the physical and virtual environments were spatially mapped by positional tracking, such that whenever the participants changed their head position in the real world, the HMD position in the virtual world adjusted accordingly. Using the Leap Motion system (Leap Motion Incorporation, San Francisco, CA, USA) together with a Unity SDK (https://developer.leapmotion.com/unity; accessed 07.01.21), the participants' biological hand movements were real-time tracked and translated to two virtual hands shown in the VSR. The 3D hand models used for that were obtained from the "Leap Motion Realistic Hands" collection (downloadable over Unity's asset store) and represented white-colored, average-sized human hands. The virtual hands were animated in such a way, that whenever the participants moved one of their biological hands, the



Figure 2. Experimental Design.

(A) Time course of the experiment. After being acquainted with the general procedure of the experiment and continuous performance test (CPT), the participants had to perform two CPT blocks (24 min each) and to undergo an experience sampling (ES) after each block. While the two CPT blocks were running, distracting events were concomitantly happening in the Virtual Seminar Room (VSR) during distractor phases (DP), but not during non-distractor phases (NDP). Within each CPT block, four DP and four NDP were alternatingly run, whereby each of these phases lasted 3 min. (B) Implementation of the CPT. Participants performed the CPT with an interstimulus interval of 1900 ms and a stimulus interval of 100 ms. Upon each target letter sequence ("A—K" or "H—F"), participants had to react with a spacebar press, while for any other letter sequence they had to withhold any button presses. (C) DP and NDP. During DP, distracting events were presented every 45 s in the VSR. 15 of these distractors were solely visual (e.g., a paper plane), 15 solely auditory (e.g., phone ringing) and 15 audiovisual mixed (e.g., an ambulance driving by).

respecting virtual hand moved correspondingly and without noticeable delay at the respecting position in virtual space. The virtual hands were used to amplify the level of embodiment and to enable gesture-based experience sampling (see "Experience Sampling" section).

Continuous Performance Task

The implementation of the CPT is illustrated in Figure 2. Directly implemented into the VSR, the CPT was realized by a series of single letters that were iteratively presented at the middle of the virtual canvas. As soon as a target letter sequence appeared, participants had to press the spacebar on a keyboard in front of them, following the second of the two letters in the sequence, while for any other letter sequence they had to withhold any button presses. The two target letter sequences defined were "A-K" and "H-F." Whereas the sequence "A—K" was derived from other VR CPT studies (Mühlberger et al., 2016; Negut et al., 2017), the sequence "H-F" was added to further increase task difficulty. Each letter was shown for 100 ms, with an interstimulus interval of 1900 ms (Mühlberger et al., 2016). After a practice run of 20 trials, the actual CPT began, which was split into two blocks (Block 1, Block 2) with a duration of 24 min each. In each block, 360 letter pairs were

presented, out of which 108 (~30%) letter pairs represented a target sequence and 252 a non-target sequence (~70%), a ratio similar to the one used by Neguț et al. (2017). To increase task difficulty, the non-target pairs entailed 126 pseudo-target sequences, in which the first letter was either an "A" or "H," but the second was not "K" or "F," or the second letter was a "K" or "F," but the first was not "A" or "H."

While the two CPT blocks were running, intermittently distracting events were played in the VSR (cf. Figure 2). More specifically, within each CPT block, four DP and four NDP were alternatingly run, whereby each of these phases lasted 3 min. Whereas in a DP, different distracting events occurred every 45 s, no distractors were played during an NDP. Among the 32 distractors presented in total, 10 were solely visual (e.g., a classmate waving), 11 solely auditory (e.g., a dog barking), and 11 audiovisual (e.g., an ambulance driving by; for a complete list of all distracting events presented, see SM1). Although the distractor order was completely randomized, the phase order was counterbalanced across participants, in that for even participant numbers, the experiment started with a DP and for odd numbers, it started with an NDP.

For assessing CPT performance, three parameters of interest were extracted for each participant: the rate of



Figure 3. Experience Sampling.

(A) For an immediate assessment of the participants' experiences during continuous performance task (CPT) performances, a virtual user interface showed up after each CPT block and surveyed the participants about their momentary subjective levels of inattention, impulsivity and hyperactivity, (B) real-world third-person perspective, and (C) real-world first person view.

omission errors (i.e., the percentage of nonresponses to target stimuli), the rate of commission errors (i.e., the percentage of responses to nontarget stimuli) and reaction time variability (RTV), which was defined as the standard deviation of reaction times toward correct hit trials divided by the mean reaction time (Kofler et al., 2013; Levy et al., 2018). Omission error rates are considered a measure of inattention, whereas commission error rates are thought to reflect impulsivity (Nichols & Waschbusch, 2004). RTV is considered a measure of vigilance, as lapses in attention lead to temporary slowing of responses, resulting in overall more variable reaction times (Levy et al., 2018).

Experience Sampling

Assessment of the participants' subjective performances was carried out by a gesture-controlled UI (cf. Figure 3). After each block, this UI appeared as a VR-embedded, semi-transparent overlay in front of the participants. The UI iteratively surveyed the participants about three typical ADHD symptoms: inattention ("I had difficulty concentrating during this block."), impulsivity ("I often had to stop myself from giving a wrong answer."), and hyperactivity ("I moved a lot during this block."). For each statement, the participants had to indicate their momentary level of agreement on a 7-point Likert-type scale, ranging from -3("totally disagree") to +3 ("totally agree"). The VRSQ, which was assessed at the end of the VR experiment, was also presented via this UI.

Recognition Test

To assess the extent to which the participants noticed the presented distractors during the CPT, a recognition test was administered at the end of the experiment. The recognition test surveyed the participants about 64 distracting events that might potentially have happened during the CPT. For each of these potential events at issue, participants were presented a "reminder" picture and/or sound file of the respective event and were asked whether they recognized the event or not (e.g., "Did you notice that this person yawned?"). To control for false-positive answers, only 32 of the 64 suggested events represented an event that actually happened. For the statistical analysis, recognition sensitivity (d') was separately calculated for each participant. To adjust for extreme values (i.e., hit or false alarm rate of 0 or 1), the loglinear approach was used (Hautus, 1995; Stanislaw & Todorov, 1999).

EEG Recording and Analyses

EEG was acquired via a wireless EEG system (Smarting®, mBrainTrain®, Belgrade, Serbia). The electrode montage represented a subset of the 10-20 system and consisted of 24 Ag/AgCl sintered ring electrodes: Fp1, Fp2, AFz, F3, Fz, F4, T7, C3, Cz, C4, T8, CPz, P7, P3, Pz, P4, P8, POz, O1, O2, M1 and M2. The ground electrode (DRL) was placed at FPz, while FCz served as reference (CMS). The amplifier was attached to the back of the EEG cap (EASYCAP, Herrsching, Germany) and communicated wirelessly with the computer via Bluetooth. All impedances were kept below 10 k Ω . The EEG signal was recorded via Lab (https://github.com/sccn/labstream-Streaming Layer inglayer) with a 500 Hz sampling rate and 24-bit step-size resolution. Data analysis was performed using Matlab 2018b (The MathWorks Inc., Natick, MA, USA) and EEGLAB 2019 (Delorme & Makeig, 2004).

Pre-Processing and Data Cleaning. For offline analyses, EEG data were first low-pass filtered with a cut-off frequency of 40 Hz and high-pass filtered with a cut-off frequency of 1 Hz (Hamming windowed finite impulse response filter of order 1,650, transition bandwidth 1 Hz) and then detrended. No rereferencing was applied. Next, data were screened for noisy EEG channels. In four datasets, channel Fz had to be replaced via spherical interpolation using EEGLAB's inbuilt function *pop interp* (Perrin et al., 1989). Moreover, all datasets were screened for missing data segments due to Bluetooth connection losses. In three datasets, missing data segments ranging from 48 to 132 s were found. In these cases, the entire DP or NPD in which the respecting corrupted sequence occurred, was removed, before all further EEG analyses were performed. As a next step, all EEG datasets were cleaned from artifacts. To this end, the continuous EEG data were first epoched into 2-second time windows and nonstereotypic artifacts were removed by the built-in EEGLAB function pop jointprob with a threshold of 1.7 standard deviations. Next, an independent component analysis (ICA) using pop runica (extended version) was computed on the epoched EEG data and components containing stereotypical artifacts, like for example ocular, cardiac or muscle activity, were identified by visual inspection. The ICA demixing matrix was then applied to the original continuous dataset (1-40 Hz filtered) and the previously identified artifactual components were rejected before back-projecting them onto the source space.

Frequency Analyses. Time-frequency analyses focused on TBR differences between phases (DP vs. NDP) and blocks (Block 1 vs. Block 2). Therefore, the ICA-corrected continuous EEG data were first cut into four separate epoched subsets (one for each condition): One subset for DP segments from Block 1, another subset for NDP segments from

Block 1, a third subset for DP segments from Block 2, and a fourth subset for NDP segments from Block 2. To investigate stimulus-independent changes in the frequency bands, epochs for each subset were obtained by cutting all belonging DP or NDP into as many non-overlapping 5 s segments as possible. Next, the following identical preprocessing and analysis steps were undertaken on every subset: First, all segments of the respecting subset were baseline corrected (0-5 s). Second, using EEGLAB functions, all segments containing obvious, nonstereotyped artifacts exceeding 2 standard deviations were rejected. On average, M = 83.75segments (SD = 2.33) remained within each subset. Third, a time-frequency analysis on channel Fz was performed on each remaining segment using Matlab's pspectrum function. Frequencies ranged between 0 and 35 Hz, while the frequency resolution amounted to 0.034 Hz. Fourth, all derived power spectra were averaged to obtain one mean power spectrum. Fifth, the mean theta (4–7 Hz) and beta (13-30 Hz) power of the respecting subset (condition) was derived by taking the average power across all frequency bins that fell into the respecting frequency range and laid within 0.5 to 4.5 s. Finally, TBR values for the statistical analyses were calculated by dividing the theta power values by the beta power values.

ERP Analyses. ERP analyses focused on differences in the target P300 between phases and blocks. Therefore, the ICAcorrected continuous EEG data were first low-pass filtered at 15 Hz (Hamming windowed FIR filter of order 440, transition bandwidth 3.75 Hz) and separated into DP and NDP. Here, each subset was derived by aggregating all available segments within each pertaining phase from -2,200 to +2,000 ms (4.2 s), relative to each available correctly identified target stimuli (i.e., each detected "K" that followed an "A," respectively, each detected "F" that followed an "H"). Next, for each segmented subset, the same preprocessing and analysis steps were carried out: First, using EEGLAB functions, all derived segments were baseline corrected from -2,200 to -2,000 ms relative to target onset. Second, segments containing residual artifacts were identified and rejected using the pop_jointprob function with a threshold of 3 SDs. On average, this resulted in M = 5.81 (SD = 0.72) segments for each subset. Third, ERPs were computed by averaging the segments for channel CPz, since P300 activity regarding target detection is expected to be mainly elicited in centro-parietal regions (Duncan et al., 2009; Polich, 2007). Finally, for statistical analyses, the maximum P300 peak and its corresponding latency were identified for each participant within the time range of +200 to +500 ms relative to target onset (automatic detection). To compare blocks, all DP and NDP were allocated to the first or second block. For creating topographic maps, a grand average over all conditions was calculated.

Actigraphy Recording and Analyses

Actigraphy analyses focused on differences in head position shifts and head rotations between phase types and blocks. Both actigraphy parameters were inferred from the built-in positional tracking of the Vive system, by means of which the HMDs momentary positions and rotations during the experiment were each recorded with a ~90 Hz sampling rate and in 3D Euclidean space coordinates.

For later offline analyses, the actigraphy data were first down-sampled to ~ 10 Hz and then the Euclidean distance between each sample point (3D position or rotation vector) and its preceding sample point was separately calculated for the HMD position data and HMD rotation data. Next, to statistically compare the amount of head position shifts and rotations between conditions, the mean Euclidean distance in respect to head position shifts and head rotations was derived for each type of phase and each block.

Statistical Analyses

Eleven main dependent variables were in the focus of this study: commission error rates, omission error rates, RTVs, TBRs, P300 latencies and amplitudes, head position shifts, head rotations, self-rated inattention, self-rated impulsivity, and self-rated hyperactivity. Using graphical inspection and skewness values, all main dependent variables were first checked for normality before any further statistical analyses were conducted. If a variable was highly skewed, data transformation was applied. That is, commission error rates, omission error rates, and RTV were square-root transformed and head position shift and head rotation were log-transformed. After transformation, skewness of these variables was acceptable (between -1 and 1). Since analyses of variance (ANOVAs) are, however, considered to be sufficiently robust against normality violations (Blanca-Mena et al., 2017; Schmider et al., 2010), ANOVAs were applied also for these variables.

For each variable of interest, except for the self-rating variables, a separate 2 × 2 repeated-measures ANOVA with the within-factors "Block" (Block 1 vs. Block 2) and "Phase" (DP vs. NDP) was conducted. For reporting ANOVA effect sizes, partial eta squared (η_p^2) was used. According to Cohen (1988), $\eta_p^2 = .01$ indicates a small effect, $\eta_p^2 = .06$ a medium effect and $\eta_p^2 = .14$ a large effect. For *t*-test effect sizes, Cohen's *d* was used, whereby d = .20 indicates a small effect, d = .50 a medium effect and d = .80 a large effect (Cohen, 1988).

Moreover, to identify potential interrelations between objective and subjective measures of inattention, impulsivity, and activity, exploratory correlation analyses were conducted: First, all three CPT variables were correlated with recognition d'. Second, omission error rates were correlated with self-rated inattention, commission error rates with self-rated impulsivity, and head position shifts/head rotations with self-rated activity. Third, the inattention and impulsivity measures were correlated with each other. All correlations were tested for significance and Bonferroni– Holm correction was applied to correct for multiple comparisons.

Three participants were not included in the statistical analyses, two due to technical failures and one, because after the experiment they admitted having taken antidepressant medication which led to meeting an exclusion criterion for our healthy sample. Therefore, the final sample analyzed comprised n = 32 individuals (11 male, 21 female), aged between 19 and 29 years (M = 23.03, SD = 2.52). For all statistical analyses, Matlab R2018b was used and the α -level was set to .05.

Results

CPT Performance

On average, the total commission error rate amounted to M = 0.53% (SD = 0.58%) and the omission error rate to M = 2.89% (SD = 3.74%). The average reaction time (RT) amounted to M = 0.41 s (SD = 0.05 s), whereas the average RTV, in turn, was M = 0.23 (SD = 0.08). Pearson correlations between Block 1 and 2 performances yielded internal consistencies of r = .744 (p < .001) for omission errors, r = .814 (p < .001) for RT and r = .507 (p = .003) for RTV. CPT descriptive statistics for each experimental condition can be found in Supplemental Table S2. ANOVAs did not yield any significant effects for any of the three CPT outcome parameters (cf. Figure 4, for statistical details, see Table 1).

Electrophysiological Analyses

Frequency Analyses. Results of the time-frequency analyses are shown in Figure 5. In line with the literature (Ishihara & Yoshii, 1972) and across conditions, theta power prominently showed up over frontal-midline and occipital electrodes, whereas beta power was more broadly distributed over the whole scalp (cf. Figure 5B). Regarding TBRs (cf. Figure 5C), the ANOVA neither revealed a significant main effect of "Block", F(1, 31) = 0.00, p = .960, $\eta_p^2 = .00$, nor of "Phase", F(1, 31) = 0.047, p = .500, $\eta_p^2 = .01$, nor an interaction effect, F(1, 31) = 0.04, p = .850, $\eta_p^2 = .00$.

As an exploratory follow-up analysis, theta and beta power at electrode Fz were also evaluated individually, using the same 2 × 2 repeated-measures ANOVA design. Beforehand, both variables were square-root transformed to reduce skewness to an acceptable level ($\leq \pm 1$). Regarding theta power (cf. Figure 5D), the ANOVA revealed significant main effects of "Block", F(1, 31) = 22.51, $p \leq .001$, $\eta_p^2 = .42$, and "Phase", F(1, 31) = 9.89, p = .004, $\eta_p^2 = .24$. Whereas the



Figure 4. Continuous Performance Task (CPT) Results.

Note. (A) Percentage of commission errors, (B) percentage of omission errors, and (C) reaction time variability (RTV) in distractor phases (DP) and non-distractor phases (NDP) of Blocks I and 2. All barplots depict square root transformed data. Analyses of variance (ANOVAs) did not yield significant effects for any of the three parameters.

Table I. ANOVA Results of C	PT Performances.
-----------------------------	------------------

CPT parameter	Predictor	df	F	Þ	η_{p}^{2}
Omission error rate	Block	1, 31	1.33	.257	.04
	Phase	1, 31	0.61	.441	.02
	Block imes Phase	1,31	1.39	.247	.04
Commission error rate	Block	1,31	0.60	.446	.02
	Phase	1,31	0.12	.735	.00
	Block imes Phase	1, 31	2.06	.161	.06
RTV	Block	1, 31	0.41	.529	.01
	Phase	1, 31	0.51	.480	.02
	Block imes Phase	1, 31	0.03	.871	.00

Note. CPT = continuous performance task; RTV = reaction time variability.

effect of "Block" was due to a higher theta power in Block 2 than Block 1, the effect of "Phase" was due to a higher theta power under NDP than DP. No interaction effect was found by the ANOVA, F(1, 31) = 0.02, p = .885, $\eta_p^2 = .00$.

Concerning beta power (cf. Figure 5E), the ANOVA revealed the same pattern: Also here significant main effects of "Block", F(1, 31) = 20.17, $p \le .001$, $\eta_p^2 = .39$, and of "Phase", F(1, 31) = 13.28, $p \le .001$, $\eta_p^2 = .30$, were found, but no interaction effect, F(1, 31) = 0.73, p = .398, $\eta_p^2 = .02$. And again, the "Block" effect was due to a higher beta power in Block 2 than 1, whereas the "Phase" effect consisted in a higher beta power under NDP than DP. Frequency descriptive statistics for each experimental condition can be found in Supplemental Table S2.

ERP Analyses. One dataset was identified as an outlier and therefore excluded from further ERP analyses. Waveforms and topographies of the analyzed ERPs are depicted in Figure 6A. In line with the literature, the extracted ERPs

showed the typical waveform and topography of a target P300 (e.g., Polich, 2007), with a maximum peak at around 330 to 347 ms over centro-parietal electrodes. The ANOVA on the target P300 amplitudes (Figure 6B, left panel) revealed a significant block effect, F(1, 30) = 4.71, p = .038, $\eta^2 = .14$, indicating that amplitudes were higher in the first compared with the second block. The ANOVA on the target P300 latencies (Figure 6B, right panel), in turn, revealed a significant phase effect, F(1, 30) = 5.15, p = .031, $\eta^2 = .15$, indicating prolonged latencies in NDP compared with DP. There were no other significant effects (for statistical details, see Table 2). P300 descriptive statistics for each experimental condition can be found in Supplemental Table S2.

Actigraphy Analyses

The ANOVA for head position shifts (Figure 7A) yielded a significant main effect of "Block", F(1, 31) = 24.34,



Figure 5. Results of the Time-Frequency Analyses.

Note. (A) Time-frequency spectrum across conditions between 0 and 30 Hz at electrode Fz (grand average of 5 s segments). (B) Corresponding topographic maps for analyzed theta power (4–7 Hz, lower plot) and beta power (13–30 Hz, upper plot). Electrode Fz is white circled. (C) Theta-beta-ratio (TBR), (D) theta power, and (E) beta power distributions during the different continuous performance task blocks (Block I vs. Block 2) and phases (distractor phases (DP) versus non-distractor phases (NDP)). Barplots for theta and beta power depict square root transformed data.

p < .001, $\eta_p^2 = .44$, but no main effect of "Phase", F(1, 31) = 1.41, p = .244, $\eta_p^2 = .04$, and no significant interaction, F(1, 31) = 0.43, p = .518, $\eta_p^2 = .01$. The effect of "Block" revealed that stronger head position shifts were conducted during Block 2 than Block 1.

Head rotation findings were in line with these findings (cf. Figure 7B). The ANOVA yielded a significant main effect of "Block", F(1, 31) = 9.14, p = .005, $\eta_p^2 = .23$, in that stronger head rotations were executed under Block 2 than Block 1. Likewise, the ANOVA did not reveal a main effect of "Phase", F(1, 31) = 0.06, p = .813, $\eta_p^2 = .00$, nor a significant interaction, F(1, 31) = 0.07, p = .798, $\eta_p^2 = .00$. Actigraphy descriptive statistics for each experimental condition can be found in Supplemental Table S2.

Experience Sampling and Recognition Test

Self-rated levels of inattention, hyperactivity, and impulsivity during the two blocks are depicted in Figure 8. Self-reported inattention and hyperactivity were significantly higher in the second experimental block compared with the first experimental block, inattention: t(31) = -5.17, p < .001, d = -.91, hyperactivity: t(31) = -3.73, p < .001, d = -.66. There was no significant difference in self-reported impulsivity between the two experimental blocks, t(31) = -1.36, p = .184, d = -.24. Across participants, the mean cybersickness score was M = -0.37 (SD = 0.93), indicating that participants experienced little or no symptoms of discomfort in the VR environment. In the recognition test, d was on average M = 1.32 (SD = 0.58).



Figure 6. Results of the Target P300 Analyses.

(A) Waveform and topography of the target P300 at channel CPz (white marked electrode) across distractor phases (DP) and non-distractor phases (NDP) for each block. The red waveforms depict the target P300 DP and the blue waveforms the target P300 during NDP. Black dotted lines indicate the interval used for the statistical analyses and topography compilations. (B) Target P300 peak amplitudes and (C) corresponding latencies for both blocks and phases.

Parameter	Predictor	df	F	Þ	η_p^2
P300 amplitude	Block	1, 30	4.71	.038	.14
	Phase	1, 30	1.04	.316	.03
	Block imes Phase	1, 30	2.15	.153	.07
P300 latency	Block	1, 30	1.10	.303	.04
	Phase	1, 30	5.15	.031	.15
	Block imes Phase	1, 30	0.01	.920	.00



Figure 7. Results of the Actigraphy Analyses.

(A) Head rotations and (B) head position shifts in distractor phases (DP) and non-distractor phases (NDP) of Blocks 1 and 2. Barplots depict logtransformed data. Analyses of variance (ANOVAs) for head position shifts and rotation yielded that participants conducted stronger head position shifts and head rotations during Block 2 than Block 1.

Correlation Analyses

The correlation analyses revealed a significant positive correlation between head position shifts and subjective hyperactivity, r(30) = .63, p < .001. Moreover, an additional moderate negative correlation was found between recognition test score and RTV, r(30) = -.38, p = .032, which, however, did not remain significant after Bonferroni–Holm correction (adjusted p = .310). All other correlations were between $r = \pm .40$ and nonsignificant, even without correction. For the exact correlation results with both uncorrected and Bonferroni–Holm corrected p values, see Supplemental Table S3.

Discussion

In this feasibility study, we examined the viability of a VSR as a potential assessment tool for identifying and multimodally characterizing inattention, impulsivity, and hyperactivity symptoms in adult ADHD patients. As a first step toward such a tool, we immersed N = 35 healthy adults into our VSR and let them perform a CPT under varying levels of distractions. Although during distractor phases (DP), distracting events regularly occurred every 45 s, no distracting events occurred during non-distractor phases (NDP).

With regards to the general feasibility of the VSR, our study yielded promising results in terms of both tolerability and data plausibility. All included participants were able to undergo the whole experiment from start to finish, and no



Figure 8. Self-Ratings of Inattention, Impulsivity, and Hyperactivity. Subjective inattention, impulsivity, and hyperactivity ratings for Blocks I and 2. *T*-tests yielded significantly higher subjective inattention and hyperactivity during Block 2 than Block I.

session had to be paused due to physical discomfort or any other reason. In fact, self-reported cybersickness scores indicated little to no discomfort during immersion. Furthermore, we succeeded to simultaneously record both behavioral and neurophysiological data. Our concerns about artifacts due to participants' movements or due to the HMD were justified, but we were able to sufficiently clean up the EEG signal, in order to enable physiologically plausible ERP and frequency analyses. Wiebe et al.

For CPT outcome measures, we neither found differences between Block 1 and Block 2 nor between DP and NDP. That is, CPT performance neither declined over the course of the experiment nor was it significantly influenced by the occurrence of distracting events. Although the first null finding complies with Bioulac et al.'s (2012) virtual classroom study, which found that CPT performance deteriorated over time in children with ADHD, but not in healthy controls, the latter null finding converges with the two Virtual Classroom studies by Rizzo et al. (2006) and Negut et al. (2017), which revealed that, unlike children with ADHD, healthy controls did not show performance differences between DP and NDP. Given that all these previous studies were conducted with children and varying task designs, such comparisons should, however, be made with caution. Although Bioulac et al.'s (2012) CPT, for instance, only lasted 14 min, our own CPT endured 48 min. Consequently, we expected fatigue-induced performance deteriorations in our healthy participants, too. A better explanation for the present null findings, therefore, might be that our CPT was not sufficiently sensitive for detecting small performance drops, possibly due to a ceiling effect: On average, participants committed only 6.24 omission errors (SD = 8.08) and 6.53 commission errors (SD = 7.03) over the whole 48 min of the task, and in at least one of the two blocks, 50% of participants made fewer than two commission errors and over two thirds (69%) made fewer than two omission errors. In sum, based on these results, we cannot unambiguously conclude that our CPT maps change in attention better than traditional, computer-based CPTs.

Regarding our TBR evaluations, we neither found any Block 1 versus Block 2 nor DP versus NDP differences. Thus, contrary to our expectations, we did not find evidence for attention-related TBR changes. One possible explanation could be that the TBR is not a sensitive marker of attentional control. In fact, the TBR has so far almost exclusively been studied as a potential discriminating feature between ADHD populations and healthy populations (for a review, see Arns et al., 2013), but only little as a general EEG measure of attention per se. Hence, although the few studies conducted indicate an association between TBR and attention (Angelidis et al., 2016; Putman et al., 2014; van Son et al., 2018), further confirmatory studies are necessary. An alternative explanation could be that participants' attention levels simply stayed stable throughout the task. It is to be noted, however, that our relatively small sample of N = 35might not have been sufficient to detect intra-individual TBR differences. Still, it can be observed that although the TBR itself remained stable, both beta power and theta power significantly increased from Block 1 to Block 2 and were also higher during NDP than DP. Both the long CPT duration and variation of distractor levels thus clearly induced oscillatory changes in the EEG.

Furthermore, it could be reasoned that the theta power increase from Block 1 to Block 2 was due to a drop in sustained attention over time. Given previous evidence for a positive association between frontal theta power and higher mental effort (Sauseng et al., 2006), this line of reasoning conflicts with our result of lower theta power during DP than NDP as we expected distractions to increase cognitive demands. Hence, if theta power increased as a function of mental effort, we would have expected higher theta power during DP than NDP instead. However, there is also evidence suggesting that in repetitive tasks with low difficulty, task-irrelevant stimuli can facilitate attention performance by increasing arousal and therefore counteracting taskinduced fatigue (Olivers & Nieuwenhuis, 2005; Smucny et al., 2013; Zentall & Zentall, 1983). Considering that participants' performance was overall very high in our study, thus indicating low task difficulty, it could be assumed that arousal levels were higher during DP than NDP, leading to the observed decline in theta power.

The increase in beta power from Block 1 to Block 2, in turn, complies with a study by Boksem et al. (2005), who also reported an increase over time in theta and beta power in a visual attention task. Although an increase in theta power is considered to reflect mental fatigue due to attentional demands, increasing beta power might reflect compensatory attentional efforts to counteract time-on task-related fatigue and maintain cognitive control (Boksem et al., 2005; see also Stoll et al., 2016). This interpretation also appears applicable to the present EEG results, especially if one also considers the present behavioral and subjective results: Although subjectively, participants clearly reported an attention decrease from Block 1 to Block 2, their CPT performance remained unaffected by this subjective attention decrease. That is, they were still able to compensate for their increasing mental fatigue. The effect of higher beta power during NDP than DP, in turn, could potentially reflect distraction-induced lapses in task engagement, since previous literature has associated task-related beta power increases with increasing task engagement and alertness (Coelli et al., 2015; Kamiński et al., 2012). Hence, it might be speculated that the distractors played during the DP temporarily interrupted the participants' task engagement in the CPT.

As regards ERP analyses, we successfully extracted the expected topography and waveform of a target P300 with an averaged peak from 330 to 347 ms for phases and blocks. This confirms that not only frequency analyses but also ERP analyses can be reliably conducted with our VSR. As pertains statistics, we found a reduced P300 amplitude in Block 2 as compared with Block 1 and a prolonged latency in NDP as compared with DP. Previous studies have associated a reduced P300 amplitude and prolonged latency with mental fatigue and higher cognitive workload, for example,

during driving simulation paradigms (Coleman et al., 2015; Zhao et al., 2012). Although our result of a reduced P300 amplitude over time is in line with these findings, indicating an increase in mental fatigue over time, the prolonged latency in NDP compared with DP is surprising, as we would have expected DP to be more cognitively demanding than NDP. Perhaps, however, this finding can be explained in a similar way as our finding of reduced theta power in DP: Due to the distracting events, arousal levels may have increased in DP, leading to a reduction in fatigue, which then resulted in shorter P300 latencies.

Regarding actigraphy and self-rating measures, we found three indications that participants increased their body activity from Block 1 to Block 2. Not only did participants self-report higher activity levels in Block 2 but they also conducted more head position shifts and head rotations during Block 2. Our assumption is that this increase in body activity can be attributed to increasing fatigue and impatience over the course of the CPT and, therefore, an increasing difficulty in sitting still. The current VSR scenario thus appears capable of inducing hyperactivity, and this effect should become even more pronounced, if the scenario will be applied to ADHD patients. Regarding the comparison between DP and NDP, no significant actigraphy differences were found. This corresponds to the Virtual Classroom study by Rizzo et al. (2006), who also did not find differences in head, arm, and leg activity between distractor and non-distractor conditions in healthy children. Parsons et al. (2007), on the other hand, reported higher means of body movement in distractor than in non-distractor conditions in healthy children, but this difference was not inferencestatistically analyzed.

There were no correlations between SEA-R attention score and omission error rate, nor between I8 impulsivity score and commission error rate. A possible explanation for this repeatedly observed lack of convergent validity (Aichert et al., 2012; Cyders & Coskunpinar, 2011; Gomide Vasconcelos et al., 2014; Solanto et al., 2004; but see Asbjørnsen et al., 2010; Epstein et al., 2003) is that computerized tasks and self-report scales reflect different facets of behavior. Although the CPT objectively measures attention performances during a single experimental session in a specific, laboratory setting, self-report scales typically summarize subjective experiences over much longer periods of time and across a variety of situations (Barkley, 1991; Meyer et al., 2001; Slobodin & Davidovitch, 2019). Another reason might be that in the present study the CPT was not sensitive enough to detect small differences in inattention and impulsivity between participants, and therefore CPT parameters did not correlate with subjective scores. However, due to this lack of correlation, the results of the current study provide no evidence that the VSR can map individual attention differences in everyday life and is more ecologically valid than traditional CPTs.

Limitations and Future Directions

One important limitation of the present study is that the CPT was not particularly difficult for healthy participants. Consequently, ceiling effects may have resulted in an insufficient depiction of the true variance between participants' individual attention and impulsivity capacities. That we did not find influences of time and varying distraction levels on CPT performances, as well as no correlations between CPT performances and subjective levels of inattention and impulsivity, should therefore not be over-interpreted. Instead, these null results might potentially just be attributable to variance restrictions, due to a too low task difficulty.

Low CPT error rates are also suboptimal for EEG analyses. Besides analyzing the target P300, it would be, for instance, also interesting to analyze error-related potentials, like the error-related negativity (ERN). The ERN negatively peaks between 50 and 100 ms following an error response and has repeatedly been found to be attenuated in amplitude and shortened in latency in ADHD patients compared with healthy controls (for a meta-analysis, see Geburek et al., 2013). For analyzing the ERN, the EEG signal, must, however, be aggregated across several trials, which is not possible, if the error rate is as low as in the present study.

Consequently, to ensure sufficiently high error rates and performance variance in both ADHD patients and healthy controls, it is crucial to increase the CPT's difficulty for future studies. One way to achieve a higher difficulty would be to modify the CPT parameters, for instance, by increasing the task speed, lowering the ratio of targets to non-targets, or reducing stimulus salience (Ballard, 1996a, 1996b). Another possibility would be to increase the level of distraction. In the present study, the number of distractors per DP was relatively low, since distracting events were played only every 45 s. This led to long periods in which no distraction occurred. In addition, some distracting events turned out to be not salient enough. As revealed by our recognition task, 12 of the distractors (1 auditory, 6 visual, 5 audio-visual distractors) were not noticed by over 50% of our participants. Thus, for further studies, both distraction frequency and the salience of distractors might also be increased.

Another possibility for improvement of the present VSR implementation is to complement the existing measurement methods with additional ones. Further insights into the participant's distractibility could, for instance, be gained by eye-tracking recordings, which would allow to track at which distractors participants look closely and which they ignore, especially given the observation of impaired oculomotor inhibition in ADHD (Chamorro et al., 2021).

Conclusion

This study set out to test the feasibility of a VR paradigm to investigate attention, impulsivity, and hyperactivity in a multi-modal assessment procedure. Our results confirm that it is possible to simultaneously analyze these symptoms by several neuropsychological, phenomenological, electrophysiological, and actigraphic measures. Although in our healthy participants, no CPT performance differences were observed, presumably due to ceiling effects, we found various time on tasks effects in respect to electrophysiological, phenomenological, and actigraphical measures. In the next step, to further prove the validity of our multimodal VSR, a sample of adult ADHD patients will be investigated.

Acknowledgments

We acknowledge the help of Thiago Morano, Jana Paus, Carter Cunningham, Laura Marie Asché, and Lamin Winfried Sillah in designing the Virtual Seminar Room.

Author Contributions

AW, KK, DA, and ML designed the experiment under the supervision of NB. ML collected the data. AW, KK, and NB analyzed the data. AW, KK, and NB wrote major parts of the manuscript. AP, SL, BS, BA, and UE contributed to, reviewed, and edited the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Declaration of Conflicting Interests

The author(s) declared no potential conflicts of interest with respect to the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

Funding

The author(s) disclosed receipt of the following financial support for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article: This work was supported by the Open Access Publication Fund of the University of Bonn. This project and AW are funded by MEDICE Arzneimittel Pütter GmbH & Co KG. MEDICE had no involvement in the conceptualization, methodology, analysis and interpretation of the study, nor in the writing of the manuscript. NB and BS receive a University-internal funding by BONFOR and KK is funded by the BMBF project ATTENTION. AP has received honoraria, has been on advisory boards for MEDICE, Shire/Takeda, and Boehringer in the last 3 years. She receives authorship royalties from Oxford Press, Schattauer, Kohlhammer, Springer, Thieme, and Elsevier.

ORCID iDs

Annika Wiebe D https://orcid.org/0000-0001-6434-3553 Kyra Kannen D https://orcid.org/0000-0002-1524-6906 Niclas Braun D https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9392-1244

Supplemental Material

Supplemental material for this article is available online.

Data Availability Statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this manuscript will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation, to any qualified researcher.

References

- Adamou, M., Fullen, T., & Jones, S. L. (2020). EEG for diagnosis of adult ADHD: A systematic review with narrative analysis. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 11(8), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fpsyt.2020.00871
- Adams, R., Finn, P., Moes, E., Flannery, K., & Rizzo, A. (2009). Distractibility in attention/deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD): The virtual reality classroom. *Child Neuropsychology*, 15(2), 120–135. https://doi. org/10.1080/09297040802169077
- Aichert, D. S., Wstmann, N. M., Costa, A., MacAre, C., Wenig, J. R., Mller, H. J., Rubia, K., & Ettinger, U. (2012). Associations between trait impulsivity and prepotent response inhibition. *Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology*, 34(10), 1016–1032. https://doi.org/10.1080/13803395.2012.706261
- American Psychiatric Association. (2013). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (5th ed.).
- Angelidis, A., van der Does, W., Schakel, L., & Putman, P. (2016). Frontal EEG theta/beta ratio as an electrophysiological marker for attentional control and its test-retest reliability. *Biological Psychology*, *121*, 49–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biopsycho.2016.09.008
- Areces, D., Rodríguez, C., García, T., Cueli, M., & González-Castro, P. (2018). Efficacy of a continuous performance test based on virtual reality in the diagnosis of ADHD and its clinical presentations. *Journal of Attention Disorders*, 22(11), 1081–1091. https://doi.org/10.1177/1087054716629711
- Arns, M., Conners, C. K., & Kraemer, H. C. (2013). A decade of EEG theta/beta ratio research in ADHD: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Attention Disorders*, 17(5), 374–383. https://doi. org/10.1177/1087054712460087
- Asbjørnsen, A. E., Jones, L. O., Munkvold, L. H., Obrzut, J. E., & Manger, T. (2010). An examination of shared variance in self-report and objective measures of attention in the incarcerated adult population. *Journal of Attention Disorders*, 14(2), 182–193. https://doi.org/10.1177/1087054709356395
- Ballard, J. C. (1996a). Computerized assessment of sustained attention: A review of factors affecting vigilance performance. *Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology*, 18(6), 843–863. https://doi.org/10.1080/01688639608408307
- Ballard, J. C. (1996b). Computerized assessment of sustained attention: Interactive effects of task demand, noise, and anxiety. *Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology*, 18(6), 864–882. https://doi.org/10.1080/01688639608408308
- Barkley, R. A. (1991). The ecological validity of laboratory and analogue assessment methods of ADHD symptoms. *Journal* of Abnormal Child Psychology, 19(2), 149–178. https://doi. org/10.1007/BF00909976
- Barkley, R. A. (2019). Neuropsychological Testing is Not Useful in the Diagnosis of ADHD: Stop It (or Prove It)!. *The ADHD Report*, 27(2), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1521/adhd.2019.27.2.1
- Barrett, J. (2004). Side effects of virtual environments: A review of the literature. *Defence Science and Technology Organisation, Canberra, Australia.*
- Barry, R. J., Clarke, A. R., & Johnstone, S. J. (2003). A review of electrophysiology in attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder:
 I. Qualitative and quantitative electroencephalography. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, *114*(2), 171–183. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1388-2457(02)00362-0

- Bioulac, S., Lallemand, S., Rizzo, A., Philip, P., Fabrigoule, C., & Bouvard, M. P. (2012). Impact of time on task on ADHD patient's performances in a virtual classroom. *European Journal of Paediatric Neurology*, *16*(5), 514–521. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ejpn.2012.01.006
- Blanca Mena, M. J., Alarcón Postigo, R., Arnau Gras, J., Bono Cabré, R., & Bendayan, R. (2017). Non-normal data: Is ANOVA still a valid option? *Psicothema*, 29(4), 552–557. https://doi.org/10.7334/psicothema2016.383
- Boksem, M. A. S., Meijman, T. F., & Lorist, M. M. (2005). Effects of mental fatigue on attention: An ERP study. *Cognitive Brain Research*, 25(1), 107–116. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cogbrainres.2005.04.011
- Bresnahan, S. M., & Barry, R. J. (2002). Specificity of quantitative EEG analysis in adults with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. *Psychiatry Research*, 112(2), 133–144. https://doi. org/10.1016/S0165-1781(02)00190-7
- Chamorro, Y., Betz, L. T., Philipsen, A., Kambeitz, J., & Ettinger, U. (2021). The Eyes Have It: A Meta-analysis of Oculomotor Inhibition in ADHD. *Biological Psychiatry: Cognitive Neuroscience and Neuroimaging*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. bpsc.2021.05.004
- Coelli, S., Di Milano, P., Politecnico, R. B., Milano, D., & Bianchi, A. M. (2015). EEG-based index for engagement level monitoring during sustained attention Uninterrupted long-term in vitro investigation of neuronal networks with non-invasive multichannel electrophysiology View project Statistical neuroscience, neural signal processing. 37th Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society (EMBC), 1512–1515. https:// doi.org/10.1109/EMBC.2015.7318658
- Cohen, J. (1988). *Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences* (2nd ed.). Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Coleman, J. R., Turrill, J., Hopman, R. J., Cooper, J. M., & Strayer, D. L. (2015). Assessing Cognitive Distraction Using Event Related Potentials. *Proceedings of the Eighth International Driving Symposium on Human Factors in Driver Assessment, Training and Vehicle Design, 8*, 296–302. https://doi. org/10.17077/drivingassessment.1586
- Cyders, M. A., & Coskunpinar, A. (2011). Measurement of constructs using self-report and behavioral lab tasks: Is there overlap in nomothetic span and construct representation for impulsivity? *Clinical Psychology Review*, *31*(6), 965–982. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2011.06.001
- Delorme, A., & Makeig, S. (2004). EEGLAB: An open source toolbox for analysis of single-trial EEG dynamics including independent component analysis. *Journal of Neuroscience Methods*, 134(1), 9–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneumeth.2003.10.009
- Duncan, C. C., Barry, R. J., Connolly, J. F., Fischer, C., Michie, P. T., Näätänen, R., Polich, J., Reinvang, I., & Van Petten, C. (2009). Event-related potentials in clinical research: Guidelines for eliciting, recording, and quantifying mismatch negativity, P300, and N400. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, *120*(11), 1883– 1908. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2009.07.045
- Epstein, J. N., Erkanli, A., Conners, C. K., Klaric, J., Costello, J. E., & Angold, A. (2003). Relations between continuous performance test performance measures and ADHD behaviors. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, *31*(5), 543–554. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1025405216339

- Fallgatter, A. J., Eisenack, S. S., Neuhauser, B., Aranda, D., Scheuerpflug, P., & Herrmann, M. J. (2000). Stability of late event-related potentials: Topographical descriptors of motor control compared with the P300 amplitude. *Brain Topography*, *12*(4), 255–261. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1023403420864
- Francx, W., Zwiers, M. P., Mennes, M., Oosterlaan, J., Heslenfeld, D., Hoekstra, P. J., Hartman, C. A., Franke, B., Faraone, S. V., O'Dwyer, L., & Buitelaar, J. K. (2015). White matter microstructure and developmental improvement of hyperactive/ impulsive symptoms in attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 56(12), 1289–1297. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcpp.12379
- Franke, B., Michelini, G., Asherson, P., Banaschewski, T., Bilbow, A., Buitelaar, J. K., Cormand, B., Faraone, S. V., Ginsberg, Y., Haavik, J., Kuntsi, J., Larsson, H., Lesch, K. P., Ramos-Quiroga, J. A., Réthelyi, J. M., Ribases, M., & Reif, A. (2018). Live fast, die young? A review on the developmental trajectories of ADHD across the lifespan. *European Neuropsychopharmacology*, 28(10), 1059–1088. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.euroneuro.2018.08.001
- Geburek, A. J., Rist, F., Gediga, G., Stroux, D., & Pedersen, A. (2013). Electrophysiological indices of error monitoring in juvenile and adult attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD)-A meta-analytic appraisal. *International Journal of Psychophysiology*, 87(3), 349–362. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ijpsycho.2012.08.006
- Gomide Vasconcelos, A., Sergeant, J., Corrêa, H., Mattos, P., & Malloy-Diniz, L. (2014). When self-report diverges from performance: The usage of BIS-11 along with neuropsychological tests. *Psychiatry Research*, 218(1–2), 236–243. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2014.03.002
- Grane, V. A., Brunner, J. F., Endestad, T., Aasen, I. E. S., Kropotov, J., Knight, R. T., & Solbakk, A. K. (2016). ERP correlates of proactive and reactive cognitive control in treatment-naive adult adhd. *PLOS ONE*, *11*(7), 159833. https:// doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0159833
- Grier, R. A., Warm, J. S., Dember, W. N., Matthews, G., Galinsky, T. L., Szalma, J. L., & Parasuraman, R. (2003). The vigilance decrement reflects limitations in effortful attention, not mindlessness. *Human Factors*, 45(3), 349–359. https://doi. org/10.1518/hfes.45.3.349.27253
- Hall, C. L., Valentine, A. Z., Groom, M. J., Walker, G. M., Sayal, K., Daley, D., & Hollis, C. (2016). The clinical utility of the continuous performance test and objective measures of activity for diagnosing and monitoring ADHD in children: A systematic review. *European Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 25(7), 677–699. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00787-015-0798-x
- Hasler, R., Perroud, N., Meziane, H. B., Herrmann, F., Prada, P., Giannakopoulos, P., & Deiber, M. P. (2016). Attention-related EEG markers in adult ADHD. *Neuropsychologia*, 87, 120– 133. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2016.05.008
- Hautus, M. J. (1995). Corrections for extreme proportions and their biasing effects on estimated values of d'. *Behavior Research Methods, Instruments, & Computers, 27*(1), 46–51. https://doi.org/10.3758/BF03203619
- Hervey, A. S., Epstein, J. N., & Curry, J. F. (2004). Neuropsychology of adults with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: A meta-analytic review. *Neuropsychology*, 18(3), 485–503. https://doi.org/10.1037/0894-4105.18.3.485

- Idiazábal, M. Á., Palencia-Taboada, A. B., Sangorrín, J., & Espadaler-Gamissans, J. M. (2002). Cognitive evoked potentials in the hyperactivity attention deficit disorder. *Revista De Neurologia*, 34(4), 301–305. https://doi.org/10.33588/ rn.3404.2000501
- Iriarte, Y., Diaz-Orueta, U., Cueto, E., Irazustabarrena, P., Banterla, F., & Climent, G. (2016). AULA—Advanced virtual reality tool for the assessment of attention: Normative study in Spain. *Journal of Attention Disorders*, 20(6), 542– 568. https://doi.org/10.1177/1087054712465335
- Ishihara, T., & Yoshii, N. (1972). Multivariate analytic study of EEG and mental activity in Juvenile delinquents. *Electroencephalography and Clinical Neurophysiology*, 33(1), 71–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/0013-4694(72)90026-0
- Kamiński, J., Brzezicka, A., Gola, M., & Wróbel, A. (2012). Beta band oscillations engagement in human alertness process. *International Journal of Psychophysiology*, 85(1), 125–128. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2011.11.006
- Kiiski, H., Bennett, M., Rueda-Delgado, L. M., Farina, F. R., Knight, R., Boyle, R., Roddy, D., Grogan, K., Bramham, J., Kelly, C., & Whelan, R. (2020). EEG spectral power, but not theta/beta ratio, is a neuromarker for adult ADHD. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 51(10), 2095–2109. https://doi. org/10.1111/ejn.14645
- Kim, H. K., Park, J., Choi, Y., & Choe, M. (2018). Virtual reality sickness questionnaire (VRSQ): Motion sickness measurement index in a virtual reality environment. *Applied Ergonomics*, 69, 66–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. apergo.2017.12.016
- Kirmizi-Alsan, E., Bayraktaroglu, Z., Gurvit, H., Keskin, Y. H., Emre, M., & Demiralp, T. (2006). Comparative analysis of event-related potentials during Go/NoGo and CPT: Decomposition of electrophysiological markers of response inhibition and sustained attention. *Brain Research*, *1104*(1), 114–128. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2006.03.010
- Koehler, S., Lauer, P., Schreppel, T., Jacob, C., Heine, M., Boreatti-Hümmer, A., Fallgatter, A. J., & Herrmann, M. J. (2009). Increased EEG power density in alpha and theta bands in adult ADHD patients. *Journal of Neural Transmission*, *116*(1), 97–104. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00702-008-0157-x
- Kofler, M. J., Rapport, M. D., Sarver, D. E., Raiker, J. S., Orban, S. A., Friedman, L. M., & Kolomeyer, E. G. (2013). Reaction time variability in ADHD: A meta-analytic review of 319 studies. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 33(6), 795–811. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.epr.2013.06.001
- Kovaleva, A., Beierlein, C., Kemper, C. J., & Rammstedt, B. (2012). Eine Kurzskala zur Messung von Impulsivität nach dem UPPS-Ansatz: Die Skala Impulsives-Verhalten-8 (I-8). (GESIS Working Papers 2012|20). https://www.ssoar.info/ ssoar/handle/document/31210
- Lange, K. W., Hauser, J., Lange, K. M., Makulska-Gertruda, E., Takano, T., Takeuchi, Y., Tucha, L., & Tucha, O. (2014). Utility of cognitive neuropsychological assessment in attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. *ADHD Attention Deficit* and Hyperactivity Disorders, 6(4), 241–248. https://doi. org/10.1007/s12402-014-0132-3
- Lazzaro, I., Gordon, E., Whitmont, S., Meares, R., & Clarke, S. (2001). The modulation of late component event related potentials by pre-stimulus EEG Theta activity in ADHD.

1451

International Journal of Neuroscience, 107(3-4), 247-264. https://doi.org/10.3109/00207450109150688

- Levy, F., Pipingas, A., Harris, E. V., Farrow, M., & Silberstein, R. B. (2018). Continuous performance task in ADHD: Is reaction time variability a key measure? *Neuropsychiatric Disease and Treatment*, 14, 781–786. https://doi.org/10.2147/ NDT.S158308
- Loo, S. K., & Makeig, S. (2012). Clinical utility of EEG in attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: A research update. *Neurotherapeutics*, 9(3), 569–587. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s13311-012-0131-z
- Marquardt, L., Eichele, H., Lundervold, A. J., Haavik, J., & Eichele, T. (2018). Event-related-potential (ERP) correlates of performance monitoring in adults with attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD). Frontiers in Psychology, 9(4), Article 485. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fpsyg.2018.00485
- Meyer, G. J., Finn, S. E., Eyde, L. D., Kay, G. G., Moreland, K. L., Dies, R. R., Eisman, E. J., Kubiszyn, T. W., & Reed, G. M. (2001). Psychological testing and psychological assessment: A review of evidence and issues. *American Psychologist*, 56(2), 128–165. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.56.2.128
- Monastra, V. J., Lubar, J. F., & Linden, M. (2001). The development of a quantitative electroencephalographic scanning process for attention deficit-hyperactivity disorder: Reliability and validity studies. *Neuropsychology*, 15(1), 136–144. https://doi.org/10.1037/0894-4105.15.1.136
- Mostert, J. C., Onnink, A. M. H., Klein, M., Dammers, J., Harneit, A., Schulten, T., van Hulzen, K. J. E., Kan, C. C., Slaats-Willemse, D., Buitelaar, J. K., Franke, B., & Hoogman, M. (2015). Cognitive heterogeneity in adult attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder: A systematic analysis of neuropsychological measurements. *European Neuropsychopharmacology*, 25(11), 2062–2074. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.euroneuro.2015.08.010
- Mühlberger, A., Jekel, K., Probst, T., Schecklmann, M., Conzelmann, A., Andreatta, M., Rizzo, A. A., Pauli, P., & Romanos, M. (2016). The influence of methylphenidate on hyperactivity and attention deficits in children with ADHD: a virtual classroom test. *Journal of Attention Disorders*. https:// doi.org/10.1177/1087054716647480
- Neguţ, A., Jurma, A. M., & David, D. (2017). Virtual-realitybased attention assessment of ADHD: ClinicaVR: Classroom-CPT versus a traditional continuous performance test. *Child Neuropsychology*, 23(6), 692–712. https://doi.org/10.1080/09 297049.2016.1186617
- Nichols, S., & Waschbusch, D. A. (2004). A review of the validity of laboratory cognitive tasks used to assess symptoms of ADHD. *Child Psychiatry & Human Development*, 34(4), 297–315. https://doi.org/10.1023/B:CHUD.000002 0681.06865.97
- Nigg, J. T., Willcutt, E. G., Doyle, A. E., & Sonuga-Barke, E. J. S. (2005). Causal heterogeneity in attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: Do we need neuropsychologically impaired subtypes? *Biological psychiatry*, 57(11), 1224–1230. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2004.08.025
- Olivers, C. N. L., & Nieuwenhuis, S. (2005). The beneficial effect of concurrent task-irrelevant mental activity on temporal attention. *Psychological Science*, 16(4), 265–269. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.0956-7976.2005.01526.x
- Parsons, T. D. (2015). Virtual reality for enhanced ecological validity and experimental control in the clinical, affective and social neurosciences. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 9, 1–19. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2015.00660
- Parsons, T. D., Bowerly, T., Buckwalter, J. G., & Rizzo, A. A. (2007). A controlled clinical comparison of attention performance in children with ADHD in a virtual reality classroom compared to standard neuropsychological methods. *Child Neuropsychology*, 13(4), 363–381. https://doi. org/10.1080/13825580600943473
- Parsons, T. D., & Rizzo, A. S. (2019). A review of virtual classroom environments for neuropsychological assessment. In A. Rizzo & S. Bouchard (Eds.), *Virtual reality for psychological and neurocognitive interventions* (pp. 247–265). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-9482-3 11
- Perrin, F., Pernier, J., & Bertrand, O. (1989). Spherical splines for scalp potential and current density mapping. *Electroencephalography and Clinical Neurophysiology*, 72, 184–187. https://doi.org/10.1016/0013-4694(89)90180-6
- Picken, C., Clarke, A. R., Barry, R. J., McCarthy, R., & Selikowitz, M. (2020). The theta/beta ratio as an index of cognitive processing in adults with the combined type of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. *Clinical EEG and Neuroscience*, *51*(3), 167–173. https://doi.org/10.1177/1550059419895142
- Polich, J. (2007). Updating P300: An integrative theory of P3a and P3b. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, 118(10), 2128–2148. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2007.04.019
- Prox, V., Dietrich, D. E., Zhang, Y., Emrich, H. M., & Ohlmeier, M. D. (2007). Attentional processing in adults with ADHD as reflected by event-related potentials. *Neuroscience Letters*, 419(3), 236–241. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2007.04.011
- Putman, P., Verkuil, B., Arias-Garcia, E., Pantazi, I., & Van Schie, C. (2014). EEG theta/beta ratio as a potential biomarker for attentional control and resilience against deleterious effects of stress on attention. *Cognitive, Affective and Behavioral Neuroscience, 14*(2), 782–791. https://doi.org/10.3758/ s13415-013-0238-7
- Rizzo, A. A., Bowerly, T., Buckwalter, J. G., Klimchuk, D., Mitura, R., & Parsons, T. D. (2006). A virtual reality scenario for all seasons: The virtual classroom. *CNS Spectrums*, 11(1), 35–44. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1092852900024196
- Rosvold, H. E., Mirsky, A. F., Sarason, I., Bransome, E. D., & Beck, L. H. (1956). A continuous performance test of brain damage. *Journal of Consulting Psychology*, 20(5), 343–350. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0043220
- Saad, J. F., Kohn, M. R., Clarke, S., Lagopoulos, J., & Hermens, D. F. (2015). Is the theta/beta EEG marker for ADHD inherently flawed? *Journal of Attention Disorders*, 22(9), 815–826. https://doi.org/10.1177/1087054715578270
- Sauseng, P., Klimesch, W., Freunberger, R., Pecherstorfer, T., Hanslmayr, S., & Doppelmayr, M. (2006). Relevance of EEG alpha and theta oscillations during task switching. *Experimental Brain Research*, 170(3), 295–301. https://doi. org/10.1007/s00221-005-0211-y
- Schmider, E., Ziegler, M., Danay, E., Beyer, L., & Bühner, M. (2010). Is it really robust? *Methodology*, 6(4), 147–151. https://doi.org/10.1027/1614-2241/a000016

- Slobodin, O., & Davidovitch, M. (2019). Gender differences in objective and subjective measures of ADHD among clinicreferred children. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 13, 441. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2019.00441
- Smucny, J., Rojas, D. C., Eichman, L. C., & Tregellas, J. R. (2013). Neuronal effects of auditory distraction on visual attention. *Brain and Cognition*, 81(2), 263–270. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.bandc.2012.11.008
- Snyder, S. M., & Hall, K. R. (2006). A meta-analysis of quantitative EEG power associated with attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder. *Journal of Clinical Neurophysiology*, 23(5), 440– 456. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.wnp.0000221363.12503.78
- Solanto, M. V., Etefia, K., & Marks, D. J. (2004). The utility of self-report measures and the continuous performance test in the diagnosis of ADHD in adults. *CNS Spectrums*, 9(9). https://doi.org/10.1017/s1092852900001929
- Stanislaw, H., & Todorov, N. (1999). Calculation of signal detection theory measures. *Behavior Research Methods, Instruments, & Computers, 31*(1), 137–149. https://doi. org/10.3758/BF03207704
- Stoll, F. M., Wilson, C. R. E., Faraut, M. C. M., Vezoli, J., Knoblauch, K., & Procyk, E. (2016). The effects of cognitive control and time on frontal beta oscillations. *Cerebral Cortex*, 26(4), 1715–1732. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhv006
- Sutton, S., Braren, M., Zubin, J., & John, E. R. (1965). Evokedpotential correlates of stimulus uncertainty. *Science*, *150*(3700), 1187–1188. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.150.3700.1187
- Szuromi, B., Czobor, P., Komlósi, S., & Bitter, I. (2011). P300 deficits in adults with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder: A meta-analysis. *Psychological Medicine*, 41(7), 1529–1538. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291710001996
- Tauscher, J. P., Schottky, F. W., Grogorick, S., Bittner, P. M., Mustafa, M., & Magnor, M. (2019). Immersive EEG: Evaluating electroencephalography in virtual reality. 26th IEEE Conference on Virtual Reality and 3D User Interfaces, VR 2019—Proceedings, 1794–1800. https://doi.org/10.1109/ VR.2019.8797858
- Tsai, M. L., Hung, K. L., & Lu, H. H. (2012). Auditory eventrelated potentials in children with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. *Pediatrics and Neonatology*, 53(2), 118–124. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pedneo.2012.01.009
- van Dijk, H., deBeus, R., Kerson, C., Roley-Roberts, M. E., Monastra, V. J., Arnold, L. E., Pan, X., & Arns, M. (2020). Different spectral analysis methods for the theta/beta ratio calculate different ratios but do not distinguish ADHD from controls. *Applied Psychophysiology Biofeedback*, 45(3), 165–173. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10484-020-09471-2
- van Son, D., De Blasio, F. M., Fogarty, J. S., Angelidis, A., Barry, R. J., & Putman, P. (2018). Frontal EEG theta/beta ratio during mind wandering episodes. *Biological Psychology*, 140, 19–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsycho.2018.11.003
- Varao-Sousa, T. L., Smilek, D., & Kingstone, A. (2018). In the lab and in the wild: How distraction and mind wandering affect attention and memory. *Cognitive Research: Principles and Implications*, 3(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1186/s41235-018-0137-0

- Volz-Sidiropoulou, E., Gauggel, S., & Niemann, H. (2007). Skala zur Erfassung von Aufmerksamkeitsdefiziten (SEA). Zeitschrift für Neuropsychologie, 18(4), 299–309. https://doi. org/10.1024/1016-264X.18.4.299
- Wiersema, R., Van Der Meere, J., Antrop, I., & Roeyers, H. (2006). State regulation in adult ADHD: An event-related potential study. *Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology*. https://doi.org/10.1080/13803390500212896
- Willcutt, E. G., Doyle, A. E., Nigg, J. T., Faraone, S. V., & Pennington, B. F. (2005). Validity of the executive function theory of attention-deficit/ hyperactivity disorder: A metaanalytic review. *Biological psychiatry*, 57(11), 1336–1346. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2005.02.006
- Willcutt, E. G., Nigg, J. T., Pennington, B. F., Solanto, M. V., Rohde, L. A., Tannock, R., Loo, S. K., Carlson, C. L., McBurnett, K., & Lahey, B. B. (2012). Validity of DSM-IV attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder symptom dimensions and subtypes. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *121*(4), 991– 1010. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0027347
- Woltering, S., Liu, Z., Rokeach, A., & Tannock, R. (2013). Neurophysiological differences in inhibitory control between adults with ADHD and their peers. *Neuropsychologia*, 51(10), 1888–1895. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2013.06.023

- Woods, S. P., Lovejoy, D. W., & Ball, J. D. (2002). Neuropsychological characteristics of adults with ADHD: A comprehensive review of initial studies. *Clinical Neuropsychologist*, 16(1), 12–34. https://doi.org/10.1076/clin.16.1.12.8336
- Yamamuro, K., Ota, T., Iida, J., Nakanishi, Y., Matsuura, H., Uratani, M., Okazaki, K., Kishimoto, N., Tanaka, S., & Kishimoto, T. (2016). Event-related potentials reflect the efficacy of pharmaceutical treatments in children and adolescents with attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder. *Psychiatry Research*, 242, 288– 294. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2016.05.061
- Zentall, S. S., & Zentall, T. R. (1983). Optimal stimulation: A model of disordered activity and performance in normal and deviant children. *Psychological Bulletin*, 94(3), 446–471. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.94.3.446
- Zhang, D.-W., Roodenrys, S., Li, H., Barry, R. J., Clarke, A. R., Wu, Z., Zhao, Q., Song, Y., Liu, L., Qian, Q., Wang, Y., Johnstone, S. J., & Sun, L. (2017). Atypical interference control in children with AD/HD with elevated theta/beta ratio. *Biological Psychology*, *128*, 82–88. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biopsycho.2017.07.009
- Zhao, C., Zhao, M., Liu, J., & Zheng, C. (2012). Electroencephalogram and electrocardiograph assessment of mental fatigue in a driving simulator. *Accident Analysis and Prevention*, 45, 83–90. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aap.2011.11.019

3.2 Publication 2: P300 Modulation via Transcranial Alternating Current Stimulation in Adult Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder: A Crossover Study



P300 Modulation *via* Transcranial Alternating Current Stimulation in Adult Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder: A Crossover Study

40

Kyra Kannen¹, Behrem Aslan¹, Cindy Boetzel², Christoph S. Herrmann², Silke Lux¹, Helena Rosen¹, Benjamin Selaskowski¹, Annika Wiebe¹, Alexandra Philipsen¹ and Niclas Braun¹*

¹ Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, University Hospital Bonn, Bonn, Germany, ² Experimental Psychology Lab, Department of Psychology, Carl von Ossietzky University, Oldenburg, Germany

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by: Po-Han Chou, China Medical University, Taiwan

Reviewed by:

Hsin-An Chang, Tri-Service General Hospital, Taiwan Yi-Ting Lin, National Taiwan University Hospital, Taiwan

> *Correspondence: Niclas Braun niclas.braun@ukbonn.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neuroimaging and Stimulation, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

> Received: 25 April 2022 Accepted: 16 June 2022 Published: 18 July 2022

Citation:

Kannen K, Aslan B, Boetzel C, Herrmann CS, Lux S, Rosen H, Selaskowski B, Wiebe A, Philipsen A and Braun N (2022) P300 Modulation via Transcranial Alternating Current Stimulation in Adult Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder: A Crossover Study. Front. Psychiatry 13:928145. doi: 10.3388/fost.2022.928145 **Objective:** A repeated finding regarding event-related potentials (ERPs) is that patients with ADHD show a reduced P300 amplitude. This raises the question of whether the attention of ADHD patients can be increased by stabilizing the P300. Assuming that the P300 is generated by event-related oscillations (EROs) in the low frequency range (0–8 Hz), one approach to increase the P300 could be to stimulate the patient's P300 underlying ERO by means of transcranial alternating current stimulation (tACS). The aim of this follow-up study was to investigate this hypothesized mechanism of action in adult ADHD patients.

Materials and Methods: Undergoing a crossover design, 20 adult ADHD patients (10 female) received an actual stimulation *via* tACS on one day and a sham stimulation on another day. Before and after each intervention, EEG characteristics (P300 amplitudes, low frequency power) and attention performances (d2 attention test, visual oddball task (VOT)) were recorded.

Results: Electrophysiological analyses revealed no evidence for an enhanced P300 amplitude or low frequency power increase after actual stimulation compared to sham stimulation. Instead, a significant effect was found for a stronger N700 amplitude increase after actual stimulation compared to sham stimulation. Consistent with the P300 null results, none of the examined neuropsychological performance measures indicated a tACS-induced improvement in attentional ability.

Conclusion: Contrary to a previous study using tACS to modulate the P300 in adult ADHD patients, the current study yields no evidence that tACS can increase the P300 amplitude in adult ADHD patients and that such P300 enhancement can directly improve neuropsychological parameters of attention.

Keywords: P300, attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder, ADHD, transcranial alternating current stimulation, tACS, therapy

INTRODUCTION

Attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) is a common developmental disorder that persists into adulthood, and is associated with core symptoms of inattention, hyperactivity, and impulsivity (1). With an estimated global lifetime prevalence of 2.58% (2), ADHD causes not only severe individual suffering such as difficulties in academic career (3, 4), occupational burdens (5-11) and difficulties in social interactions and relationships (12-19), but also a high burden for society and economy. Considering not only direct diagnostic and treatment costs, but also secondary follow-up costs (e.g., productivity losses due to inability to work or early retirement, justice system costs), the global total annual costs of ADHD are estimated to be at least 831 million [for a systematic review, see (20)]. Therefore, the treatment of ADHD is not only important to reduce individual suffering, but also to avert economic damage.

So far, ADHD is primarily treated by psychostimulants, cognitive behavioral therapy, or a combination of both (21). Although stimulant medication is thereby usually considered as first-choice treatment (22–24), it often leads to undesirable side effects such as sleep disturbances (25), decreased appetite and weight decrease (26) or cardiovascular effects (27). Moreover, in a significant subgroup of ADHD patients, psychostimulants have no, or no sufficient treatment effect (28–30). Also, some patients develop tolerances to psychostimulants (31) and often interrupt or discontinue their medication (32), particularly due to adverse events (33). Consequently, the development of further, effective ADHD therapy approaches with fewer side effects is urgently required.

One explanatory factor for individual differences in response to psychostimulants may be the high pathophysiological heterogeneity within the ADHD population [for a critical discussion, see (34)]. Various combinations of environmental and genetic factors, for instance, lead to diverse neuropsychological impairments and thus to different ADHD symptom profiles (35). Consequently, great research effort is currently being undertaken to identify ADHD biomarkers that are of predictive value for ADHD treatments and could guide practitioners in deciding which treatment options hold most promise in each individual case [for a systematic review, see (36)]. Similarly, there is hope that the discovery of reliable biomarkers helps to develop new treatment approaches that directly target the pathomechanisms revealed by the biomarkers and are not merely symptom-driven.

One such biomarker that might prove useful as a target site in ADHD treatment is the P300 component in electroencephalographic event-related potentials (ERPs) (37). The P300 is a positive voltage deflection around 300 ms after a target stimulus over centro-parietal regions and associated with attentional allocation and stimulus processing (38, 39). Reliable elicitation of the P300 can be achieved, for example, by oddball paradigms, in which subjects are required to respond to infrequent target stimuli and to ignore frequent distractor stimuli (40). Probing such oddball paradigms in ADHD, several studies have found a reduced P300 amplitude (41–48) and prolonged latency (44, 49–53) in adult ADHD patients compared to typically developed individuals. In addition, several research

groups report increased P300 amplitudes along with attention improvements after administration of ADHD medication (54–57) or mindfulness-based cognitive behavior therapy (MBT) (58). Hence, the P300 appears to be a reasonable target site for the exploration and development of further therapeutic methods.

If the P300 is abnormally altered in ADHD patients but normalizes after psychostimulant administration or MBT, the question arises whether an attention improvement is also achievable by a direct modulation of the P300, e.g., by applying transcranial alternating current stimulation (tACS). tACS is a non-invasive technique in which the brain is stimulated *via* an alternating current of a beforehand determined frequency. As certain can be considered that tACS can modulate endogenous brain oscillations and, more importantly, cognitive processing [for review, see (59)]. Regarding attentional processing, for instance, an improved accuracy in conjunction search after alpha tACS (i.e., a stimulation frequency around 8 to 12 Hz) (60) and an improved voluntary top-down attention after gamma tACS (i.e., a stimulation frequency > 30 Hz) (61) has been reported.

During tACS, the presumed mechanism of action is mainly attributed to the entrainment of intrinsic brain oscillations to the external stimulation signal (59, 62, 63). Entraining oscillations is observed to be most efficient when the frequency of the applied current is close to the intrinsic brain frequency (64). The administered current alters internal neuronal excitability by causing changes in the resting potential (65). Whether neuronal excitability is thereby enhanced or weakened, and consequently increases or decreases the probability of neural firing, is determined either by depolarization or hyperpolarization (66). Taken together, when tACS is applied, the external sinusoidal force and the internal neural firing patterns are synchronized. Moreover, tACS is thought to induce changes in synaptic plasticity (67-69). Whether the synaptic activity between neurons is intensified or attenuated is thereby determined by the timing of the neurons' input and output activity (pre- and post-synaptic events). TACS can affect this spike probability of neurons and it is believed that these synaptic changes persist after cessation of stimulation, leading to increased power at the chosen stimulation frequency (70-72). This phenomenon is called spike-timingdependent plasticity [for further details, see e.g., (73)].

Whether tACS can also modulate ERPs is less validated. While the few existing empirical studies on this issue (74–78) yielded mixed results, at least from a theoretical perspective such modulability appears expectable, given that ERPs can be regarded as event-related oscillations (ERO) (79). The P300 component at issue here, for instance, has been closely linked with an ERO in the delta (0–4 Hz) to theta (4–8 Hz) range (80–84). Therefore, at least theoretically, tACS appears to offer a promising therapeutic approach to modulate not only oscillations but also ERPs in ADHD patients.

Despite this high potential tACS may have for the treatment of ADHD, the use of tACS in ADHD has so far little been studied. In fact, consistent with the findings of a recent review of neurostimulation in ADHD (85) that found 30 studies, but none of which applied tACS, our own literature search only yielded one study recently published Dallmer-Zerbe et al. (75) and another study recently published by Farokhzadi et al. (86). In the study by Farokhzadi et al. (86), treatment with 10 Hz alpha tACS was compared to psychostimulant treatment in 62 ADHD children. Over the course of 8 weeks, one group received alpha tACS thrice a week for 10-15 min at pre-frontal electrode sides, while another group received psychostimulant treatment over the same course of time. The reported result is that tACS was more effective than psychostimulant treatment in improving attention and impulsivity, as assessed by the "integrated visual and auditory test." Although promising, one methodological problem with this result is that it is only based on behavioral, but not on neurophysiological investigations (i.p. an investigation of the EEG alpha spectrum). Therefore, it cannot be ruled out that the group differences found are due to some other mechanisms (e.g., more social devotion during the tACS than psychostimulant intervention) rather than being due to the assumed electrostimulative mechanism of action.

In the study by Dallmer-Zerbe et al. (75), in turn, 18 adult ADHD patients either underwent tACS or placebo stimulation for approximately 20 min. TACS was thereby applied at the participant's individual ERO, and the presentation of the target stimuli was timed in such a way that the participant's induced P300 always coincided with the positive voltage peaks of the ongoing tACS. Results showed a significant enhancement of the P300 amplitude in the stimulation group and a tACS-induced decrease in omission errors (75). Also this study had, however, some methodological flaws. In particular, the implemented oddball task turned out to be too easy, so that hardly any errors were committed. Moreover, a between-subjects design was used with only 8 patients per group. Hence, the study might have been underpowered.

Therefore, the aim of the current study was to replicate overall study findings by the previous study by Dallmer-Zerbe et al. (75), and consequently to investigate to what extent tACS can modulate the target P300, the low frequency range, and neuropsychological test performances in adult ADHD patients. To this end, we carried out a crossover study with two separate measurement days in which our 20 adult ADHD patients received a placebo stimulation (sham) in one case and an actual tACS in the other, while conducting an optimized visual oddball task (VOT). Using a mobile EEG system, individual stimulation parameters were determined and individually adjusted on site, using a time-frequency decomposition of the P300. We revised several aspects of the former study by Dallmer-Zerbe et al. (75) like, for example, we used a crossover study design instead of between-subjects design or adjusted the VOT to increase task difficulty (a detailed list comparing both experiments can be found in the Supplementary Table 1).

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants

A total of 22 ADHD patients (11 female, $M_{age} = 28.55$, SD = 8.77, age range: 19–48) volunteered in this study, out of which 20 underwent the entire experiment. All participants were recruited *via* the specialized outpatient clinic for adult ADHD of the Clinic for Psychiatry and Psychotherapy of the University Hospital

Bonn. Participants were either personally invited to the study during medical consultations or contacted *via* a study applicant pool in which they had previously registered. A brief telephone screening was then conducted with each study prospect, and if there were no reasons for exclusion, the patient was allowed to participate in the study. Written informed consent was obtained from all participants and they all received an expense allowance of $30 \notin$ for their participation. Moreover, the study was approved by the medical ethics committee of the University of Bonn (protocol number: 357–19) and pre-registered at the German Clinical Trials Register (Trial-ID: DRKS00020828).¹

Study Design and General Procedure

The study was carried out on three measurement days and as a crossover study with two interventions. The two interventions compared "actual stimulation" and "sham stimulation." On Day 1, a comprehensive clinical examination was performed, during which the ADHD diagnosis was validated, and the patient's mental state was evaluated. On Days 2 and 3 in turn, the actual experiment took place, with one of the two conditions being run on each measurement day. While fifty percent of the participants underwent the actual stimulation first on Day 2 and the sham stimulation on Day 3, the remaining fifty percent underwent the sham stimulation first on Day 2 and the actual stimulation on Day 3.

Eligibility Assessment and Clinical Characterization

All participants were already diagnosed with ADHD or were in the process of diagnosis at our specialized outpatient clinic for adult ADHD. To confirm the ADHD diagnoses and further characterize their individual ADHD symptom profiles, all participants underwent the structured clinical "Interview of Integrated Diagnosis of ADHD in Adulthood" [IDA-R; (87)]. Moreover, to clarify potential comorbidities and exclusion criteria, the German version of the "diagnostic short interview for mental disorders" [Mini-Dips-OA; (88)] was carried out. Likewise, participants filled in four further self-rating questionnaires:

- Demographic questionnaire: A lab-internal, self-designed questionnaire that gathered some biographical data (birth, gender, education, family status) relevant for the study.
- ADHD Self-Report-Scale [ADHS-SB; (89)]: The ADHS-SB is a 22-item questionnaire that surveys key symptoms of ADHD and allows to derive three domain-specific scores (inattention, hyperactivity, impulsivity) and one overall ADHD score.
- Depression-anxiety-stress-scales [DASS-21; (90)]: A short 21item questionnaire that assesses indications of depression, anxiety, and stress. For each symptom area, a separate score from 0 (no burden at all) to 21 (maximum burden) may be calculated.
- WHO quality of life scale questionnaire-short version [WHOQOL-Bref; (91)]: A 26-item questionnaire assessing quality of life in the past 4 weeks in four main domains

¹https://www.drks.de/

(physical health, psychological health, social relationships, and environment). To be eligible for the study, participants needed to be right-handed [according to the Edinburgh Handedness Inventory; (92)], to be between 18 and 50 years old, and to have corrected-to-normal or normal vision. In addition, any of the following exclusion criteria had to be absent: Presence of a severe comorbid affective disorder (mild to moderate was included), any psychosis or substance dependence, current use of any psychotropic medication other than ADHD medication, presence of a serious neurological disorder (especially epilepsy), presence of a dermatological disorder of the head, or pregnancy.

Experimental Procedure

Except for the stimulation method applied (actual stimulation vs. sham stimulation) and a short familiarization with the VOT at the first experimental session, the experimental procedure on Day 2 and 3 was identical (cf. Figure 1). Whether participants first received the actual or sham stimulation was counterbalanced across all participants. While participants knew that on one session, they would receive a placebo stimulation and on the other session an actual stimulation, they were kept uninformed about the order of stimulation procedures. On both days of measurement, ADHD medication had to be discontinued 24 h beforehand. For both measurement days, the experiment took place in the Virtual Reality laboratory of the University Hospital of Bonn and the experimental procedure was as follows: First, to record their momentary attention level, participants performed the d2 attention test (d2; cf. section "d2 Attention Test"). Next, the participants were prepared for the actual stimulation or sham stimulation and concomitant EEG measurement. In both experimental sessions, the preparation procedure was thereby identical. After that, the actual experiment started, which consisted of three experimental blocks: a pre-intervention block, an intervention block, and a *post-intervention block*. The three experimental blocks were each separated by 5- to 10-min breaks (depending on the duration of the online EEG analysis). EEG was recorded throughout blocks and a VOT (cf. section "Visual Oddball Task") had to be performed in each of the three blocks. The only difference between the three blocks was that during the intervention block, actual stimulation or sham stimulation was applied. To customize the electrical stimulation, the participants' individual frequency of ERO and P300 peak latency was determined (cf. section "Online Analysis") in the first short break immediately before the intervention block. As soon as the stimulation parameters were determined, the intervention block with either actual stimulation or sham stimulation started (for details, see section "Synchronization Between Stimulus Presentation and Transcranial Alternating Current Stimulation"). From here on, the experimenter could no longer be blinded to intervention since the stimulator had to be operated manually according to either the sham stimulation or actual stimulation. After the intervention block and a further short break, the last post-intervention block started. Finally, after finishing all three experimental blocks, participants again completed the d2 and filled in a questionnaire assessing adverse effects of tACS (93). In total, the experimental procedure took approximately 2.5 to 3 h, including preparation time for attaching tACS and EEG electrodes.

d2 Attention Test

As stated, the d2 (94) was applied before and after the three experimental blocks to compare the participant's individual attention and concentration performances before and after intervention. In accordance with the test manual, the d2 was thereby administered as a paper-pencil test. That is, participants had to cross out target symbols (letter "d" with two strokes) between distracting non-target stimuli (letter "d" with one, three, or four strokes and letter "p" with one, two, three, or four strokes) through 14 consecutive lines of 47 characters each. They were instructed to cross out as many target symbols as possible within a time limit of 20 s per line. Between these 20 s phases, there was no pause, so that the total test time was less than 5 min. To evaluate d2 test performances, the following performance metrics were calculated: the total number of characters processed (as a measure of processing speed), the d2 concentration performance (i.e., the number of correctly identified characters minus all conducted errors), commission errors (i.e., deleted non-target characters), and omission errors (i.e., missed target characters).

Visual Oddball Task

In all three blocks, the VOT was conducted for about 20 min. Participants sat on a chair 70 cm away from a computer screen on which the oddball task was presented. Stimuli were displayed *via* NBS Presentation (Version 21.0 build 06.06.19, Neurobehavioral Systems Inc., Albany, CA, United States) and logged together with keyboard inputs *via* Lab Streaming Layer (LSL)².

On the center of a gray computer screen, 2° to the left or right tilted gabor stimuli ($\sim 4 \text{ cm} \times 4 \text{ cm}$) were iteratively displayed, each with a duration of 500 ms. In total, 400 gabor stimuli were presented, out of which 300 (75%) represented standard stimuli and 100 (25%) target stimuli. Whether the left-tilted or righttilted gabor stimuli represented the standard stimuli, and thus were presented thrice as often, was counterbalanced across all subjects. That is, in 50% of participants, the left-rotated gabor stimuli represented the frequent standard stimuli throughout measurement days, while in the remaining 50%, they represented the infrequent target stimuli. The ISI between the gabor stimuli was jittered between 1,000 and 2,500 ms. During the intervention block, the target stimulus onset was adjusted so that the peak of the individual mean P300 amplitude coincided with the positive peak of the tACS signal (details below). The participants' task was to press a key with their left index finger upon each leftrotated stimulus and a key with their right index finger upon each right-rotated stimulus. Thereby, they were requested to execute their keyboard presses as quickly as possible and as accurately as possible and to fixate onto a fixation circle displayed on the computer screen throughout the task. For assessing VOT performances, four main parameters of interest were extracted for each participant: omission error rate (i.e., the percentage of non-target button responses to target stimuli), commission

²https://github.com/sccn/labstreaminglayer



error rate (i.e., the percentage of target button responses to standard stimuli), d-Prime [i.e., a sensitivity measure, calculated by d' = z(Hit Rate)–z(False alarm rate)] and mean reaction time (RT, mean reaction time of the correct target responses). While the omission error rate is considered as a measure of inattention, the commission error rate is thought to reflect impulsivity (95).

Electrical Brain Stimulation and Electrode Montage

Electrical stimulation was only administered during the intervention block using a battery-operated stimulator system (DC-stimulator plus, Neuroconn, Ilmenau, Germany). In total, four 7 cm \times 3.5 cm rubber electrodes were placed on the participant's head, whereby two of them were placed above C1/C2 and the other two above C5/C6 (for orientation of the electrodes, see Supplementary Figure 1). The electrode montage was selected based on a simulated finite-element model of current flow. More specifically, using the ROAST Toolbox (96) and the MNI standard brain as template, different electrode montages were simulated in respect to their predicted intracranial electrical field in parietal and temporal regions (i.e., the region, where the P300 is most prominent) (97). The selected electrode montage thereby offered the best compromise between the requirement to generate a high intracranial current flow in the target region and the requirement to avoid blocking any EEG electrodes relevant for the EEG analyses. A graphical illustration of the conducted electrode montage simulation may be found in the Supplementary Figure 1. The four tACS electrodes were applied using conductive paste (Ten20 conductive paste, Weaver and Co, Aurora, CO, United States), and for all participants, impedances were kept below 10 k Ω .

For the actual stimulation condition, tACS was applied for about 20 min, with an intensity of 1 mA (peak-to-peak). The previously conducted electric field simulation with an injected current of 1 mA peak-to-peak per electrode pair yielded to an electric field strength of ~ 0.1 V/m (Supplementary Figure 1). Previous studies showed [c.f. e.g., (98)] that similar electric field strengths in the target area produced aftereffects. The stimulation frequency was individually adjusted for each participant and reflected the participants' individual frequency peak between 1 and 8 Hz during target trials (details below). To minimize discomfort, the stimulation was faded in and out for about 10 s. For the sham stimulation, in turn, tACS was again faded in for about 10 s, but then only lasted for another 10 s, before it was again faded out for 10 s. Hence, in total, the "tACS" during the sham stimulation conditions only lasted for 30 s including fade-in and fade-out phases and served the purpose of realistically mimicking the phenomenological experience of actual stimulation. This procedure is one of the commonly used placebo stimulation techniques [e.g., (99)]. To identify potential differences in the perception of both conditions, at the end of each session participants were asked whether they received actual or sham stimulation, and whether they perceived any tACS side effects (93).

Synchronization Between Stimulus Presentation and Transcranial Alternating Current Stimulation

To always coincide each participant's individual target P300 during the intervention block with a positive voltage peak of the running tACS, a similar synchronization approach was used as in the previous study (75) (cf. **Figure 2A**). As the internal oscillation is believed to synchronize with the external tACS

force and to thereby enhance its power, in-phase tACS (internal oscillation frequency matches with external force) is reported to synchronize EROs, while anti-phase tACS (internal oscillation frequency does not match with external force) is reported to desynchronize EROs [for a discussion, see (100)]. That is, the presentation of the next stimulus was paused by a waiting period until a pulse of the stimulator signaled that the tACS waveform was at a certain position that its next positive peak would coincide with the next P300 peak triggered by the stimulus (cf. Figure 2). During this wait period, a fixation point was shown. Technically, this was realized by transmitting the pulse from the stimulator to NBS Presentation at the beginning of each new sinusoidal wave (i.e., upon each zero crossing in the sinusoidal's ascending flank). Based on this, it was possible to define when the next positive tACS peak would occur and thereby adapt the delay for showing the stimuli (cf. Figure 2B). This calculation thereby considered both, the fixed P300 latency and individual stimulation frequency, which were already determined during the VOT pre-intervention block (cf. see section "Online Analysis").

Electroencephalography Recording and Analysis

Electroencephalography (EEG) was acquired via a wireless EEG system (Smarting®, mBrainTrain®, Belgrade, Serbia) from 22 Ag/AgCl sintered ring electrodes (Fp1, Fp2, AFz, F3, Fz, F4, T7, C3, Cz, C4, T8, CPz, P7, P3, Pz, P4, P8, POz, O1, O2, M1, M2 according to the international 10/20 system). FPz served as ground (DRL) and FCz as reference electrode (CMS). The amplifier was attached to the EEG cap (Easycap, Herrsching, Germany) and communicated wirelessly with the recording computer via Bluetooth. Keeping all impedances below 15 k Ω , the EEG was digitized at 500 Hz (one data set was unintentionally recorded at 250 Hz) and with a 24-bit step-size resolution via (LSL). The marker stream originating from NBS Presentation was thereby also acquired via LSL, such that the EEG recording files entailed all event information of the conducted VOTs. Data analysis was performed using Matlab 2021b (The MathWorks Inc., Natick, MA, United States) and eeglab 2021.0 (101).

Online Analysis

For the on-site EEG analysis during the experiment, the participant's EEG data from the pre-intervention block was filtered with a 40 Hz low-pass filter and a 0.1 Hz high pass filter, and then detrended. Next, before the computation of an independent-component-analysis (ICA) the continuous EEG data was epoched into 2 s time windows. After that, a fast ICA was computed using pop_runica (ica type "fastica") on the epoched EEG data and its components were visually inspected. ICA components reflecting obvious artifacts (e.g., horizontal or vertical eye movements, heartbeats, muscle activity or electrode artifacts) were identified, backprojected to the filtered continuous EEG data, and then rejected. Next, for the calculation of the P300 peak latency, the ICA-corrected continuous EEG data was first epoched from -2 to +5 s relative to each target stimulus, and then baseline-corrected beginning from -2 s until target onset. Remaining non-stereotypic artifacts were removed by built-in EEGLAB functions (kurtosis thresholding and joint probability test with \pm 3-SD single-channel and global-channel thresholds). Then, the participant's P300 latency was derived by averaging all epochs for electrode Pz and identifying the maximum P300 amplitude peak between 250 and 450 ms after target stimulus onset.

The participant's most dominant event-related oscillation during the P300 time window, in turn, was determined by a frequency analysis. First, using Matlab's pspectrum function, the power spectrum at electrode Pz was calculated for each epoch and then all derived power spectra were averaged to obtain one mean power spectrum. The obtained frequency resolution was 0.1 Hz and the obtained time resolution 0.124 ms. Next, the highest frequency power within the time frame of \pm 200 ms around the previously determined P300 latency and within the frequency range of 1 and 8 Hz was determined and used as the individual stimulation frequency.

Pre-processing and Data Cleaning

For the EEG offline analyses, the EEG datasets from the preintervention and post-intervention block were first merged, down-sampled to 250 Hz, temporally filtered between 0.5 and 40 Hz, and detrended.

In three datasets, noisy EEG channels (max. 3) were identified and replaced *via* spherical interpolation using the pop_interp function. For one dataset, a 1.1 s long highly artifactual data segment was removed. Next, for the computation of an ICA, the continuous EEG data was segmented in 2 s time windows and non-stereotypic artifacts were removed using built-in EEGLAB functions (joint probability test, \pm 2-SD single-channel and global-channel thresholds). After that, an ICA ("extended" version) was computed and components reflecting horizontal or vertical eye movements, heartbeat, muscle activity or electrode artifacts, were visually identified, backprojected to the continuous EEG data and then rejected. Hence, at the end of this cleaning process, continuous EEG data sets were obtained that were already filtered between 0.5 and 40 Hz and cleaned from stereotypic artifacts by means of the conducted ICA.

Event-Related Potentials Analyses

Event-related potentials analyses focused on differences in the target P300 between interventions (actual stimulation vs. sham stimulation) and blocks (pre-intervention vs. post-intervention block). To this end, the merged and ICA-corrected continuous EEG datasets for each intervention were first rereferenced to the common average, low-pass filtered below 6 Hz (to exclude alpha activity), epoched from -0.5 to 1.5 s relative to each target stimuli, and then cut into two separate subsets: One subset containing the epochs of the pre-intervention block before actual stimulation or sham stimulation, another subset containing the epochs of the post-intervention block after actual stimulation or sham stimulation. Next, the same following pre-processing and analysis steps were performed on each subset: First, a baseline correction was applied on each epoch by subtracting the mean voltage of the -0.5 s epoch prior to stimulus onset from all data points. Second, within each epoch, channels that exceeded a differential average amplitude of 150 μ V were marked for rejection. Channels that were marked as bad on more than



15% of all epochs were excluded. Epochs having more than 10 bad channels were excluded, while epochs with less than 10 bad channels were included. The bad-channel data was replaced with spherical interpolation of the neighboring channel values [TBT, (102)]. Third, the ERP of the respecting condition was calculated by taking the average across epochs. Finally, for the statistical analyses, for each dataset, the mean P300 amplitude was calculated for electrode Pz within the time range from + 200 to + 550 ms. In addition, the maximum P300 peak between 250 and 550 ms was extracted for each dataset. The same processing procedure was implemented for inspecting the standard P300.

Frequency Analysis

The frequency analyses focused on spectral differences in the delta to theta range between interventions and blocks. To this end, the ICA-corrected continuous EEG datasets for each condition were again rereferenced to the common average, epoched from -0.5 to +1.6 s relative to each target stimulus, and then cut into two subsets for pre- and post-block measurements. Next, the identical following pre-processing and analysis steps were performed on each subset: First, a baseline correction was applied from -0.5 to 0 s, before the same non-stereotypic artifact removal was implemented as described for the P300 analysis. Next, a continuous wavelet transformation (CWT) was conducted on each retained epoch for channel Pz. The frequency range obtained reached from 0.25 to 6 Hz in 47 steps on a log scale and the time resolution amounted to 0.004 ms. After that, the derived power spectra were logarithmized and a mean power spectrum was derived by averaging across all derived power spectra. Finally, for the statistical analyses, the mean delta and

theta (0.5-5.5 Hz) power of the respecting subset (condition) was derived by taking the average power across all frequency bins falling into the respecting frequency range and time range between 250 and 550 ms.

Statistical Analyses

Two participants had to be excluded after the first diagnostic appointment, one because of meeting the exclusion criteria and another one due to health problems. Additionally, out of the 20 participants who completed the entire experiment, one participant had to be excluded from the analyses due to incorrect task execution. Hence, 19 participants remained for further analyses from which the following outcome variables were extracted: Omission error rate, commission error rate, mean RT and reaction time variabilities (RTV) for the VOT analyses; processing speed, omission errors, commission errors and concentration performance for the d2; target P300 mean amplitudes for the ERP analyses; and low frequency power values for the wavelet analysis.

For each main dependent variable, a two-way repeated measures ANOVA with the two within-factors "Block" (preintervention vs. post-intervention) and "Intervention" (actual stimulation vs. sham stimulation) was conducted. For specifying ANOVA effect sizes, partial eta squared (η_p^2) was used, where $\eta_p^2 = 0.01$ indicates a small effect, $\eta_p^2 = 0.06$ a medium effect, and $\eta_p^2 = 0.14$ a large effect (103). For indicating effect sizes of *t*-tests, on the other hand, Cohen's d was used, where d = 0.20 indicates a small effect, d = 0.50 a medium effect, and d = 0.80 a large effect (103). The α -level was set to 0.05. In addition, to identify potential associations between the different outcome parameters, exploratory Pearson correlation analyses between each possible variable pair were conducted on the absolute change (difference from pre-to-post) across both intervention types. Correlation analyses were tested for significance and Bonferroni-Holm correction was applied to correct for multiple comparisons. All statistical analyses were carried out using Matlab (The MathWorks Inc., Natick, MA, United States, Version 2021b).

RESULTS

Sample Characteristics

Sociodemographic and clinical characteristics of the finally analyzed sample are reported in Table 1. 57.89% of participants were diagnosed with the combined ADHD type, 5.26% with the predominantly hyperactive-impulsive subtype and 36.84% with the predominantly inattentive ADHD subtype. The most common current comorbidities found were anxiety disorders (36.84%) and affective disorders (21.05%). According to the DASS-21 (90), participants revealed, on average, only mild scores for depression (M = 10.26; SD = 3.48), anxiety (M = 9.11;SD = 2.45) and stress (M = 12.53; SD = 5.65). On average, participants were 27.95 years (SD = 8.57) and most participants had a higher education entrance qualification (78,95%). After each experimental session, participants were asked to judge if they were actually stimulated with tACS or if they received the sham stimulation. 47,37% of the sample correctly judged that they received actual stimulation at the actual stimulation session, while 52,63% thought they were actually stimulated at the sham stimulation session. Since it was a 50% chance to correctly identify the actual stimulation, participants seemed to be blinded.

Visual Oddball Task

Results of the VOT analyses are shown in **Figure 3**. Regarding omission error rate (**Figure 3A**), the ANOVA revealed a significant main effect of "Block" [$F_{(1,18)} = 20.13$, p < 0.001, $\eta_p^2 = 0.53$], but no main effect of "Intervention" [$F_{(1,18)} = 0.08$, p = 0.781, $\eta_p^2 = 0.00$] and no interaction effect [$F_{(1,18)} = 0.16$, p = 0.693, $\eta_p^2 = 0.01$]. The block effect consisted of more omission errors being committed during the post-intervention (M = 26.63; SD = 17.49) than pre-intervention (M = 17.55; SD = 13.01) block.

Regarding d-Prime (**Figure 3C**), the ANOVA revealed a significant main effect of "Block" [$F_{(1,18)} = 17.85$, p < 0.001, $\eta_p^2 = 0.50$], but no main effect of "Intervention" [$F_{(1,18)} = 0.47$, p = 0.501, $\eta_p^2 = 0.03$] and no interaction effect [$F_{(1,18)} = 0.32$, p = 0.576, $\eta_p^2 = 0.02$]. The "Block" effect consisted of a smaller d-Prime sensitivity score during the post-intervention (M = 1.88; SD = 0.94) than pre-intervention (M = 2.25; SD = 0.87) block.

For commission error rate (Figure 3B), RT (Figure 3C) and reaction time variability (Figure 3D), the ANOVA yielded neither a main effect of "Block" or "Intervention," nor an interaction effect (detailed ANOVA tables are shown in the Supplementary Table 2).

d2 Task

Overall performances of the d2 task are depicted in **Figure 4**. Two datasets had to be excluded due to complications in the execution of the task. For processing speed and concentration performance, there were 2 outliers (>3 SD), and for errors of omission and commission, there was 1 outlier (>3 SD), so that a total of only 16 and 17 datasets, respectively, were included in the respective statistical analyses.

For all d2 performance parameter, the ANOVA revealed a significant block effect. Regarding processing speed (Figure 4A), the effect of "Block" revealed higher processing speed during the post-intervention block (M = 570.19; SD = 60.48) as compared to the pre-intervention block (M = 538.06; SD = 59.66). For concentration performances (Figure 4B) the "Block" effect consisted of a higher concentration performance during the post-intervention (M = 235.97; SD = 36.44) than preintervention (M = 216.75; SD = 34.61) block. For omission errors (Figure 4C) results revealed that less target stimuli were missed during the post-intervention (M = 10.03; SD = 6.91) than pre-intervention (M = 14.71; SD = 8.31) block. Results for commission errors (Figure 4D) yielded that more stimuli were wrongly identified as a target during the post-intervention (M = 3.85; SD = 3.08) than pre-intervention (M = 2.44;SD = 1.69) block.

There was neither a significant effect for "Intervention," nor an interaction effect for all four d2 performance parameter (detailed ANOVA tables are shown in the **Supplementary Table 3**).

Analyses of Event-Related Potentials

Planned Analysis of the Event-Related Potential P300 The topographies and waveforms of the examined ERPs are depicted in **Figure 5**. Consistent with the literature, extracted ERPs showed the typical waveform and topography of a P300 during an oddball task [for review see e.g., Polich (38)], with a maximum peak at around 250 to 550 ms over centro-parietal electrodes. Moreover, also in agreement with the literature (104, 105), the P300 mean amplitude across conditions turned out to be significantly [t(18) = -4.25, $p \le 0.001$]) higher for target ERPs than standard ERPs (cf. **Figure 5A**).

Regarding experimental conditions, the ANOVA on target P300 mean amplitudes revealed a trend for the main effect "Block" $[F(_{1,18}) = 3.40, p = 0.082, \eta_p^2 = 0.16]$ but neither an effect of "Condition" $[F_{(1,18)} = 0.27, p = 0.609, \eta_p^2 = 0.01]$, nor an interaction $[F_{(1,18)} = 0.03, p = 0.870, \eta_p^2 = 0.00]$. The trend for "Block" consisted of an amplitude decrease during the post-intervention (M = 2.72; SD = 1.30) compared to the pre-intervention (M = 3.00; SD = 1.48) block. Individual mean amplitude plots are included in the **Supplementary Figure 2**. The ANOVA for maximum P300 peak amplitude revealed no significant effects (cf. **Supplementary Table 4**).

Exploratory Analysis of a Late Event-Related Potential

On visual inspection of the ERP waveforms, there appears to be a difference in a late negative ERP component that peaks around 800 ms after target onset (cf. **Figure 5B**). Therefore, to examine whether this difference is not merely descriptive, we performed

Frontiers in Psychiatry | www.frontiersin.org

an exploratory ERP analysis using the same analysis procedure and the same preprocessed datasets than before, but with a time window of interest slightly shifted backward (700 to 1000 ms). The ANOVA on this late ERP mean amplitudes revealed no main effect of "Intervention" [$F_{(18,1)} = 0.24$, p = 0.240, $\eta_p^2 = 0.08$], but a trend for "Block" [$F_{(1,18)} = 4.03$, p = 0.060, $\eta_p^2 = 0.18$] that consisted of higher ERP mean amplitudes during the post-intervention (M = 0.69; SD = 1.29) than pre-intervention (M = 0.16; SD = 1.48) block. Moreover, the ANOVA revealed a significant interaction [$F_{(1,18)} = 6.56$, p = 0.020, $\eta_p^2 = 0.27$]. Following up this effect, paired *t*-tests revealed that the late ERP mean amplitudes significantly increased from pre-intervention (M = -0.09; SD = 1.14) to post-intervention (M = 0.71; SD = 1.31) under actual stimulation [t(18) = -2.70, p = 0.015], but not under sham stimulation [t(18) = -0.98, p = 0.339].

Frequency Analyses

Time-frequency power spectra of the wavelet analyses are depicted in **Figure 6**. In line with previous research (74, 75), our wavelet analysis revealed strongest activity in the P300 time window for the ERO in the delta to theta (0–8 Hz) frequency spectrum. The ANOVA on the

TABLE 1 Sociodemographic and clinical sample c	characteristics.		
Total sample (n):		19*	
Female [<i>n</i> (%)]:		10 (52.63)	
Age [<i>M</i> (<i>SD</i>)]:		27.95 (8.57)	
Interview data:			
IDA-R			Maximum reachable scores:
ADHD presentations [n (%)]			
Combined type		11 (57.89)	
Predominantly hyperactive-impulsive type		1 (5.26)	
Predominantly inattentive type		7 (36.84)	
ADHD scores [M (SD)]			
Total		36.42 (9.14)	54
Inattention		21.58 (3.04)	27
Hyperactivity		7.32 (5.08)	15
Impulsivity		7.53 (3.99)	12
Mini-DIPS			
n (%)	Current diagnosis	Previous diagnosis	
Affective disorder	4 (21.05)	5 (26.32)	
Anxiety disorder	7 (36.84)	1 (5.26)	
Post-traumatic stress disorder	0	2 (10.53)	
Obsessive-compulsive disorder	3 (15.79)	0	
Sleep disorder	3 (15.79)	1 (5.26)	
Impulsivity Screening	1 (5.26)	4 (21.05)	
Questionnaire data: M (SD)			
ADHS-SB			Maximum reachable scores:
Total		23.53 (11.78)	54
Inattention		12.95 (5.52)	27
Hyperactivity		5.79 (4.95)	15
Impulsivity		4.79 (3.44)	12
WHOQOL			Maximum reachable scores:
Total		70.97 (10.46)	100
Physical health		73.12 (10.67)	100
Psychological health		63.16 (15.67)	100
Social relationships		69.30 (16.45)	100
Environment		78.29 (12.61)	100
DASS-21			Maximum reachable scores:
Total		10.63 (3.41)	21
Depression		10.26 (3.48)	21
Anxiety		9.11 (2.45)	21
Stress		12.53 (5.65)	21

ADHS-SB, ADHD self-assessment scale; DASS, depression-anxiety-stress-scales; IDA-R, integrated diagnosis of ADHD in adulthood; Mini-DIPS, diagnostic short interview for mental disorders; WHOQOL, world health Organization quality of life questionnaire. *Out of 20 participants who completed the entire experiment, one participant had to be excluded from the analyses due to incorrect task execution. Hence, 19 participants remained for analyses.



FIGURE 3 | Results of the visual oddball task (VOT). Error rates are depicted in (**A**,**B**) and the sensitivity measure D-prime in (**C**). Results of the mean reaction time (RT) and reaction time variability (RTV) are illustrated in (**D**,**E**). Values depict means and SEMs for the sham stimulation (blue bars) and actual stimulation (red bars) before and after actual or sham stimulation. ***p < 0.001.



ERO power values revealed a significant main effect of "Block" $[F_{(1,18)} = 8.26, p = 0.010, \eta_p^2 = 0.31]$, but no main effect of "Intervention" $[F_{(1,18)} = 0.01, p = 0.934, \eta_p^2 = 0.00]$ and no significant interaction $[F_{(1,18)} = 0.21, p = 0.653, \eta_p^2 = 0.01]$. The "Block" effect consisted of less activity in the ERO band during the post-intervention (M = 0.58; SD = 0.30) than pre-intervention (M = 0.63; SD = 0.31) block. Topography plots are shown in the **Supplementary Figure 3**.

[r(18) = 0.70, Bonferroni-Holm adjusted p = 0.045] as well as between the VOT omission error rate and the d prime scores [r(18) = -0.89, Bonferroni-Holm adjusted p < 0.001]). In addition, there was a significant positive correlation between maximum and mean P300 amplitude [r(18) = 0.70, Bonferroni-Holm adjusted p < 0.05]. All remaining correlations did not remain significant after Bonferroni-Holm adjustment.

DISCUSSION

Results of the correlation analysis are shown in **Table 2**. There was a significant positive correlation between the late ERP mean amplitude and VOT RT

Explorative Correlation Analyses

In this study, we aimed to increase the P300 amplitude in ADHD patients *via* tACS and to demonstrate an attentional improvement induced by this P300 elevation.

Frontiers in Psychiatry | www.frontiersin.org



Specifically, our hypotheses were (1) that by applying tACS at the participant's individual ERO, it would be possible to enhance the P300 amplitude in ADHD patients, and (2), that this induced P300 elevation would lead to immediate improvements in neuropsychological attention measures. To test our hypotheses, we subjected our ADHD patients to both, an actual stimulation, and a sham stimulation, and evaluated their EEG characteristics (P300 amplitudes, low frequency power) and attention performances (d2 attention test, VOT) before and after the two interventions.

No Evidence for a Stimulation-Induced P300 Increase

Contrary to our expectations, we were not able to demonstrate a stronger increase in P300 amplitude under actual stimulation than sham stimulation. Instead, we only found some indication for a tACS-induced amplitude increase in a late ERP component (discussion below). Hence, limited to our analyses and in contrast to the previous study with ADHD patients (75), but in line with another study conducted in healthy participants (74), we currently cannot provide evidence that our methodological

Frontiers in Psychiatry | www.frontiersin.org



approach of aligning the participant's generated P300 peaks with positive deflections of the tACS signal is able to amplify the P300.

Why we did not succeed in increasing the participants' P300 through our tACS application cannot be conclusively determined, but some possible reasons can be suggested. First, it should be noted that the effect of tACS may vary due to individual differences in the neuroanatomy, which result in varying electric fields inside the brain (98). Therefore, one explanation might be that despite our careful simulation attempts to find the right electrode montage, we failed to stimulate the correct target region by assuming an inaccurate P300 source location. In the future, it should therefore be considered whether

individualized electrode assemblies can be employed, with the help of which individual neuroanatomical peculiarities can be better accounted for.

Likewise, inter- and intraindividual variability in brain activity may have influenced the success of brain stimulation, for example, by an unfavorable brain state during stimulation (106). If this has been the case, a closed loop system that measures brain activity during stimulation *via* EEG and adjusts the applied stimulation accordingly, could potentially provide mitigation here. However, research studies targeting closed loop systems aiming to adapt fluctuating stimulation parameters to momentary brain activity are currently rare and require further investigation (107–110).

	P300 mean amplitude	P300 maximum amplitude	Late ERP mean amplitude	Low frequency Power	VOT omission error rate	VOT commission error rate	VOT dprime	VOT RT	VOT RTV	d2 omission errors	d2 commission errors
Pre-to-Post											
P300 mean amplitude		0.70*	0.13	0.14	0.19	-0.28	-0.15	-0.04	-0.17	0.07	-0.21
P300 max. amplitude			0.36	0.39	0.14	-0.20	-0.14	-0.06	-0.37	0.07	-0.13
Late ERP mean amplitude				0.23	0.20	-0.14	-0.18	0.69*	0.14	0.31	0.01
Low frequency Power					0.17	0.25	-0.37	0.09	0.14	0.23	0.02
VOT omission error rate						0.35	-0.89***	0.33	0.29	-0.12	0.23
VOT comission error rate							-0.56	0.02	0.36	-0.13	-0.23
VOT dprime								-0.34	-0.39	0.12	0.07
VOT RT									0.63	0.07	-0.02
VOT RTV										0.06	-0.24
d2 omission errors											-0.12
d2 commission errors											

52

Moreover, we find that not only the participant's P300, but also their event-related low frequency power (0-6 Hz) remained unaffected by our two stimulation interventions. Hence, the reason for failing to increase the P300 could be that the participant's ERO, which is assumed to be causative of the P300 (80, 81, 83, 84), could not sufficiently be increased. Thus, the question arises why the participant's ERO has not been changed by tACS. One finding to consider here is that brain oscillations only seem to be increasable by tACS if their power is rather low before stimulation (111, 112). Hence, one possible reason might be that the EROs of our adult ADHD sample were already elevated before the tACS intervention, and therefore could not be further increased. This would be in line with some evidence for an elevated delta and theta power in adult ADHD (113-118), although other studies did not find this effect (119-121). If an elevated delta to theta power in ADHD patients would explain our null finding, the question, however, arises why this effect did not also show up in the previous ADHD study by Dallmer-Zerbe et al. (75) and why the low-frequency power even decreased from pre- to post.

Another reason why we might have failed to enhance the participant's ERO might be some mismatch between the externally applied tACS frequency and actual ERO. Time constraints during experimental sessions with patients demand a quick EEG data analysis, which may have prevented us from being sufficiently accurate in identifying the participant's exact ERO. If the external stimulation frequency matches the endogenous frequency, already low stimulation intensities lead to entrainment. However, the larger the variance between internal and external frequency is, the stronger the force of tACS must be to entrain these oscillation (122).

Finally, evaluations of an experiment by Wischnewski et al. (76, 123) indicate that frontal theta tACS (and perhaps this effect also applies to our tACS electrode montage) may induce a P300 drop at least in healthy participants. That is, contrary to their intention of enhancing the participant's P300 by theta tACS, the participant's P300 decreased by this intervention. Surprisingly, however, this P300 decrease (76) does not seem to have been caused by modulating the participant's internal theta power, since it was not affected by the application of tACS (123). One possible implication of this is that there is another indirect mechanism by which an externally applied theta tACS may reduce the P300 amplitude, and perhaps a similar mechanism may potentially also have occurred in our experiment, but further research is required to explore underlying mechanisms.

Preliminary Evidence for a Stimulation-Induced Late Component Increase

While we found no evidence for a tACS-induced P300 increase, we interestingly found a significant (p = 0.020) interaction effect for a late negative ERP component (700–1,000 ms), in that this ERP component was significantly increased after actual stimulation [t(18) = -2.70, p = 0.015], but not after sham stimulation [t(18) = -0.98, p = 0.339]. Hence, at least on this ERP component, tACS seems to have had some effect. While

we do not yet have a sound neurophysiological explanation on how tACS affected this ERP component, this possible effect clearly warrants further investigation for several reasons. First, previous studies found a relationship between the amplitude of the late negative ERP component N700 and the amount of attention allocated to stimuli (124–126). And second, there is evidence that the N700 amplitude is correlated with a dopamine transporter allele (127) which is considered as a risk factor for ADHD. Consequently, a targeted modulation of this component *via* tACS could also be interesting for the treatment of ADHD.

No Indication for a Stimulation-Induced Improvement of Attention

In line with the P300 null findings were also the neuropsychological outcomes in our study. For both, the VOT and d2 attention task, none of the assessed performance measures indicated any "Block" \times "Intervention" interaction. Altogether, these results suggest that the application of tACS had little to no influence on the measured neuropsychological performance of our participants. This is, however, not surprising, given that the anticipated P300 amplification was already inefficient.

Successful Optimization of Our Visual Oddball Task

To enhance omission and commission errors, we changed the VOT used in the previous study (75). In particular, we changed the used stimuli, reduced the time period of stimulus presentation and, in addition, the response behavior. Our results suggest that this adaptation of the VOT has been successful in elevating the level of difficulty. In contrast to the previous study with almost no commission errors and a low omission error rate, we now encountered higher omission error rates ($M_{pre} = 17.55\%$, $SD_{pre} = 13.01\%$ and $M_{post} = 26.63\%$, $SD_{pre} = 17.49\%$) and commission rates ($M_{pre} = 13.76\%$, $SD_{pre} = 9.55\%$ and $M_{post} = 15.11\%$, $SD_{post} = 11.64\%$), while still observing a plausible P300 ERP (40). For future follow-up studies on the same topic, we therefore propose to use our improved VOT variant instead of our original one.

Marginal Associations Between Main Experimental Parameters

Most of the major correlation parameters were non-significant. However, there was one significant positive correlation between late ERP mean amplitude and VOT RT [r(18) = 0.70, Bonferroni-Holm adjusted p = 0.045]. While preliminary, this finding might suggest that the amplitude change of the late ERP component could be influenced by the participant's RT during the VOT. Therefore, the modulation of this late ERP component could be a future target site to be investigated to influence responsiveness in ADHD individuals.

Limitations and Future Directions

One limitation of our study is that the experimental design is rather time critical and grounds on the presupposition that the participant's P300 latency remains stable across trials. If this requirement is violated too strongly, there is a risk that the tACS peaks do not sufficiently coincide with the P300 peaks, and thus the P300 cannot sufficiently be elevated. For the future, this problem could perhaps be attenuated by using an oddball task that induces a particularly low P300 latency variability, choosing a less time-critical target site instead of the P300 (e.g., an oscillation instead of an ERP component), or by implementing a closed loop system that may recognize P300 latency changes over time and may adapt the stimulation frequency accordingly.

In comparison to the study of Dallmer-Zerbe et al. (75), we changed various aspects in our present study. For example, we chose another study design (crossover design instead of between design), we used other electrodes for the application of tACS (rubber electrodes instead of EEG ring electrodes) and programmed a different visual oddball task with different stimuli and reaction patterns (for further details and differences cf. **Supplementary Table 1**). Therefore, it is not possible to directly compare both studies. However, with our experimental procedure, the application of tACS did not enhance low frequency power or the P300 amplitude, which challenges to some extent the robustness of the found effect in the previous study.

One aspect that needs further investigation is to find the optimal P300 time window to be extracted for the online analyses. A limitation of our online analyses was our rather narrowly chosen P300 time frame of 250 to 450 ms, since in four datasets the averaged ERP peaked maximally beyond our chosen P300 time frame. Therefore, for those four participants, the P300 latency, which is used for adjusting the stimulus presentation during the VOT, was not accurate enough. On the other hand, selecting a larger P300 time frame might have led to maximum peaks that fall below (e.g., <200) or exceed (e.g., >600) the usual P300 time frame to 250–600 ms targeting ADHD patients.

Another caveat is that our study did not allow for full experimenter blinding, given that the neurostimulator had to be manually adjusted. Hence, an experimenter bias cannot fully be precluded. Therefore, for future studies, it would be helpful to control the neurostimulator automatically instead of manually entering the stimulation parameter.

Another limitation of our study is that our sample size is, unfortunately, not large enough to also allow for ADHD subtype analyses. Such an analysis would have been very interesting, though, because it could be that not all ADHD patients, but at least a certain ADHD subtype or subgroup of ADHD patients (e.g., the predominantly hyperactive/impulsive subtype) benefit from our tACS application. In addition, a sub analysis of patients with certain comorbidities may also have been interesting to look at, since our sample included, for example, ADHD patients with comorbid mild to moderate affective disorders or anxiety disorders. Similarly, the sample we collected may not have been large enough to detect even small tACS-induced changes. In this case, however, the question arises whether these undetected effects are clinically relevant. Although ERP data give valuable insights into cognitive processing of ADHD patients, it is important to bear in mind that it is still unclear whether the P300 amplitude decrease in ADHD (41–48) is a cause, consequence, or compensatory process. Although first explanation attempts have been put forward (128), further studies are clearly necessary to shed more light on this unresolved question.

Moreover, a question that remains unanswered in our study is the question of possible tACS long-term effects. In particular, our study cannot exclude the possibility that the tACS effects we expected do not occur immediately, but perhaps not until after several sessions. For example, in the study Farokhzadi et al. (86), where alpha-tACS achieved higher reductions in inattention and impulsivity than Ritalin, the effect was measured after 24 sessions. Therefore, it would be interesting to compare various tACS conditions over more than one session. In this respect, it is also conceivable to vary the stimulation frequencies or electrode montages.

In addition, it should be considered that the application of tACS is accompanied by a large artifact in EEG data. It is a major challenge to recover artifact-free brain signals during tACS because it hinders direct insights into electrophysiological processing during stimulation. So far, current computational approaches still fail to obtain artifact-free data (129–132). In the future, however, it would be interesting to analyze EEG data during actual stimulation to lighten the current black box.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, our study cannot provide further evidence that tACS can increase the P300 amplitude in ADHD patients and that by such P300 amplification an immediate improvement of neuropsychological attention parameters can be achieved. However, we found a possible effect of our tACS stimulation on a late ERP component and a positive correlation between this component and the participants' VOT RTs that both warrant further investigation. Moreover, our chosen setup included many actuation parameters (e.g., stimulation intensity, electrode mounting, waveform type) that could have been set differently. Therefore, there are still many alternative parameter settings for the application of tACS that can be tested and that may potentially yield more promising results.

REFERENCES

- American Psychiatric Association. Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders. 5th ed. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association (2013). doi: 10.1176/appi.books.9780890425596
- Song P, Zha M, Yang Q, Zhang Y, Li X, Rudan I. The prevalence of adult attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder: a global systematic review and metaanalysis. J Glob Health. (2021) 11:1–9. doi: 10.7189/JOGH.11.04009
- 3. Birchwood J, Daley D. Brief report: the impact of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) symptoms on academic performance in an

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The anonymized raw data supporting the conclusions of the article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Medical Ethics Committee of the University of Bonn. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

KK and CB designed the experiment under the supervision of NB, AP, and CH. CB conducted the tACS electrode simulations. KK collected and analyzed the data under the supervision of NB and CH, and intervision with CB. KK and NB wrote major parts of the manuscript. BA and HR recruited ADHD patients. AW, BS, CB, AP, SL, HR, BA, and CH contributed to reviewed and edited the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This study was supported by a grant of the Federal Ministry of Education and Research (BMBF, 13GW0273E). This publication was supported by the Open Access Publication Fund of the University of Bonn.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We acknowledge the support of Celina Kullmann for supporting the diagnostic process and experimental preparations.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyt. 2022.928145/full#supplementary-material

adolescent community sample. J Adolesc. (2012) 35:225–31. doi: 10.1016/J. ADOLESCENCE.2010.08.011

- Barbaresi WJ, Katusic SK, Colligan RC, Weaver AL, Jacobsen SJ. Long-term school out-comes for children with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: a population-based per-spective. J Dev Behav Pediatr. (2007) 28:265–73. doi: 10.1097/DBP.0b013e31811ff87d
- Fredriksen M, Dahl AA, Martinsen EW, Klungsoyr O, Faraone SV, Peleikis DE. Childhood and persistent ADHD symptoms associated with educational failure and long-term occupa-tional disability in adult ADHD. Atten Defic Hyperact Disord. (2014) 6:87–99. doi: 10.1007/S12402-014-0126-1

- Halmøy A, Fasmer OB, Gillberg C, Haavik J. Occupational outcome in adult ADHD: impact of symptom profile, comorbid psychiatric problems, and treatment: a cross-sectional study of 414 clinically diagnosed adult ADHD patients. J Atten Disord. (2009) 13:175–87. doi: 10.1177/1087054708329777
- Vergunst F, Tremblay RE, Nagin D, Algan Y, Beasley E, Park J, et al. Association of behavior in boys from low socioeconomic neighborhoods with employment earnings in adulthood. *JAMA Pediatr.* (2019) 173:334–41. doi: 10.1001/JAMAPEDIATRICS.2018.5375
- Knapp M, King D, Healey A, Thomas C. Economic outcomes in adulthood and their associa-tions with antisocial conduct, attention deficit and anxiety problems in childhood. J Ment Health Policy Econ. (2011) 14:137–47.
- Fletcher JM. The effects of childhood ADHD on adult labor market outcomes. *Health Econ.* (2014) 23:159–81. doi: 10.1002/HEC.2907
- Jennum P, Hastrup LH, Ibsen R, Kjellberg J, Simonsen E. Welfare consequences for people diagnosed with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD): a matched nationwide study in Denmark. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol.* (2020) 37:29–38. doi: 10.1016/J.EURONEURO. 2020.04.010
- Jangmo A, Kuja-Halkola R, Pérez-Vigil A, Almqvist C, Bulik CM, D'Onofrio B, et al. Atten-tion-deficit/hyperactivity disorder and occupational outcomes: the role of educational attain-ment, comorbid developmental disorders, and intellectual disability. *PLoS One.* (2021) 16:e0247724. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0247724
- Mikami AY. The importance of friendship for youth with attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disor-der. *Clin Child Family Psychol Rev.* (2010) 13:181– 98. doi: 10.1007/S10567-010-0067-Y
- Finsaas MC, Kessel EM, Dougherty LR, Bufferd SJ, Danzig AP, Davila J, et al. Early child-hood psychopathology prospectively predicts social functioning in early adolescence. J Clin Child Adolesc Psychol. (2020) 49:353–64. doi: 10.1080/15374416.2018.1504298
- Sibley MH, Evans SW, Serpell ZN. Social cognition and interpersonal impairment in young adolescents with ADHD. J Psychopathol Behav Assess. (2009) 32:193–202. doi: 10.1007/S10862-009-9152-2
- Hoza B. Peer functioning in children with ADHD. J Pediatr Psychol. (2007) 32:655–63. doi: 10.1093/JPEPSY/JSM024
- Gardner DM, Gerdes ACA. Review of peer relationships and friendships in youth with ADHD. J Atten Disord. (2015) 19:844–55. doi: 10.1177/ 1087054713501552
- Anastopoulos AD, Sommer JL, Schatz NK. ADHD and family functioning. Curr Atten Disord Rep. (2009) 1:167–70. doi: 10.1007/s12618-009-0023-2
- Eakin L, Minde K, Hechtman L, Ochs E, Krane E, Bouffard R, et al. The marital and family functioning of adults with ADHD and their spouses. J Atten Disord. (2004) 8:1–10. doi: 10.1177/108705470400800101
- Stefanini JR, Scherer ZAP, Scherer EA, Cavalin LA, Guazzelli MS. Adolescents with atten-tion deficit hyperactivity disorder and exposure to violence: parents' opinion. *Rev Latino Am Enfermagem.* (2015) 23:1090–6. doi: 10.1590/0104-1169.0249.2653
- Chhibber A, Watanabe AH, Chaisai C, Veettil SK, Chaiyakunapruk N. Global economic bur-den of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: a systematic review. *Pharmacoeconomics*. (2021) 39:399–420. doi: 10.1007/s40273-020-00998-0
- National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (Nice). Attention deficit hyperactivity dis-order: diagnosis and management. *NICE Guideline*. (2018). Available online at: www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng87 (accessed February 18, 2022).
- Wolraich M, Brown L, Brown RT, DuPaul G, Earls M, Feldman HM, et al. ADHD: clinical practice guideline for the diagnosis, evaluation, and treatment of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder in children and adolescents. *Pediatrics.* (2011) 128:1007–22. doi: 10.1542/PEDS.2011-2654
- Pliszka S. Practice parameter for the assessment and treatment of children and adolescents with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. (2007) 46:894–921. doi: 10.1097/chi. 0b013e318054e724
- 24. Bolea-Alamañac B, Nutt DJ, Adamou M, Asherson P, Bazire S, Coghill D, et al. Evidence-based guidelines for the pharmacological management of attention deficit hyperactivity disor-der: update on recommendations from the British

association for psychopharmacology. J Psychopharmacol. (2014) 28:179–203. doi: 10.1177/0269881113519509

- Wynchank D, Bijlenga D, Beekman AT, Kooij JJS, Penninx BW. Adult attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) and insomnia: an update of the literature. *Curr Psychiatry Rep.* (2017) 19:98. doi: 10.1007/s11920-017-0860-0
- 26. Kis B, Lücke C, Abdel-Hamid M, Heβmann P, Graf E, Berger M, et al. Safety profile of methylphenidate under long-term treatment in adult ADHD patients – results of the COMPAS study. *Pharmacopsychiatry*. (2020) 53:263– 71. doi: 10.1055/A-1207-9851
- Hennissen L, Bakker MJ, Banaschewski T, Carucci S, Coghill D, Danckaerts M, et al. Cardio-vascular effects of stimulant and non-stimulant medication for children and adolescents with adhd: a systematic review and metaanalysis of trials of methylphenidate, amphet-amines and atomoxetine. CNS Drugs. (2017) 31:199–215. doi: 10.1007/s40263-017-0410-7
- Cachoeira CT, Leffa DT, Mittelstadt SD, Mendes LST, Brunoni AR, Pinto JV, et al. Positive effects of transcranial direct current stimulation in adult patients with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder A pilot randomized controlled study. *Psychiatry Res.* (2017) 247:28–32. doi: 10.1016/ J.PSYCHRES.2016.11.009
- Sotnikova A, Soff C, Tagliazucchi E, Becker K, Siniatchkin M. Transcranial direct current stimulation modulates neuronal networks in attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. *Brain Topogr.* (2017) 30:656–72. doi: 10.1007/S10548-017-0552-4
- Wilens TE, Bukstein O, Brams M, Cutler AJ, Childress A, Rugino T, et al. A controlled trial of extended-release guanfacine and psychostimulants for attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. (2012) 51:74–85.e2. doi: 10.1016/J.JAAC.2011.10.012
- Taylor EADHD. Medication in the longer term. Zeitschr Kinder Jugendpsychiatr Psychother. (2019) 47:542-6. doi: 10.1024/1422-4917/ a000664
- Zetterqvist J, Asherson P, Halldner L, Långström N, Larsson H. Stimulant and non-stimulant attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder drug use: total population study of trends and discon-tinuation patterns 2006–2009. Acta Psychiatr Scand. (2013) 128:70–7. doi: 10.1111/ACPS.12004
- Toomey SL, Sox CM, Rusinak D, Finkelstein JA. Why do children with ADHD discontinue their medication? *Clin Pediatr.* (2012) 51:763–9. doi: 10.1177/0009922812446744
- Faraone SV, Larsson H. Genetics of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. Mol Psychiatry. (2019) 24:562–75. doi: 10.1038/s41380-018-0070-0
- Dias TGC, Kieling C, Graeff-Martins AS, Moriyama TS, Rohde LA, Polanczyk GV. Devel-opments and challenges in the diagnosis and treatment of ADHD. *Rev Bras Psiquiatr.* (2013) 35:S40–50. doi: 10.1590/1516-4446-2013-S103
- Scassellati C, Bonvicini C, Faraone SV, Gennarelli M. Biomarkers and attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: a systematic review and metaanalyses. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. (2012) 51:1003–19.e20. doi: 10.1016/j.jaac.2012.08.015
- Peisch V, Rutter T, Wilkinson CL, Arnett AB. Sensory processing and P300 event-related po-tential correlates of stimulant response in children with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: a critical review. *Clin Neurophysiol.* (2021) 132:953–66. doi: 10.1016/J.CLINPH.2021.01.015
- Polich J. Updating P300: an integrative theory of P3a and P3b. Clin Neurophysiol. (2007) 118:2128–48. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2007.04.019
- Polich J. Attention, probability, and task demands as determinants of P300 latency from audi-tory stimuli. *Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol.* (1986) 63:251–9. doi: 10.1016/0013-4694(86)90093-3
- 40. Picton TW. The P300 wave of the human event-related potential. *J Clin Neuro Physiol.* (1992) 9:456–79. doi: 10.1097/00004691-199210000-00002
- Kaiser A, Aggensteiner PM, Baumeister S, Holz NE, Banaschewski T, Brandeis D. Earlier versus later cognitive event-related potentials (ERPs) in attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD): a meta-analysis. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2020) 112:117–34. doi: 10.1016/J.NEUBIOREV.2020.01.019
- Grane VA, Brunner JF, Endestad T, Aasen IES, Kropotov J, Knight RT, et al. ERP correlates of proactive and reactive cognitive control in treatment-naïve adult ADHD. *PLoS One.* (2016) 11:e0159833. doi: 10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE. 0159833

Frontiers in Psychiatry | www.frontiersin.org

- Hasler R, Perroud N, Meziane HB, Herrmann F, Prada P, Giannakopoulos P, et al. Attention-related EEG markers in adult ADHD. *Neuropsychologia*. (2016) 87:120–33. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2016.05.008
- Itagaki S, Yabe H, Mori Y, Ishikawa H, Takanashi Y, Niwa S. Event-related potentials in patients with adult attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder versus schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Res.* (2011) 189:288–91. doi: 10.1016/J. PSYCHRES.2011.03.005
- Marquardt L, Eichele H, Lundervold AJ, Haavik J, Eichele T. Eventrelated-potential (ERP) correlates of performance monitoring in adults with attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD). *Front Psychol.* (2018) 9:485. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.00485
- Prox V, Dietrich DE, Zhang Y, Emrich HM, Ohlmeier MD. Attentional processing in adults with ADHD as reflected by event-related potentials. *Neurosci Lett.* (2007) 419:236–41. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2007.0 4.011
- Wiersema JR, van der Meere JJ, Roeyers H. ERP correlates of impaired error monitoring in children with ADHD. J Neural Trans. (2005) 112:1417–30. doi: 10.1007/s00702-005-0276-6
- Woltering S, Liu Z, Rokeach A, Tannock R. Neurophysiological differences in inhibitory con-trol between adults with ADHD and their peers. *Neuropsychologia*. (2013) 51:1888–95. doi: 10.1016/J. NEUROPSYCHOLOGIA.2013.06.023
- McPherson DL, Salamat MT. Interactions among variables in the P300 response to a continu-ous performance task in normal and ADHD adults. *J Am Acad Audiol.* (2004) 15:666–77. doi: 10.3766/JAAA.15.10.2
- Lazzaro I, Gordon E, Whitmont S, Meares R, Clarke S. The modulation of late component event related potentials by pre-stimulus EEG Theta activity in ADHD. Int J Neurosci. (2001) 107:247–64. doi: 10.3109/00207450109150688
- Idiazábal MÁ, Palencia-Taboada AB, Sangorrín J, Espadaler-Gamissans JM. Cognitive evoked potentials in the hyperactivity attention deficit disorder. *Rev Neurol.* (2002) 34:301–5. doi: 10.33588/rn.3404.200 0501
- Tsai ML, Hung KL, Lu HH. Auditory event-related potentials in children with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. *Pediatr Neonatol.* (2012) 53:118–24. doi: 10.1016/J.PEDNEO.2012.01.009
- Yamamuro K, Ota T, Iida J, Nakanishi Y, Matsuura H, Uratani M, et al. Event-related poten-tials reflect the efficacy of pharmaceutical treatments in children and adolescents with atten-tion deficit/hyperactivity disorder. *Psychiatry Res.* (2016) 242:288–94. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2016.05.061
- Dolu N, Altınkaynak M, Güven A, Özmen S, Demirci E, İzzetoğlu M, et al. Effects of methylphenidate treatment in children with ADHD: a multimodal EEG/fNIRS approach. *Psychiatry Clin Psychopharmacol.* (2019) 29:285–92. doi: 10.1080/24750573.2018.1542779
- Rubinson M, Horowitz I, Naim-Feil J, Gothelf D, Levit-Binnun N, Moses E. Effects of methylphenidate on the ERP amplitude in youth with ADHD: a double-blind placebo-controlled cross-over EEG study. *PLoS One.* (2019) 14:e0217383. doi: 10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.02 17383
- Hermens DF, Williams LM, Clarke S, Kohn M, Cooper N, Gordon E. Responses to methylphenidate in adolescent AD/HD: evidence from concurrently recorded autonomic (EDA) and central (EEG and ERP) measures. *Int J Psychophysiol.* (2005) 58:21–33. doi: 10.1016/J.IJPSYCHO. 2005.03.006
- Winsberg BG, Javitt DC, Shanahan-Silipo G. Electrophysiological indices of information pro-cessing in methylphenidate responders. *Biol Psychiatry*. (1997) 42:434–45. doi: 10.1016/S0006-3223(96)00429-5
- Schoenberg PLA, Hepark S, Kan CC, Barendregt HP, Buitelaar JK, Speckens AEM. Effects of mindfulness-based cognitive therapy on neurophysiological correlates of performance moni-toring in adult attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder. *Clin Neurophysiol.* (2014) 125:1407–16. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2013.11.031
- Herrmann CS, Rach S, Neuling T, Strüber D. Transcranial alternating current stimulation: a review of the underlying mechanisms and modulation of cognitive processes. *Front Hum Neurosci.* (2013) 7:279. doi: 10.3389/fnhum. 2013.00279
- Müller NG, Vellage AK, Heinze HJ, Zaehle T. Entrainment of human alpha oscillations se-lectively enhances visual conjunction search. *PLoS One.* (2015) 10:e0143533. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0143533

- Hopfinger JB, Parsons J, Fröhlich F. Differential effects of 10-Hz and 40-Hz transcranial al-ternating current stimulation (tACS) on endogenous versus exogenous attention. *Cogn Neurosci.* (2017) 8:102–11. doi: 10.1080/17588928. 2016.1194261
- Antal A, Paulus W. Transcranial alternating current stimulation (tACS). Front Hum Neurosci. (2013) 7:317. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2013.00317
- Helfrich RF, Schneider TR, Rach S, Trautmann-Lengsfeld SA, Engel AK, Herrmann CS. En-trainment of brain oscillations by transcranial alternating current stimulation. *Curr Biol.* (2014) 24:333–9. doi: 10.1016/J.CUB.2013.12. 041
- Pikovsky A, Rosenblum M, Kurths J. Synchronization: A Universal Concept in Nonlinear Sciences (Cambridge Nonlinear Science Series). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press (2001). doi: 10.1017/CBO9780511755743
- Antal A, Herrmann CS. Transcranial alternating current and random noise stimulation: possible mechanisms. *Neural Plast.* (2016) 2016;3616807. doi: 10.1155/2016/3616807
- Paulus W. Transcranial electrical stimulation (tES tDCS; tRNS, tACS) methods. *Neuropsychol Rehabil.* (2011) 21:602–17. doi: 10.1080/09602011. 2011.557292
- Elyamany O, Leicht G, Herrmann CS, Mulert C. Transcranial alternating current stimulation (tACS): from basic mechanisms towards first applications in psychiatry. *Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2020) 271:135–56. doi: 10.1007/S00406-020-01209-9
- Vossen A, Gross J, Thut G. Alpha power increase after transcranial alternating current stimulation at alpha frequency (α-tACS) reflects plastic changes rather than entrainment. *Brain Stimul.* (2015) 8:499–508. doi: 10. 1016/J.BRS.2014.12.004
- Zaehle T, Rach S, Herrmann CS. Transcranial alternating current stimulation enhances indi-vidual alpha activity in human EEG. *PLoS One.* (2010) 5:e13766. doi: 10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0013766
- Kasten FH, Dowsett J, Herrmann CS. Sustained aftereffect of α-tACS lasts up to 70 min after stimulation. Front Hum Neurosci. (2016) 10:245. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2016.00245
- Veniero D, Vossen A, Gross J, Thut G. Lasting EEG/MEG aftereffects of rhythmic transcrani-al brain stimulation: level of control over oscillatory network activity. *Front Cell Neurosci.* (2015) 9:477. doi: 10.3389/FNCEL. 2015.00477/BIBTEX
- Schwab BC, König P, Engel AK. Spike-timing-dependent plasticity can account for connectivity aftereffects of dual-site transcranial alternating current stimulation. *Neuroimage*. (2021) 237:118179. doi: 10.1016/J. NEUROIMAGE.2021.118179
- Vogeti S, Boetzel C, Herrmann CS. Entrainment and spike-timing dependent plasticity – a review of proposed mechanisms of transcranial alternating current stimulation. *Front Syst Neurosci.* (2022) 16:827353. doi: 10.3389/ FNSYS.2022.827353
- Popp F, Dallmer-Zerbe I, Philipsen A, Herrmann CS. Challenges of P300 modulation using transcranial alternating current stimulation (tACS). *Front Psychol.* (2019) 10:476. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.00476
- Dallmer-Zerbe I, Popp F, Lam AP, Philipsen A, Herrmann CS. Transcranial alternating cur-rent stimulation (tACS) as a tool to modulate P300 amplitude in attention deficit hyperac-tivity disorder (ADHD): preliminary findings. *Brain Topogr.* (2020) 33:191–207. doi: 10.1007/s10548-020-00 752-x
- Wischnewski M, Alekseichuk I, Schutter DJLG. Behavioral and electrocortical effects of tran-scranial alternating current stimulation during advice-guided decision-making. *Neuroimage Rep.* (2021) 1:100052. doi: 10.1016/J.YNIRP.2021.100052
- Pahor A, Jaušovec N. The effects of theta and gamma tacs on working memory and electro-physiology. *Front Hum Neurosci.* (2018) 11:651. doi: 10.3389/FNHUM.2017.00651/BIBTEX
- Jaušovec N, Jaušovec K. Increasing working memory capacity with theta transcranial alternat-ing current stimulation (tACS). *Biol Psychol.* (2014) 96:42–7. doi: 10.1016/J.BIOPSYCHO.2013.11.006
- Herrmann CS, Rach S, Vosskuhl J, Strüber D. Time-frequency analysis of event-related potentials: a brief tutorial. *Brain Topogr.* (2013) 27:438–50. doi: 10.1007/S10548-013-0327-5
- Donkers FCL, Englander ZA, Tiesinga PHE, Cleary KM, Gu H, Belger A. Reduced delta power and synchrony and increased gamma power during

the P3 time window in schizophre-nia. Schizophr Res. (2013) 150:266-8. doi: 10.1016/J.SCHRES.2013.07.050

57

- Spencer KM, Polich J. Poststimulus EEG spectral analysis and P300: attention, task, and probability. *Psychophysiology*. (1999) 36:220–32. doi: 10. 1111/1469-8986.3620220
- Polich J. On the relationship between EEG and P300: individual differences, aging, and ultra-dian rhythms. Int J Psychophysiol. (1997) 26:299–317. doi: 10.1016/S0167-8760(97)00772-1
- Andrew C, Fein G. Event-related oscillations versus event-related potentials in a P300 task as biomarkers for alcoholism. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res.* (2010) 34:669–80. doi: 10.1111/J.1530-0277.2009.01136.X
- Huster RJ, Enriquez-Geppert S, Lavallee CF, Falkenstein M, Herrmann CS. Electroenceph-alography of response inhibition tasks: functional networks and cognitive contributions. *Int J Psychophysiol.* (2013) 87:217–33. doi: 10. 1016/J.IJPSYCHO.2012.08.001
- Wong HC, Zaman R. Neurostimulation in treating ADHD. Psychiatr Danub. (2019) 31:265–75.
- Farokhzadi F, Farokhzadi F, Mohamadi MR, Khosli AK, Akbarfahimi M, Beigi NA, et al. Comparing the effectiveness of the transcranial alternating current stimulation (TACS) and ritalin on symptoms of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder in 7-14-Year-old children. *Acta Med Iran.* (2020) 58:637–48.
- Retz W, Retz-Junginger P, Rösler M. Integrierte Diagnose der ADHS im Erwachsenenalter – Revidierte Version (IDA-R). Iserlohn: MEDICE (2014).
- Margraf J, Cwik JC. Mini-DIPS Open Access: Diagnostisches Kurzinterview Bei Psychischen Störungen. Bochum: Forschungs- und Behandlungszentrum für psychische Gesundheit (2017). doi: 10.13154/rub.102.91
- Rösler M, Retz-Junginger P, Retz W, Stieglitz RD. Homburger ADHS-Skalen für Erwachsene. Untersuchungsverfahren Zur Syndromalen und Kategorialen Diagnostik der Aufmerksamkeitsdefizit-/Hyperaktivitätsstörung (ADHS) im Erwachsenenalter. Göttingen: Hogrefe. (2004).
- Nilges P, Essau C. Die depressions-angst-stress-skalen. Der Schmerz. (2015) 29:649–57. doi: 10.1007/S00482-015-0019-Z
- Harper A, Power M, Orley J, Herrman H, Schofield H, Murphy B, et al. Development of the world health organization WHOQOL-BREF quality of life assessment. The WHOQOL group. *Psychol Med.* (1998) 28:551–8. doi: 10.1017/S0033291798006667
- Oldfield RC. The assessment and analysis of handedness: the Edinburgh inventory. Neuro Psychol. (1971) 9:97–113. doi: 10.1016/0028-3932(71) 90067-4
- Brunoni AR, Amadera J, Berbel B, Volz MS, Rizzerio BG, Fregni F. A systematic review on reporting and assessment of adverse effects associated with transcranial direct current stimula-tion. *Int J Neuropsychopharmacol.* (2011) 14:1133–45. doi: 10.1017/S1461145710001690
- Brickenkamp R. Test d2 Aufmerksamkeits-Belastungs-Test 9., Überarbeitete und Neu Normierte Auflage. Göttingen: Hogrefe (2002).
- Nichols SL, Waschbusch DAA. Review of the validity of laboratory cognitive tasks used to assess symptoms of ADHD. *Child Psychiatry Hum Dev.* (2004) 34:297–315. doi: 10.1023/B:CHUD.000020681.06865.97
- Huang Y, Datta A, Bikson M, Parra LC. ROAST: an open-source, fullyautomated, realis-tic volumetric-approach-based simulator for TES. Annu Int Conf IEEE Eng Med Biol Soc. (2018) 2018:3072–5. doi: 10.1109/EMBC. 2018.8513086
- Geng JJ, Vossel S. Re-evaluating the role of TPJ in attentional control: contextual updating? *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2013) 37:2608–20. doi: 10. 1016/J.NEUBIOREV.2013.08.010
- Kasten FH, Duecker K, Maack MC, Meiser A, Herrmann CS. Integrating electric field model-ing and neuroimaging to explain inter-individual variability of tACS effects. *Nat Commun.* (2019) 10:5427. doi: 10.1038/ S41467-019-13417-6
- Davis NJ, Gold E, Pascual-Leone A, Bracewell RM. Challenges of proper placebo control for non-invasive brain stimulation in clinical and experimental applications. *Eur J Neurosci.* (2013) 38:2973–7. doi: 10.1111/ EJN.12307
- Vosskuhl J, Strüber D, Herrmann CS. Non-invasive brain stimulation: a paradigm shift in understanding brain oscillations. *Front Hum Neurosci.* (2018) 12:211. doi: 10.3389/FNHUM.2018.00211

- Delorme A, Makeig S. EEGLAB: an open-source toolbox for analysis of single-trial EEG dy-namics including independent component analysis. J Neurosci Methods. (2004) 134:9–21. doi: 10.1016/J.JNEUMETH.2003.10.009
- Ben-Shachar MS. TBT: Reject and Interpolate Channels on a Epoch by Epoch Basis (2.6.1). Zenodo (2020). Available online at: https://zenodo.org/record/ 3784278#.YrW3p-xByWA (accessed November 26, 2021).
- Cohen J. Statistical Power Analysis for the Behavioral Sciences. 2nd ed. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates (1988).
- Albrecht B, Brandeis D, Uebel H, Valko L, Heinrich H, Drechsler R, et al. Familiality of neu-ral preparation and response control in childhood attention deficit-hyperactivity disorder. *Psychol Med.* (2013) 43:1997–2011. doi: 10.1017/S003329171200270X
- Fallgatter AJ, Ehlis AC, Seifert J, Strik WK, Scheuerpflug P, Zillessen KE, et al. Altered re-sponse control and anterior cingulate function in attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder boys. *Clin Neurophysiol.* (2004) 115:973–81. doi: 10.1016/J.CLINPH.2003.11.036
- Bergmann TO. Brain state-dependent brain stimulation. Front Psychol. (2018) 9:2108. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.02108
- 107. Thut G, Bergmann TO, Fröhlich F, Soekadar SR, Brittain JS, Valero-Cabré A, et al. Guiding transcranial brain stimulation by EEG/MEG to interact with ongoing brain activity and associ-ated functions: a position paper. *Clin Neurophysiol.* (2017) 128:843–57. doi: 10.1016/J.CLINPH.2017.01.003
- Bergmann TO, Karabanov A, Hartwigsen G, Thielscher A, Siebner HR. Combining non-invasive transcranial brain stimulation with neuroimaging and electrophysiology: current ap-proaches and future perspectives. *Neuroimage*. (2016) 140:4–19. doi: 10.1016/J.NEUROIMAGE.2016.02.012
- Karabanov A, Thielscher A, Siebner HR. Transcranial brain stimulation: closing the loop be-tween brain and stimulation. *Curr Opin Neurol.* (2016) 29:397–404. doi: 10.1097/WCO.0000000000342
- Stecher HI, Notbohm A, Kasten FH, Herrmann CS. A comparison of closed loop vs. fixed frequency tACS on modulating brain oscillations and visual detection. *Front Hum Neurosci.* (2021) 15:272. doi: 10.3389/FNHUM.2021. 661432/BIBTEX
- 111. Stecher HI, Herrmann CS. Absence of alpha-tACS aftereffects in darkness reveals im-portance of taking derivations of stimulation frequency and individual alpha variability in-to account. *Front Psychol.* (2018) 9:984. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.00984
- Neuling T, Rach S, Herrmann CS. Orchestrating neuronal networks: sustained after-effects of transcranial alternating current stimulation depend upon brain states. *Front Hum Neurosci.* (2013) 7:161. doi: 10.3389/fnhum. 2013.00161
- Bresnahan SM, Barry RJ. Specificity of quantitative EEG analysis in adults with attention def-icit hyperactivity disorder. *Psychiatry Res.* (2002) 112:133– 44. doi: 10.1016/S0165-1781(02)00190-7
- Bresnahan SM, Barry RJ, Clarke AR, Johnstone SJ. Quantitative EEG analysis in dexamphet-amine-responsive adults with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. *Psychiatry Res.* (2006) 141:151–9. doi: 10.1016/J.PSYCHRES.2005. 09.002
- 115. Bresnahan SM, Anderson JW, Barry RJ. Age-related changes in quantitative EEG in attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. *Biol Psychiatry*. (1999) 46:1690–7. doi: 10.1016/S0006-3223(99)00042-6
- 116. Kiiski H, Bennett M, Rueda-Delgado LM, Farina FR, Knight R, Boyle R, et al. EEG spectral power, but not theta/beta ratio, is a neuromarker for adult ADHD. *Eur J Neurosci.* (2020) 51:2095–109. doi: 10.1111/ejn.1 4645
- 117. Clarke AR, Barry RJ, Karamacoska D, Johnstone SJ. The EEG theta/beta ratio: a marker of arousal or cognitive processing capacity? *Appl Psychophysiol Biofeedback*. (2019) 44:123–9. doi: 10.1007/s10484-018-09 428-6
- 118. Koehler S, Lauer P, Schreppel T, Jacob C, Heine M, Boreatti-Hümmer A, et al. Increased EEG power density in alpha and theta bands in adult ADHD patients. J Neural Trans. (2008) 116:97–104. doi: 10.1007/S00702-008-0 157-X
- 119. Loo SK, Hale TS, Macion J, Hanada G, McGough JJ, McCracken JT, et al. Cortical activity patterns in ADHD during arousal, activation and sustained attention. *Neuropsychologia*. (2009) 47:2114–9. doi: 10.1016/j. neuropsychologia.2009.04.013

- 120. van Dongen-Boomsma M, Lansbergen MM, Bekker EM, Sandra Kooij JJ, van der Molen M, Kenemans JL, et al. Relation between resting EEG to cognitive performance and clinical symptoms in adults with attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder. *Neurosci Lett.* (2010) 469:102–6. doi: 10.1016/ J.NEULET.2009.11.053
- Markovska-Simoska S, Pop-Jordanova N. Quantitative EEG in children and adults with at-tention deficit hyperactivity disorder. *Clin EEG Neurosci.* (2017) 48:20–32. doi: 10.1177/1550059416643824
- Herrmann CS, Murray MM, Ionta S, Hutt A, Lefebvre J. Shaping intrinsic neural oscillations with periodic stimulation. J Neurosci. (2016) 36:5328–37. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0236-16.2016
- Wischnewski M, Schutter DJLG. After-effects of transcranial alternating current stimulation on evoked delta and theta power. *Clin Neurophysiol.* (2017) 128:2227–32. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2017.08.029
- Bender S, Behringer S, Freitag CM, Resch F, Weisbrod M. Transmodal comparison of audito-ry, motor, and visual post-processing with and without intentional short-term memory mainte-nance. *Clin Neurophysiol.* (2010) 121:2044–64. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2010.05.008
- Althen H, Banaschewski T, Brandeis D, Bender S. Stimulus probability affects the visual N700 component of the event-related potential. *Clin Neurophysiol.* (2020) 131:655–64. doi: 10.1016/J.CLINPH.2019.1.059
- 126. Hecht M, Thiemann U, Freitag CM, Bender S. Time-resolved neuroimaging of visual short term memory consolidation by postperceptual attention shifts. *Neuroimage*. (2016) 125:964–77. doi: 10.1016/J.NEUROIMAGE.2015.11.013
- 127. Bender S, Rellum T, Freitag C, Resch F, Rietschel M, Treutlein J, et al. Time-resolved influ-ences of functional DAT1 and COMT variants on visual perception and post-processing. *PLoS One.* (2012) 7:e41552. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0041552
- Szuromi B, Czobor P, Komlósi S, Bitter I. P300 deficits in adults with attention deficit hyper-activity disorder: a meta-analysis. *Psychol Med.* (2011) 41:1529–38. doi: 10.1017/S0033291710001996

- Kasten FH, Herrmann CS. Recovering brain dynamics during concurrent tACS-M/EEG: an overview of analysis approaches and their methodological and interpretational pitfalls. *Brain Topogr.* (2019) 32:1013–9. doi: 10.1007/ S10548-019-00727-7
- Noury N, Hipp JF, Siegel M. Physiological processes non-linearly affect electrophysiological recordings during transcranial electric stimulation. *Neuroimage*. (2016) 140:99–109. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2016.03.065
- Noury N, Siegel M. Analyzing EEG and MEG signals recorded during tES, a reply. *Neuroimage*. (2018) 167:53–61. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2017.1 1.023
- Noury N, Siegel M. Phase properties of transcranial electrical stimulation artifacts in electro-physiological recordings. *Neuroimage*. (2017) 158:406–16. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2017.07.010

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Kannen, Aslan, Boetzel, Herrmann, Lux, Rosen, Selaskowski, Wiebe, Philipsen and Braun. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms. 3.3 Publication 3: Alpha Modulation via Transcranial Alternating Current Stimulation in Adults with Attention-Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Lara Guedes De Pinho, University of Evora, Portugal

REVIEWED BY Golnaz Baghdadi, Amirkabir University of Technology, Iran Paloma González-Castro, University of Oviedo, Spain

*CORRESPONDENCE Niclas Braun ⊠ Niclas.Braun@ukbonn.de

RECEIVED 20 August 2023 ACCEPTED 23 November 2023 PUBLISHED 12 January 2024

CITATION

Kannen K, Rasbach J, Fantazi A, Wiebe A, Selaskowski B, Asché L, Aslan B, Lux S, Herrmann CS, Philipsen A and Braun N (2024) Alpha modulation via transcranial alternating current stimulation in adults with attentiondeficit hyperactivity disorder. *Front. Psychol.* 14:1280397. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2023.1280397

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Kannen, Rasbach, Fantazi, Wiebe, Selaskowski, Asché, Aslan, Lux, Herrmann, Philipsen and Braun. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Alpha modulation via transcranial alternating current stimulation in adults with attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder

60

Kyra Kannen¹, Johanna Rasbach¹, Amin Fantazi¹, Annika Wiebe¹, Benjamin Selaskowski¹, Laura Asché¹, Behrem Aslan¹, Silke Lux¹, Christoph S. Herrmann², Alexandra Philipsen¹ and Niclas Braun^{1*}

¹Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, University Hospital Bonn, Bonn, Germany, ²Experimental Psychology Lab, Department of Psychology, University of Oldenburg, Oldenburg, Germany

Background: One potential therapy treating attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) is to modulate dysfunctional brain activations using brain stimulation techniques. While the number of studies investigating the effect of transcranial direct current stimulation on ADHD symptoms continues to increase, transcranial alternating current stimulation (tACS) is poorly examined. Previous studies reported impaired alpha brain oscillation (8–12 Hz) that may be associated with increased attention deficits in ADHD. Our aim was to enhance alpha power in adult ADHD patients via tACS, using different methods to explore potential therapeutic effects.

Methods: Undergoing a crossover design, adults with ADHD received active and sham stimulation on distinct days. Before and after each intervention, mean alpha power, attention performance, subjective symptom ratings, as well as head and gaze movement were examined.

Results: Frequency analyses revealed a significant power increase in the alpha band after both interventions. Despite a trend toward an interaction effect, this alpha power increase was, however, not significantly higher after active stimulation compared to sham stimulation. For the other measures, some additional pre-post effects were found, which were not intervention-related.

Conclusion: Our study cannot provide clear evidence for a tACS-induced increase in alpha power in adult ADHD patients, and thus no stimulation related improvement of attention parameters. We provide further recommendations for the future investigation of tACS as a potential ADHD treatment.

KEYWORDS

attention, ADHD, alpha, virtual reality, brain stimulation, tACS

1 Introduction

To alleviate their inattention, hyperactivity and impulsivity, adults with attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) often receive long-lasting psychopharmacological treatment. While this form of treatment is still yielding the greatest success for adult ADHD, it can be accompanied by undesirable side effects, such as weight loss and sleep disturbances (Graham et al., 2011; Wynchank et al., 2017; Kis et al., 2020). In addition, psychostimulants appear to be less effective in adult ADHD patients than in children and adolescents with ADHD (Wilens et al., 2011; Cortese et al., 2018). Although ADHD medication has shown high short-term efficacy in many studies (Mészáros et al., 2009; Cunill et al., 2016), their longer-term efficacy awaits further investigation (Cortese et al., 2018; Swanson, 2019) given that several patients seem to develop tolerance to psychostimulants (Handelman and Sumiya, 2022).

In view of these drawbacks of psychopharmacological ADHD treatment, in the last decade various potential alternatives to non-pharmacological treatment have been investigated that enable ADHD treatment without or with fewer side effects. Besides psychotherapeutic approaches, for instance, physical activity training (Barudin-Carreiro et al., 2022; Montalva-Valenzuela et al., 2022; Seiffer et al., 2022), herbal treatments (Sarris et al., 2011), and digital health interventions (Lakes et al., 2022), including virtual reality (VR) interventions (for review, see Bashiri et al., 2017; Romero-Ayuso et al., 2021) and app-based psychoeducation (Selaskowski et al., 2022, 2023b) have been investigated. The probably most famous and controversially discussed alternative ADHD treatment approach, however, is still neurofeedback. This therapy intervention aims to improve the self-regulation of brain activity and has been under investigation for almost 50 years (Arns et al., 2014). While some researchers conclude positive effects of neurofeedback on ADHD symptoms (see, e.g., systematic review by Moreno-García et al., 2022) others have been more sceptical (for a systematic review and metaanalysis, see Louthrenoo et al., 2022; Rahmani et al., 2022). Therefore, its efficacy remains unclear. Accordingly, there is still a substantial need for developing more effective ADHD treatment approaches with less side effects.

Another treatment approach, though still in its infancy, is the idea of using brain stimulation techniques in place of, or as an adjunct to, traditional treatments. So far, the most established non-invasive brain stimulation techniques are transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) and transcranial electrical stimulation (TES). While TMS is delivered by a pulsing electromagnetic coil that is held next to the skull, in TES, multiple electrodes are placed onto the scalp to apply an electrical current to decrease or increase neural activity (Vosskuhl et al., 2018). Prominent TES subtypes are transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) and transcranial alternating current stimulation (tACS). While under tDCS a constant current is applied, under tACS the current alternates at a specified frequency (Herrmann et al., 2013). Accordingly, the respective mechanism of action on brain activity is different: Whereas tDCS seeks to increase or decrease the general neuronal excitability in a stimulated brain area of interest depending on the type of stimulation used, tACS seeks to amplify a specific brain oscillation by stimulating the brain with the dominant frequency of the oscillation of interest. Notably, both methods are thereby considered safe and with few side effects (Vosskuhl et al., 2018; Westwood et al., 2021).

Although various studies have already investigated TMS and tDCS as possible treatment approaches for ADHD (for systematic reviews, see Salehinejad et al., 2020; Westwood et al., 2021; Chen et al., 2023), only few clinical investigations addressed the efficacy and tolerability of tACS for ADHD treatment. In fact, to our

knowledge, only three studies have so far explored tACS as treatment for adult ADHD (Dallmer-Zerbe et al., 2020; Farokhzadi et al., 2020; Kannen et al., 2022). While one of the studies compared tACS to methylphenidate (Farokhzadi et al., 2020) and reported tACS as an effective treatment, the other two studies investigated tACS as an alternative treatment for ADHD by trying to increase the P300 amplitude (Dallmer-Zerbe et al., 2020; Kannen et al., 2022), which is considered to be diminished in ADHD patients (Hasler et al., 2016; Marquardt et al., 2018; Kaiser et al., 2020). Dallmer-Zerbe et al. (2020) observed an increase in the P300 amplitude accompanied by a decrease in omission errors among adult ADHD patients, whereas Kannen et al. (2022) did not confirm these results. Therefore, the extent to which tACS might be beneficial in treating ADHD remains unclear.

Besides the diminished P300, another possible neuronal target for the application of tACS could be the brain's alpha rhythm (8-12 Hz), which is known to be modulated during attention and considered as a potential biomarker for ADHD (Kiiski et al., 2020). In healthy individuals, alpha oscillations are dominant in posterior brain regions during relaxed wakefulness, and progressively relocate towards central and frontal cortical regions with increasing drowsiness (see, e.g., Goldman et al., 2002). The hypothesis thereby is that alpha oscillations enable basal cognitive functions and attentional processes (Klimesch, 2012). Moreover, of particular interest in the present context, alpha oscillations are reported to be reduced in ADHD patients in both power and frequency (Loo et al., 2009; Woltering et al., 2012; Poil et al., 2014; Liu et al., 2016; Deiber et al., 2020), although this finding could not be corroborated in other studies (for discussion, see Adamou et al., 2020). In addition, in line with this assumed alpha alleviation, some studies showed that increasing alpha power using neurofeedback resulted in clinical improvement of ADHD symptoms as well as in an increase of attentional performance (Bazanova et al., 2018; Deiber et al., 2020). Considering these findings, the question arises whether a tACS-induced increase of the participant's individual alpha activity might improve the attentional performance of ADHD patients.

To prove a tACS-induced improvement of impairments in attentional functions, however, the difficulty arises that such ADHD symptoms often cannot be reliably detected with standard neuropsychological tests. One potential factor for this limited diagnostic utility might be the low ecological validity, which might fail to mimic everyday life challenges of ADHD patients (Wasserman and Wasserman, 2012; Varao-Sousa et al., 2018). A possible solution for creating more reality-close test situations might be offered by VR technology. By creating three-dimensional, immersive, and interactive virtual environments which allow to mimic everyday life demands, ecological validity can be increased while maintaining a high level of standardization (Parsons, 2015).

The aim of the present study was to increase the individual alpha power in patients with adult ADHD and to investigate possible behavioral and neurophysiological changes resulting therefrom. To this end, a crossover trial was carried out, in which all patients underwent both an individual tACS-based alpha stimulation (active stimulation) and a placebo stimulation (sham stimulation). To simulate an everyday situation, a developed virtual seminar room (VSR) was used that allowed for a multimodal and standardized, but symptom-valid measurement of inattention, hyperactivity and impulsivity (Wiebe et al., 2022, 2023; Selaskowski et al., 2023a).

2 Materials and methods

2.1 Participants

Twenty-seven ADHD patients volunteered in this study, out of which 24 (7 female; $M_{age} = 32.25$, $SD_{age} = 10.46$, aged between 19 and 53) completed the experiment. The recruitment of the sample was conducted via the specialized outpatient clinic for adult ADHD of the Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy at the University Hospital Bonn. Participants were either personally invited to the study during medical consultations or via a study applicant pool in which they had registered before. The study was approved by the medical ethics committee of the University of Bonn (protocol number: 195/20), conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki, and pre-registered at the German Clinical Trials Register (https://www.drks.de/, Trial-ID: DRKS00022927). Written informed consent was obtained from all participants and they all received a monetary compensation of 25 € for their participation.

2.2 Study design and general procedure

The trial was carried out as a crossover study with two interventions on three measurement days: "active stimulation" (the true tACS intervention) and "sham stimulation" (the placebo intervention). On Day 1, a comprehensive clinical examination was performed during which the ADHD diagnosis was validated, and comorbidities were evaluated. On Days 2 and 3, the stimulation experiment took place, with one of the two interventions being applied on each measurement day. The order of interventions (sham stimulation or active stimulation) was counterbalanced.

2.3 Eligibility assessment and clinical characterization

For confirmation of the ADHD diagnoses and further characterization of the individual ADHD symptom profiles, all participants were administered the structured clinical "Interview of Integrated Diagnosis of ADHD in Adulthood" (IDA-R; Retz et al., 2014). In addition, to check for exclusion criteria and to assess potential comorbidities, the German version of the "Diagnostic Short Interview for Mental Disorders" (Mini-Dips-OA; Margraf et al., 2017) was carried out. Both clinical interviews were conducted via video call using the online-platform RED medical.¹ Moreover, participants completed a battery of online-surveys, including, for instance, a demographic questionnaire, a questionnaire concerning quality of life (WHO-QOL; Harper et al., 1998) and the ADHD Self-Report-Scale (ADHS-SB; Rösler et al., 2004).

To be eligible for the study, participants needed to be right-handed (according to the Edinburgh Handedness Inventory; Oldfield, 1971), to be between 18 and 60 years old, and to have corrected-to-normal or normal vision. In addition, any of the following exclusion criteria had to be absent: current severe major depression or current substance dependence, psychosis, presence of a serious neurological disorder (especially epilepsy), presence of a dermatological disorder of the head, pregnancy, or no command of the German language. Intake of ADHD medication (reported by 12 participants of the final cohort) was discontinued 24h prior to each of the laboratory sessions. Participants were instructed to abstain from caffeine and alcohol for at least 24h before each laboratory session.

2.4 Experimental procedure

The experiment took place in the VR laboratory of the Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy at the University Hospital in Bonn and was scheduled at two separate appointments. On one appointment the active stimulation was applied, while on the other appointment only a sham stimulation was applied. Each appointment started with the preparation of tACS- and EEG-electrodes. Afterwards, participants took their seat in front of a 1×1 m table within a 3.70 m x 2.65 m VR play area. The active experiment started by measuring 2 min of resting state baseline EEG, followed by the determination of the individual alpha frequency (IAF). Once the IAF was determined, participants became equipped with the head mounted display HTC Vive Pro Eye (HTC Corporation, Taoyuan City, Taiwan) and entered the VSR. Immersed into the VSR, participants were familiarized with this new virtual environment as well as with the continuous performance task (CPT) that next would take place within the VSR (cf. section 2.5). In total, three CPT blocks were presented, whereby each CPT block lasted 18 min and was suspended by a two-minute resting state EEG measurement and a one-minute-long break. Moreover, after each block, the participants' subjective ADHD symptoms (one question regarding inattention, impulsivity, hyperactivity, respectively, answered on a 7-point Likert-scale) was prompted by a gesturecontrolled user interface inside VR (for further details, see Wiebe et al., 2022). Finally, after the last CPT block ended, participants completed the Virtual Reality Sickness Questionnaire (VSRQ; Kim et al., 2018) and a questionnaire about tACS side effects (Brunoni et al., 2011). Also, to investigate if participants were blinded to the experimental condition, they were asked whether they thought they received the active stimulation or sham stimulation.

2.5 Virtual seminar room and continuous performance task

The VSR and the implemented CPT are depicted in Figure 1 and have been described in detail previously (Wiebe et al., 2022). In brief, based on existing assets (i.a. the "School Classroom" from 3D everything available in the Unity Asset Store), the VSR was developed under Unity 3D version 2019.1.10f1 (Unity technologies, San Francisco, CA, United Staes) and contained the typical furniture found in a seminar room, including chairs and tables as well as a canvas at the front of the VSR. Moreover, the VSR comprised virtual classmates that performed unobtrusive idle movements during

¹ https://www.redmedical.de



FIGURE 1

The virtual seminar room (VSR). (A) Real-world third-person perspective and (B) virtual-environment first person perspective. Adults with ADHD were immersed into the VSR, in which the continuous performance task (CPT) was presented at the canvas. (A) is an exemplary depiction and thus without attached tACS. For programming the virtual seminar room we only used non-restricted assets. "School Classroom" (Reprinted from 3D Everything via Unity Asset Store, licensed under Standard Unity Asset Store EULA).

non-distractor phases (NDP) and more complex actions during distractor phases (DP; details below). The virtual table where the participants found themselves seated, was thereby located in the back of the VSR, so that participants had a good overview of the entire VSR.

The CPT itself was presented on the canvas and consisted of a pseudorandomly-presented series of letters ranging from "A" to "Z", each presented with a 1.1 s inter-stimulus-interval and 100 ms duration. The task was to press the space bar as soon as the letter "A" was followed by the letter "K", while in all other cases, a response had to be withhold (Negut et al., 2017; Mühlberger et al., 2020). After a practice run of 20 trials, the actual CPT began, which was split into three consecutive blocks: A pre-intervention block that occurred before active or sham stimulation was applied; a during-intervention block in which the active or sham stimulation was applied; and a post-intervention block that occurred after the active or sham stimulation.

Each of the CPT-blocks thereby lasted approximately 18 min and included 450 letter pairs, partitioned into 135 target sequences (~30%) and 315 non-target sequences (~70%). To elevate task difficulty, non-target sequences included 158 pseudo target sequences ("K" not preceded by "A"). Furthermore, each CPT block consisted of three DP and three NDP, each lasting three min. While during NDP no distractors were played, during DP, 54 different distracting events were played in total, of which 18 were exclusively visual (e.g., a paper airplane), another 18 solely auditory (e.g., a bell noise) and the remaining 18 audiovisual (e.g., passing fire trucks). Across participants, the order of distractors was thereby randomized, and the order of phases counterbalanced.

For analyzing CPT-performances, three main parameters of interest were defined: Omission error rate (i.e., the percentage of missed responses to target stimuli), commission error rate (i.e., the percentage of invalid responses to non-target stimuli) and reaction time variability (RTV, i.e., the standard deviation of reaction times towards correct hit trials divided by the mean reaction time). While omission error rates are regarded to reflect inattention, commission error rates are considered to reflect impulsive behavior (Nichols and Waschbusch, 2004), and RTV is considered a measure of vigilance (Llevy et al., 2018).

2.6 Electrical brain stimulation and electrode montage

The tACS was delivered by a battery-operated stimulator system (DC Stimulator Plus, Neuroconn, Illmenau, Germany). With the help of an electrically conductive paste (ten20 conductive paste, Weaver and Co., Aurora, CO, United States), two rubber electrodes were attached to the participants' scalp. Since former studies reported significant differences in the alpha band power of posterior brain regions between ADHD patients and healthy controls (see scalp plots, e.g., Woltering et al., 2012; Deiber et al., 2020), one electrode was placed above Cz $(5 \times 7 \text{ cm})$ and another above Oz $(4 \times 4 \text{ cm})$. Modeling studies have shown that this montage achieves the highest current densities in posterior brain regions (Neuling et al., 2012) and elicits aftereffects in alpha band power (Neuling et al., 2013; Kasten et al., 2016). Impedances were kept below 15 k Ω (*M*=4.55, *SD*=2.92). Participants were stimulated at their IAF $(9.63 \text{ Hz} \pm 0.69 \text{ Hz} \text{ active})$ stimulation, 9.67 Hz \pm 0.98 Hz sham stimulation) with an intensity of 1.5 mA. Baseline resting-EEG measurements (2 min, eyes open) for determining the IAF were performed before the actual experiment and outside VR (for analysis steps cf. section 2.4.1). After the first CPT block, participants received either 18 min of tACS (active stimulation) or 10s of tACS (sham stimulation) with 10s fade-in and fade-out (30s in total to evoke a light tingling sensation in both conditions, implemented for blinding purposes). This sham stimulation procedure

is one of the commonly used placebo stimulation techniques (Davis et al., 2013).

2.7 EEG recording and analysis

To acquire electroencephalography (EEG) data, we used a wireless EEG system (Smarting[®], mBrainTrain[®], Belgrade, Serbia) with 22 Ag/ AgCl sintered ring electrodes (Fp1, Fp2, AFz, F3, Fz, F4, T7, C3, Cz, C4, T8, CPz, P7, P3, Pz, P4, P8, POz, O1, O2, M1, M2) of the international 10/20 system that were mounted to an elastic EEG cap (Easycap, Herrsching, Germany). While electrode FPz served as ground, FCz served as reference electrode. The amplifier was connected via Bluetooth with the recording computer. Data was sampled at 500 Hz frequency via Lab Streaming Layer (LSL)² and all impedances were kept below 15 k Ω . EEG data were processed with Matlab 2021b (MathWorks Inc., Natick, MA, United States), using EEGLAB 2021.0 (Delorme and Makeig, 2004) and in-house scripts.

2.7.1 On-site analysis of IAF

For the evaluation of the individual stimulation frequency, resting EEG at channel Pz was filtered between 0.1 and 40 Hz and epoched into 2s long segments. Afterwards, non-stereotyped artifacts were removed using built-in EEGLAB functions (joint probability test, ±1.7-SD single-channel and global-channel thresholds) before an independent-component-analysis (ICA) ("fastica" version) was conducted. After visual inspection of the generated ICA components, artifacts like vertical and horizontal eye movements were identified and removed in the continuous EEG data set. Clean continuous EEG data from channel Pz was epoched into 2s long segments and the frequency power spectrum was extracted by Matlab's pspectrum() function between 0 and 40 Hz. The resulting frequency resolution was 0.05 Hz, while the resulting time resolution amounted to 0.25 s. Next, the power spectra were logarithmized and averaged across trials. Finally, the maximum alpha frequency between 7 and 13 Hz was used for the calculation of stimulation parameters.

2.7.2 Stereotyped artifact removal for offline wavelet analysis

Before wavelet analyses were performed, the EEG datasets were cleaned from stereotypic artifacts by the following steps: First, the EEG data was resampled to 250 Hz, filtered between 1 and 40 Hz, and detrended. Second, due to tACS artifacts during stimulation, the second CPT block was removed. Third, noisy EEG channels were detected (6 datasets, M=1.67, SD=0.82) and replaced via spherical interpolation. Fourth, for computing an independent component analysis (ICA), the continuous EEG data was segmented into 2 s time windows and non-stereotypic artifacts were removed using built-in EEGLAB functions (joint probability test, \pm 2-SD single-channel and global-channel thresholds). Fifth, the ICA ("extended" version) was computed on the epoched data and components reflecting horizontal or vertical eye movements, heartbeat, muscle activity, or electrode artifacts were visually identified, backprojected to the continuous EEG data, and then rejected. All components that included a 10 Hz peak were retained.

2.7.3 Offline wavelet analysis of alpha activity during CPT blocks

One wavelet analysis focused on potential differences in alpha activity between blocks (pre-intervention vs. post-intervention block) and interventions (active stimulation vs. sham stimulation) during CPT performance. To this end, the ICA-corrected continuous EEG datasets were split into four segmented subsets, such that each subset represented one of the four compared conditions and entailed as many non-overlapping 2s EEG segments as available within the CPT block of the respecting condition. Next, the following identical pre-processing and analysis steps were performed on each subset: First, the same non-stereotypic artifact removal was conducted that had already been conducted for the ICA calculation. Second, additional non-stereotypic artifact removal was conducted with the help of an eeglab plugin (Ben-Shachar, 2020), in that within each epoch, channels that exceeded 150 µV were marked for rejection. If the channels being marked for rejection were noisy in more than 15% of all epochs, the channels were excluded. In addition, epochs with more than 10 identified bad channels were rejected, while epochs with less than 10 bad channels were included, whereby bad-channel data was replaced by spherical interpolation. Third, a continuous wavelet transformation (CWT) was calculated on each retained epoch of the respective dataset (intervention) for channels Pz, POz, CPz, P3, P4. The frequency range obtained thereby reached from 0.27 Hz to 30.00 Hz in 69 steps on a log scale and the time resolution amounted to 0.004 s. After that, the derived power spectra were logarithmized and a mean power spectrum was derived by averaging across all derived power spectra. Finally, for statistical analyses, the mean alpha power (7-13Hz) across all five channels for both blocks (pre intervention/post intervention) and both interventions (active stimulation/sham stimulation) was derived by taking the average power across all frequency bins falling into the respecting frequency range and time range between 0.2 and 1.8 s. To check for outliers, the pre-to-post-difference for alpha power was calculated and it was examined whether any datasets differed ±2 standard deviations from the mean alpha power change.

2.7.4 Offline wavelet analysis of alpha activity during resting states

Another wavelet analysis focused on potential differences in alpha activity between blocks and interventions during the 2 min resting state phases. Here, the preprocessing steps were identical to the just described wavelet analysis on the CPT blocks, with the only exception that the segmentation into the four individual subsets was not based on the CPT blocks themselves, but on the 2 min resting state phases. The obtained frequency range and time range was the same as reported above (*cf.* section 2.4.3).

2.7.5 Eye tracking recording and analyses

Eye tracking analyses focused on differences in gaze behavior between blocks (pre-intervention vs. post-intervention) and interventions (active stimulation vs. sham stimulation). To acquire eye tracking data, eye movements were recorded with a sampling rate of ~50 Hz and an accuracy of approximately 0.5° -1.1° via the infrared-based Tobii eye tracker built into the head-mounted display

² https://github.com/sccn/labstreaminglayer

(HMD). While the software developmental kit (SDK) SRanipal version 1.3.1.1 (HTC Corporation, Taoyuan, Taiwan) procured access to the eye tracking raw data within Unity, the Tobii XR SDK version 1.16.36.0 (Tobii Technology, Stockholm, Sweden) allowed to track the participant's momentary gaze on specified virtual objects within the VSR. Specifically, it was tracked when and for how long the participants looked at the canvas as well as on 3D objects that were implemented as distracting events (during DP). Offline analyses were run in Matlab 2021b (MathWorks Inc., Natick, MA, United States). To statistically compare gaze locations for each block and intervention, three parameters were extracted (Selaskowski et al., 2023a): Time looking at canvas (as a measure of task focus), time looking at distractors (as a measure of focus on specific distractors) and time of gaze wandering (i.e., that time amount the participants neither looked at a distractor nor at the canvas). Moreover, based on these three derived parameters, a composite distractibility score was calculated by dividing the sum of the time of looking at distractors (in %) and time of gaze-wandering (in %) by the time of looking at canvas (in %), with higher values indicating a higher level of distraction.

2.7.6 Actigraphy recording and analyses

Actigraphy analyses focused on differences in head position shifts and head rotations between blocks (pre-intervention vs. postintervention) and interventions (sham stimulation vs. active stimulation). The two actigraphy parameters were inferred from the built-in positional tracking of the Vive system by means of which the HMDs momentary positions and rotations during the experiment were each recorded with a~90 Hz sampling rate in three-dimensional Euclidean space coordinates. For offline analyses, actigraphy data was first down-sampled to 10 Hz. Next, the Euclidean distance between each sample point (three-dimensional position or rotation vector) and its preceding sample point was specifically calculated for the HMD position and HMD rotation data. Finally, to statistically compare the amount of head position shifts and rotations between conditions, the mean Euclidean distance in respect to head position shifts and head rotations was derived for each block and intervention.

2.8 Data exclusion

Twelve participants had to be excluded from the overall analyses: three because they refrained from the study after the diagnostic appointment or first measurement date; four because of technical difficulties (on at least one experimental day, EEG measurements were aborted or key presses were not recorded), four because the CPT in these subjects accidentally had a different number of pseudo-targets, and one because there were large outliers in CPT performance. Hence, 15 participants (4 female, M_{age} =32.53, SD=11.07) remained for analyses. Two datasets did not contain eye tracking data, hence only 13 datasets remained for these analyses. Considering a power analysis for a within-between interaction, a sample size of n = 16 would be required to establish reliable results with an effect size of $\eta^2 = 0.14$ and a power of 0.80. The effect sizes of our study exceeded these with $\eta^2 = 0.23$ for the EEG alpha power interaction effect, thereby determining the post-hoc power to 97.5% for this model (see section 3.4). Therefore, the obtained sample should be sufficient to detect potential tACS effects.

2.9 Statistical analyses

For statistical analyses with Matlab 2021b (MathWorks Inc., Natick, MA, United States), the following outcome variables were included: omission error rate, commission error rate, and RTV for the CPT analysis; hyperactivity, inattention, and impulsivity ratings for the subjective ADHD symptom evaluation; mean alpha power for the wavelet analysis; composite distractibility score, gaze time on canvas, gaze time on distractors and gaze-wandering time for eye tracking analysis; and head movement and rotation for actigraphy analyses. For each main dependent variable, a two-way repeated measures ANOVA with the two within-factors "Block" (pre-intervention vs. postintervention) and "Intervention" (active stimulation vs. sham stimulation) was conducted, with an α -level of 0.05. In case of a significant interaction, we followed up this interaction via post-hoc *t*-tests (sham pre vs. sham post; active pre vs. active post; sham pre vs. active pre; sham post vs. active post). In order to correct for multiple comparison by Bonferroni correction, only those p < 0.0125 (α -level of 0.05/4 post-hoc tests) were considered as statistically significant.

3 Results

3.1 Sample characteristics

Results of the eligibility assessment and clinical characterization are reported in Table 1. Out of the 15 participants analyzed (4 female, M_{age} = 32.53, SD = 11.07), 14 participants (93.3%) were found to have a combined ADHD presentation and one participant (6.7%) had a predominantly inattentive presentation. None of our participants were assigned to the impulsive-hyperactive subtype. An ADHD diagnosis had been evident since childhood in 12 participants (80%). Six patients received ADHD-medication. Moreover, five patients took selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors or selective serotonin-noradrenalinreuptake-inhibitors for the treatment of depression or anxiety. Most participants had a higher education entrance qualification (73.3%). The most common current comorbidities found were anxiety disorders (53.3%) and affective disorders (46.7%). According to the depressionanxiety-scales (DASS-21; Nilges and Essau, 2015), participants revealed, on average, only low scores for symptoms of depression (M=12.73; SD=2.91), anxiety (M=12.13; SD=3.11) and stress (M = 15.00; SD = 3.70).

Most frequently reported tACS side effects, according to the questionnaire about tACS side effects (Brunoni et al., 2011), were fatigue (n = 12 per condition, 80%), whereby only two participants (13.4%) in the active stimulation condition associated fatigue symptoms with tACS, but rather linking it to the experiment duration. In addition, difficulties in concentration and headaches were reported (for detailed results, see Supplementary material 2). This implies that during the experiment, participants experienced some discomfort, but no one aborted the experiment and no serious adverse events occurred. Checking for blinding, analyses revealed that for active stimulation 9 participants (60%) detected the condition correctly.

3.2 Behavioral performance

Results of the CPT analyses are shown in Figure 2. Regarding omission error rate (Figure 2A), the ANOVA revealed neither a

Total sample (<i>n</i>)	15
Female [<i>n</i> (%)]	4 (26.67)
Age [M (SD)]	32.53 (11.07)

TABLE 1 Demographic and clinical characteristics of the sample.

Interview data		
IDA-R		Maximum scores
ADHD presentations [n (%)]		
Combined type	14 (93.33)	
Predominantly hyperactive-impulsive type	0	
Predominantly inattentive type	1 (6.67)	
ADHD scores [M (SD)]		
Total	35.60 (6.20)	54
Inattention	19.80 (3.41)	27
Hyperactivity	9.13 (2.88)	15
Impulsivity	6.67 (3.09)	12

Mini-DIPS*		
	Current diagnosis (n)	Previous diagnosis (n)
Affective disorder	6	2
Anxiety disorder	5	0
Somatoform disorder	1	0
Sleep disorder	2	1

Questionnaire data: ADHS-SB M(SD)Maximum scores Total 45.67 (9.54) 54 24.67 (4.59) 27 Inattention Hyperactivity 11.87 (3.42) 15 Impulsivity 9.13 (2.90) 12 WHOQOL Maximum scores 61.08 (13.44) 100 Total Physical health 59.66 (18.12) 100 Psychological health 49.72 (19.70) 100 Social relationships 62.22 (16.33) 100 72.71 (14.87) Environment 100 DASS-21 Maximum scores Total 13.29 (2.26) 21 Depression 12.73 (2.91) 21 12.13 (3.11) Anxiety 21 Stress 15.00 (3.70) 21

Results of the eligibility assessment and clinical characterization of the sample. *Only comorbidities with >0 occurrences are reported. Maximum scores for IDA-R and ADHD-SB depict sum scores, while for WHQOL and DASS mean scores.

significant main effect of "Block" (*F* (1, 14) = 0.96, p = 0.347, $\eta_p^2 = 0.06$), nor a main effect of "Intervention" (*F* (1, 14) = 1.48, p = 0.244, $\eta_p^2 = 0.10$) and no interaction effect (*F* (1, 14) = 0.22, p = 0.647, $\eta_{\rm p}^2 = 0.02$). Also, for commission error rate (Figure 2B), the ANOVA revealed neither a significant effect of "Block" (*F* (1, 14)=3.27, p=0.092, $\eta_{\rm p}^2 = 0.19$), nor a significant effect of "Intervention" (*F* (1, 14)=0.36, p=0.557, $\eta_{\rm p}^2 = 0.03$), and no interaction effect (*F* (1, 14)=0.04, p=0.848, $\eta_{\rm p}^2 = 0.00$) was found. And finally, the ANOVA for reaction time variability (Figure 2C) yielded neither a significant main effect of "Block" (*F* (1, 14)=0.33, p=0.577, $\eta_{\rm p}^2 = 0.02$) or "Intervention" (*F* (1, 14)=0.14, p=0.712, $\eta_{\rm p}^2 = 0.01$), nor an interaction effect (*F* (1, 14)=1.12, p=0.307, $\eta_{\rm p}^2 = 0.07$).

3.3 Subjective ADHD symptom evaluation

Results of the subjective evaluations are shown in Figure 3. For reported hyperactivity (Figure 3A), the ANOVA revealed a significant effect of "Block" (*F* (1, 14)=5.38, *p*=0.036, η_p^2 =0.28), but no significant effect of "Intervention" (*F* (1, 14)=2.34, *p*=0.148, η_p^2 =0.14) and no interaction effect (*F* (1, 14)=2.13, *p*=0.167, η_p^2 =0.13). The significant "Block" effect consisted of higher hyperactivity scores during the pre-intervention (*M*=1.19; *SD*=0.45) than post-intervention (*M*=1.03; *SD*=0.45) block.

For reported inattention (Figure 3B), in turn, the ANOVA revealed neither a significant effect of "Block" (F (1, 14)=0.03, p=0.862, $\eta_p^2=0.00$) nor an effect of "Intervention" (F (1, 14)=0.01, p=0.939, $\eta_p^2=0.00$), and no interaction effect (F (1, 14)=3.81, p=0.071, $\eta_p^2=0.21$). Finally, regarding reported impulsivity (Figure 3C), the ANOVA revealed no significant main effect of "Block" (F (1, 14)=0.44, p=0.648, $\eta_p^2=0.03$), or "Intervention" (F (1, 14)=1.91, p=0.188, $\eta_p^2=0.12$), but a significant interaction effect (F (1, 14)=3.40, p=0.048, $\eta_p^2=0.20$). Following up this interaction effect, Bonferroni corrected paired *t*-tests neither revealed a significant difference between pre- to post- intervention for active stimulation (t (14)=0.33, p=0.746) nor sham stimulation (t (14)=-1.99, p=0.067). All other follow-up *t*-test were non-significant.

3.4 Wavelet analysis

Before starting the actual experiment, the mean alpha frequency outside VR amounted to M = 9.63 (SD = 0.69) in the stimulation group and M=9.67 (SD=0.98) in the sham group. Results of the wavelet analysis during CPT are shown in Figure 4, while the individual mean alpha power during CPT before and after both interventions are depicted in Figure 5. The ANOVA on the mean alpha power revealed no significant main effect for "Intervention" (F(1, 14) = 0.97, p = 0.342, $\eta_{\rm p}^2 = 0.06$), but a significant main effect of "Block" (*F* (1, 14) = 23.11, p < 0.001, $\eta_p^2 = 0.62$), and a trend for an interaction effect $(F(1, 14) = 4.19, p = 0.060, \eta_p^2 = 0.23)$. The block effect resulted from higher amplitude values during the post-intervention block (M = 3.61, SD=1.25) compared to the pre-intervention block (M=3.13, SD=0.10). Following up the trend for an interaction exploratively, we see a significant increase from pre- to post-measurements during sham stimulation (t(14) = -3.14, p = 0.007) and active stimulation (t(14) = -5.64, p = < 0.001), even after Bonferroni correction. All other follow-up *t*-test were non-significant.

Results of the wavelet analyses during the two-minutes resting phases, are, in turn, depicted in the Supplementary material 1. Here, the ANOVA revealed a significant main effect of "Block" (*F* (1, 14)=9.87, p=0.007, $\eta_p^2=0.41$), but no significant effect for



FIGURE 2

Results of the CPT. Values depict means for the (A) omission error rate, (B) commission error rate and (C) reaction time variability before (pre) and after (post) sham stimulation (blue bars) and active stimulation (red bars). Error bars represent the standard error of the mean.



"Intervention" (*F*(1, 14) = 3.60, p = 0.079, $\eta_p^2 = 0.20$), and only a trend for an interaction effect (*F*(1, 14) = 4.09, p = 0.063, $\eta_p^2 = 0.23$). Following up on the trend for an interaction exploratively, after applying the Bonferroni correction, none of the paired *t*-tests yielded statistically significant differences in any of the tests conducted.

3.5 Eye tracking

Results of the eye tracking analyses are depicted in Figure 6. The ANOVA for gaze time on canvas revealed no significant main effect of "Block" (F(1, 12) = 2.23, p = 0.161, $\eta_p^2 = 0.16$), or "Intervention" (F(1, 12) = 0.01, p = 0.914, $\eta_p^2 = 0.00$), and no significant interaction (F(1, 12) = 0.01, p = 0.942, $\eta_p^2 = 0.00$). For the gaze time looking on distractors, in turn, there was a trend for "Block" (F(1, 12) = 4.47, p = 0.056, $\eta_p^2 = 0.27$), but no effect for "Intervention" (F(1, 12) = 0.32, p = 0.580, $\eta_p^2 = 0.03$) or the interaction (F(1, 12) = 3.21, p = 0.098, $\eta_p^2 = 0.21$). The trend effect indicated potentially higher gaze time on distractors during the post-intervention block (M = 4.75, SD = 3.71) compared to the pre-intervention block (M = 3.60, SD = 2.61). The ANOVA for gaze wandering revealed no significant main effect of "Block" (F(1, 12) = 0.77, p = 0.396, $\eta_p^2 = 0.06$), or "Intervention" (F(1, 12) = 0.77, p = 0.396, $\eta_p^2 = 0.06$), or "Intervention" (F(1, 12) = 0.77, p = 0.396, $\eta_p^2 = 0.06$), or "Intervention" (F(1, 12) = 0.77, p = 0.396, $\eta_p^2 = 0.06$), or "Intervention" (F(1, 12) = 0.77, p = 0.396, $\eta_p^2 = 0.06$), or "Intervention" (F(1, 12) = 0.77, p = 0.396, $\eta_p^2 = 0.06$), or "Intervention" (F(1, 12) = 0.77, p = 0.396, $\eta_p^2 = 0.06$), or "Intervention" (F(1, 12) = 0.77, p = 0.396, $\eta_p^2 = 0.06$), or "Intervention" (F(1, 12) = 0.77, p = 0.396, $\eta_p^2 = 0.06$), or "Intervention" (F(1, 12) = 0.77, p = 0.396, $\eta_p^2 = 0.06$), or "Intervention" (F(1, 12) = 0.77, p = 0.396, $\eta_p^2 = 0.06$), or "Intervention" (F(1, 12) = 0.77, p = 0.396, $\eta_p^2 = 0.06$), or "Intervention" (F(1, 12) = 0.77, p = 0.396, $\eta_p^2 = 0.06$), or "Intervention" (F(1, 12) = 0.77, p = 0.396, $\eta_p^2 = 0.06$), or "Intervention" (F(1, 12) = 0.77, p = 0.396, $\eta_p^2 = 0.06$), or "Intervention" (F(1, 12) = 0.77, p = 0.396, $\eta_p^2 = 0.06$), or "Intervention" (F(1, 12) = 0.77, P = 0.396, $\eta_p^2 = 0.06$), or "Inte

12)=0.05, p=0.824, η_p^2 =0.00), and no significant interaction (*F* (1, 12)=0.16, p=0.700, η_p^2 =0.01).

3.6 Actigraphy

Results of the actigraphy analyses are depicted in Figure 7. For head position, there was a significant effect for "Block" (*F* (1, 14)=18.83, p < 0.001, $\eta_p^2 = 0.57$) but neither for "Intervention" (*F* (1, 14)=0.70, p = 0.418, $\eta_p^2 = 0.05$) nor for the interaction (*F* (1, 14)=0.08, p = 0.776, $\eta_p^2 = 0.01$). The block effect resulted from higher head position scores in the post-intervention block (*M* = 4.01, *SD* = 2.26) compared to the pre-intervention block (*M* = 3.00, *SD* = 2.10). For head rotation, there was no significant effect for "Block" (*F* (1, 14)=0.02, p = 0.897, $\eta_p^2 = 0.00$) or "Intervention" (*F* (1, 14)=0.01, p = 911, $\eta_p^2 = 0.00$), and no significant interaction (*F* (1, 14)=3.61, p = 0.078, $\eta_p^2 = 0.21$).

4 Discussion

Given the evidence for a decreased EEG alpha power in adult ADHD (Loo et al., 2009; Woltering et al., 2012; Poil et al., 2014; Liu



et al., 2016; Deiber et al., 2020), the objective of the current study was to increase the alpha power of adult ADHD patients and to explore possible resulting neurophysiological and/or behavioral changes. Therefore, we carried out a crossover trial, in which a final sample of n=15 adult patients with ADHD underwent both an individual tACSbased alpha stimulation (active stimulation) and a placebo stimulation (sham stimulation) while performing a CPT in a VSR scenario. We examined the mean alpha power at rest (2 min each) and during CPT conductance (18 min each), CPT performances, subjective ADHD symptoms, head movement and rotation, and gaze behavior before and after both interventions.

While alpha power significantly increased from pre- to postinterventions, we were not able to find a significantly stronger increase in alpha power due to active stimulation compared to sham stimulation, neither at rest nor during CPT execution. Although both statistical analyses each yielded a trend for a significant interaction, exploratively assessed trend interactions indicated time differences rather than intervention effects. While the block effect can be attributed to a natural alpha rise in both groups, which is a wellknown phenomenon during a prolonged cognitive task as a function of time on task and mental fatigue (Fan et al., 2015; Gharagozlou et al., 2015; Trejo et al., 2015; Benwell et al., 2019), it is not clear why we do not find a significant difference in the participants' alpha power comparing the application of active and sham stimulation. Nevertheless, since we only expect a small effect of tACS anyway and, in addition, the effect of tACS is quite variable, the small sample size is a constraint in our study. It seems that a larger sample size could have resulted in a significant effect.

In addition, patients with different ADHD presentations seem to show varying levels of alpha power. Most studies suggest a decreased alpha power in patients with ADHD (Loo et al., 2009; Woltering et al., 2012; Poil et al., 2014; Liu et al., 2016; Deiber et al., 2020), but some studies also report an increased alpha power (Koehler et al., 2009; Poil et al., 2014; Deiber et al., 2020), especially for those suffering from



FIGURE 5

Block comparison (prevs. post) of individual mean alpha power. (A) Boxplots depict mean alpha power before (pre) and after (post) for sham stimulation (blue) and active stimulation (red). (B) Pre to post change of individual mean alpha power for sham stimulation and (C) for active stimulation. Data analyses based on n = 15 datasets. Error bars represent the standard error of the mean.



hyperactivity/impulsivity (Deiber et al., 2020). Of note, our ADHD sample almost exclusively consisted of patients with the combined ADHD presentation. Hence, almost all our patients also exhibited a level of hyperactivity, which might be associated with a higher and therefore not strongly further increasable alpha power. This indicates that a subgroup of ADHD patients (e.g., a predominantly inattentive sample) associated with a diminished alpha power, might have benefited more from the tACS application. However, since our data seem to show a high variability in the alpha power pre-to-post change (*cf.* Figures 5B,C), further basic research is needed to clarify whether abnormal alpha power is a neuromarker for a specific ADHD subtype, and to what extent subtype-specific neural activity patterns need to be taken more into account in the application of tACS.

Finally, the success of brain stimulation might have been influenced by inter- and intraindividual variability, e.g., by an unfavorable brain state during the application of tACS or by using a non-individualized



electrode montage that failed to target the correct source (Bergmann, 2018; von Conta et al., 2021; Kasten and Herrmann, 2022). This could have affected the subsequent aftereffects (the so called "offline effects" that we have investigated) of induced synaptic changes by non-invasive brain stimulation (for details, see, e.g., Vossen et al., 2015). One possible innovative approach to overcome the individual variability would be to use a closed loop system that tracks brain activity during tACS application and adjusts the stimulation accordingly (Zrenner et al., 2016). Since there are only few studies investigating online adaptation of stimulation parameters depending on current brain activity so far, the efficiency and practicability of such closed loop systems needs to be further evaluated (Bergmann et al., 2016; Karabanov et al., 2016; Thut et al., 2017; Stecher et al., 2021).

Regarding behavioral measures, we found no indication for a tACS-induced cognitive improvement for any of our CPT performance, eye tracking, actigraphy or subjective measures. In sum, our tACS application does not appear to have induced any clinically meaningful effect in terms of behavioral changes.

4.1 Task related time-on-task effects

Regarding pre-post effects, one interesting finding is that there was a higher gaze time spent on distractors as well as a higher amount of head position movements in the post-intervention block as compared to the pre-intervention block. The latter result is consistent with the results of a virtual classroom study in ADHD children by Mühlberger et al. (2020) as well as with our own VSR study in healthy controls (Wiebe et al., 2022), which both yielded very similar time-on-task head movement effects. Regarding gaze duration on distractors, the outcome agrees with Wiebe et al. (2023), who found that unmedicated ADHD patients spent significantly more time gazing at distracting stimuli while being immersed into the VSR, compared to healthy controls. Interpreting both results, it could be assumed that our participants became increasingly inattentive and/or restless over the duration of the experiment. This, in turn, may suggest that our VSR setup was able to induce the neuropsychologically-desired boredom and monotony in our participants that may provoke inattention, hyperactivity, and impulsivity in adults with ADHD. If this is true, this induction of monotony was, however, insufficiently small, as no pre-post effect was found for any of the CPT performance measures.

Another finding is that in contrast to the pre-post increase of head movements, participants reported to be less hyperactive in the post-intervention block as compared to the pre-intervention block. In other words, while the participants perceived that their motor activity decreased over the course of the experiment, their motor activity increased. One possible explanation for this mismatch between active and experienced movement behavior might be a "positive illusory bias" (i.e., an overestimation of one's own competence that does not correspond to one's active performance) that has already been repeatedly reported for ADHD children (Owens et al., 2007; Prevatt et al., 2012; Volz-Sidiropoulou et al., 2016) and recently also for ADHD adults (Butzbach et al., 2021). Another alternative explanation might be habituation. That is, our participants got used to the experimental procedure and virtual surrounding and thereby became less excited over time, what resulted in diminished feeling of restlessness. Likewise, it is also conceivable that head movements might not be a reliable marker of hyperactivity in patients with ADHD. Nevertheless, these diverging outcomes underline the importance of a multimodal assessment when testing the efficacy of tACS or other therapeutic interventions in ADHD, as our data suggests that one cannot rely on subjective data alone.

4.2 Limitations and future directions

A limitation of this study is the small final sample size (n = 15). Reasons for this included our technically challenging multimodal VR paradigm, which caused some technical difficulties during data acquisition, as well as an impeded ADHD patient access due to the Corona pandemic. Our data suggest that a stimulation effect might have been found with a larger sample. Moreover, a larger sample could indicate the extent to which the specific ADHD presentation might be associated with a significant stimulation effect.

Another aspect to be considered is that, in addition to the studies cited for decreased alpha power (Loo et al., 2009; Woltering et al., 2012; Poil et al., 2014; Liu et al., 2016; Deiber et al., 2020), there is also some evidence for equal (van Dongen-Boomsma et al., 2010) or even increased alpha power (Bresnahan and Barry, 2002; Koehler et al.,

2009) in adult ADHD patients compared to healthy individuals. Assuming that the alpha power is increased, the mechanism of action proposed in this study to achieve attentional improvement through alpha amplification might be ineffective, since an already elevated endogenous alpha power cannot be further increased by tACS (Neuling et al., 2013). To account for heterogeneity, future studies might evaluate the alpha power of adult ADHD patients beforehand and allocate them accordingly into groups of low and high alpha power before applying tACS to test its therapeutic effect. Additionally, further work is needed to explore the potential differential effects of tACS on the different ADHD subtypes, thereby contributing to a more detailed understanding of its potential therapeutic applicability. Unfortunately, in the present study it was not possible to conduct such an analysis, as the majority of our participants was diagnosed with the combined ADHD type and only one participant with the predominantly inattentive subtype, thereby precluding a subgroup analysis.

It is also conceivable that other potential ADHD neuromarkers could be considered for tACS. One possibility might be the theta-betaratio (TBR), which seems encouraging since TBR differences between children with ADHD and healthy controls appear to exist (Monastra et al., 2001; Snyder and Hall, 2006; Zhang et al., 2017). The prospect of using tACS to correct this ratio would offer a non-invasive therapeutic approach aimed at improving attention and cognitive deficits in the ADHD population. Another promising option would be to enhance the P300 (Prox et al., 2007; Itagaki et al., 2011; Marquardt et al., 2018) by the application of tACS. Some studies already aimed for this goal (Dallmer-Zerbe et al., 2020; Kannen et al., 2022). A recent study by Boetzel et al. (2023) accomplished to increase the P300 amplitude in healthy controls but revealed no dependent effect on behavioral performance parameters yet.

Finally, to our knowledge, this study is one of the first attempting to increase the alpha power of adult ADHD patients using tACS. In addition, we combined the application of tACS with a multimodal VR assessment, creating a functional setup in which various measurement techniques (EEG, eye tracking, actigraphy, behavioral performance, subjective measures) are used to investigate a potential stimulation effect in psychophysiological, behavioral, and subjective domains. In fact, there are many different possibilities to apply tACS by changing stimulation parameters (e.g., stimulation intensity), electrode positions, electrode size, or stimulation frequency, which is why further studies will need to be undertaken.

5 Conclusion

In conclusion, our study provides no evidence that tACS can increase the alpha power in adult ADHD patients. With a larger sample, however, there might have been a significant difference, since the analyses revealed large effect sizes. Since alpha power in adult ADHD has not yet been investigated in depth and since there are still many conceivable parameter settings for the application of tACS, more research is needed to clarify whether alpha power enhancement via tACS could be advantageous as a possible therapeutic intervention for ADHD. Overall, we have succeeded in creating a multimodal experimental design including multiple measures (subjective, behavioral, electrophysiological, actigraphy, and eyetracking) to test the potential effects of tACS on adult ADHD and our research has raised numerous questions that require further investigation.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

The studies involving humans were approved by Medical ethics committee of the University of Bonn. The studies were conducted in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. Written informed consent for participation in this study was provided by the participants. Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s) for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

Author contributions

KK: Conceptualization, Formal analysis, Investigation, Methodology, Project administration, Visualization, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. JR: Investigation, Writing – review & editing. AF: Investigation, Writing – review & editing. AW: Formal analysis, Writing – review & editing. BS: Formal analysis, Writing – review & editing. LA: Writing – review & editing. BA: Writing – review & editing. SL: Writing – review & editing. CSH: Conceptualization, Methodology, Supervision, Writing – review & editing. AP: Conceptualization, Funding acquisition, Supervision, Writing – review & editing, Methodology. NB: Conceptualization, Formal analysis, Methodology, Supervision, Visualization, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing.

Funding

The author(s) declare financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article. The work was supported by a grant of the Federal Ministry of Education and Research (BMBF, 13GW0273E, given to AP). This publication was supported by the Open Access Publication Fund of the University of Bonn. NB received funding from BONFOR, by which NB and BS were partly funded. AP received funding from the German Federal Ministry of Education, by which BS's and KK's PhD positions were partly funded. AP and NB received funding from Medice, by which AW's PhD position was funded. AP receives funding from the State of North Rhine-Westphalia by which LA's PhD position is funded.

Conflict of interest

Over the past 3 years, AP received funding by the German Federal Ministry of Education and Research, Horizon 2020, Medice and DFG; she reports serving on advisory boards for Takeda, Medice and Boehringer; delivering lectures sponsored by Medice and Takeda; and being the author of books and articles on ADHD. CSH holds a patent on brain stimulation.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest. CSH, NB, and SL declared that they were an editorial board member of Frontiers, at the time of submission. This had no impact on the peer review process and the final decision.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the

References

Adamou, M., Fullen, T., and Jones, S. L. (2020). EEG for diagnosis of adult ADHD: a systematic review with narrative analysis. *Front. Psych.* 11:871. doi: 10.3389/ fpsyt.2020.00871

Arns, M., Heinrich, H., and Strehl, U. (2014). Evaluation of neurofeedback in ADHD: the long and winding road. *Biol. Psychol.* 95, 108–115. doi: 10.1016/J. BIOPSYCHO.2013.11.013

Barudin-Carreiro, A. M., Camhi, S. M., Lindsay, A. C., and Wright, J. A. (2022). Physical activity and executive function in children with ADHD: a systematic review. *Transl J Am Coll Sports Med* 7:e000183. doi: 10.1249/TJX.00000000000183

Bashiri, A., Ghazisaeedi, M., and Shahmorasdi, L. (2017). The opportunities of virtual reality in the rehabilitation of children with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder: a literature review. *Korean J. Pediatr.* 60, 337–343. doi: 10.3345/KJP.2017.60.11.337

Bazanova, O. M., Auer, T., and Sapina, E. A. (2018). On the efficiency of individualized Theta/Beta ratio neurofeedback combined with forehead EMG training in ADHD children. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 12:3. doi: 10.3389/FNHUM.2018.00003

Ben-Shachar, M. S. (2020). TBT: Reject and interpolate channels on a epoch by epoch basis (2.6.1). Zenodo. doi: 10.5281/zenodo.3784278

Benwell, C. S. Y., London, R. E., Tagliabue, C. F., Veniero, D., Gross, J., Keitel, C., et al. (2019). Frequency and power of human alpha oscillations drift systematically with timeon-task. *NeuroImage* 192, 101–114. doi: 10.1016/J.NEUROIMAGE.2019.02.067

Bergmann, T. O. (2018). Brain state-dependent brain stimulation. Front. Psychol. 9:2108. doi: 10.3389/FPSYG.2018.02108

Bergmann, T. O., Karabanov, A., Hartwigsen, G., Thielscher, A., and Siebner, H. R. (2016). Combining non-invasive transcranial brain stimulation with neuroimaging and electrophysiology: current approaches and future perspectives. *NeuroImage* 140, 4–19. doi: 10.1016/J.NEUROIMAGE.2016.02.012

Boetzel, C., Stecher, H. I., and Herrmann, C. S. (2023). ERP-aligned delta transcranial alternating current stimulation modulates the P3 amplitude. *Int. J. Psychophysiol.* 193:112247. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2023.112247

Bresnahan, S. M., and Barry, R. J. (2002). Specificity of quantitative EEG analysis in adults with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. *Psychiatry Res.* 112, 133–144. doi: 10.1016/S0165-1781(02)00190-7

Brunoni, A. R., Amadera, J., Berbel, B., Volz, M. S., Rizzerio, B. G., and Fregni, F. (2011). A systematic review on reporting and assessment of adverse effects associated with transcranial direct current stimulation. *Int. J. Neuropsychopharmacol.* 14, 1133–1145. doi: 10.1017/S1461145710001690

Butzbach, M., Fuermaier, A. B. M., Aschenbrenner, S., Weisbrod, M., Tucha, L., and Tucha, O. (2021). Metacognition in adult ADHD: subjective and objective perspectives on self-awareness of cognitive functioning. *J. Neural Transm.* 128, 939–955. doi: 10.1007/s00702-020-02293-w

Chen, Y. H., Liang, S. C., Sun, C. K., Cheng, Y. S., Tzang, R. F., Chiu, H. J., et al. (2023). A meta-analysis on the therapeutic efficacy of repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation for cognitive functions in attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorders. *BMC Psychiatry* 23:756. doi: 10.1186/s12888-023-05261-2

Cortese, S., Adamo, N., Del Giovane, C., Mohr-Jensen, C., Hayes, A. J., Carucci, S., et al. (2018). Comparative efficacy and tolerability of medications for attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder in children, adolescents, and adults: a systematic review and network meta-analysis. *Lancet Psychiatry* 5, 727–738. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366 (18)30269-4

Cunill, R., Castells, X., Tobias, A., and Capellà, D. (2016). Efficacy, safety and variability in pharmacotherapy for adults with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder: a meta-analysis and meta-regression in over 9000 patients. *Psychopharmacology* 233, 187–197. doi: 10.1007/s00213-015-4099-3

Dallmer-Zerbe, I., Popp, F., Lam, A. P., Philipsen, A., and Herrmann, C. S. (2020). Transcranial alternating current stimulation (tACS) as a tool to modulate P300 amplitude in attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD): preliminary findings. *Brain Topogr.* 33, 191–207. doi: 10.1007/s10548-020-00752-x reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyg.2023.1280397/ full#supplementary-material

Davis, N. J., Gold, E., Pascual-Leone, A., and Bracewell, R. M. (2013). Challenges of proper placebo control for non-invasive brain stimulation in clinical and experimental applications. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 38, 2973–2977. doi: 10.1111/ejn.12307

Deiber, M. P., Hasler, R., Colin, J., Dayer, A., Aubry, J. M., Baggio, S., et al. (2020). Linking alpha oscillations, attention and inhibitory control in adult ADHD with EEG neurofeedback. *Neuroimage Clin* 25:102145. doi: 10.1016/j.nicl.2019.102145

Delorme, A., and Makeig, S. (2004). EEGLAB: an open-source toolbox for analysis of single-trial EEG dynamics including independent component analysis. *J. Neurosci. Methods* 134, 9–21. doi: 10.1016/J.JNEUMETH.2003.10.009

Fan, X., Zhou, Q., Liu, Z., and Xie, F. (2015). Electroencephalogram assessment of mental fatigue in visual search. *Biomed. Mater. Eng.* 26, S1455–S1463. doi: 10.3233/BME-151444

Farokhzadi, F., Mohamadi, M. R., Khajevand Khosli, A., Akbarfahimi, M., Ali Beigi, N., and Torabi, P. (2020). Comparing the effectiveness of the transcranial alternating current stimulation (TACS) and Ritalin on symptoms of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder in 7-14-year-old children. *Acta Med. Iran.* 58, 637–648. doi: 10.18502/ACTA.V58112.5156

Gharagozlou, F., Nasl Saraji, G., Mazloumi, A., Nahvi, A., Motie Nasrabadi, A., Rahimi Foroushani, A., et al. (2015). Detecting driver mental fatigue based on EEG alpha Power changes during simulated driving. *Iran J Public Health* 44, 1693–1700.

Goldman, R. I., Stern, J. M., Engel, J. J., Cohen, M. S. (2002). Simultaneous EEG and fMRI of the alpha rhythm. *NeuroReport* 13, 2487–2492. doi: 10.1097/01. wnr.0000047685.08940.d0

Graham, J., Banaschewski, T., Buitelaar, J., Coghill, D., Danckaerts, M., Dittmann, R. W., et al. (2011). European guidelines on managing adverse effects of medication for ADHD. *Eur. Child Adolesc. Psychiatry* 20, 17–37. doi: 10.1007/ s00787-010-0140-6

Handelman, K., and Sumiya, F. (2022). Tolerance to stimulant medication for attention deficit hyperactivity disorder: literature review and case report. *Brain Sci.* 12:959. doi: 10.3390/brainsci12080959

Harper, A., Power, M., Orley, J., Herrman, H., Schofield, H., Murphy, B., et al. (1998). Development of the World Health Organization WHOQOL-BREF quality of life assessment. The WHOQOL Group. *Psychol Med* 28, 551–558. doi: 10.1017/ S0033291798006667

Hasler, R., Perroud, N., Meziane, H. B., Herrmann, F., Prada, P., Giannakopoulos, P., et al. (2016). Attention-related EEG markers in adult ADHD. *Neuropsychologia* 87, 120–133. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2016.05.008

Herrmann, C. S., Rach, S., Neuling, T., and Strüber, D. (2013). Transcranial alternating current stimulation: a review of the underlying mechanisms and modulation of cognitive processes. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 7:279. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2013.00279

Itagaki, S., Yabe, H., Mori, Y., Ishikawa, H., Takanashi, Y., and Niwa, S. (2011). Eventrelated potentials in patients with adult attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder versus schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Res.* 189, 288–291. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2011.03.005

Kaiser, A., Aggensteiner, P. M., Baumeister, S., Holz, N. E., Banaschewski, T., and Brandeis, D. (2020). Earlier versus later cognitive event-related potentials (ERPs) in attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD): a meta-analysis. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 112, 117–134. doi: 10.1016/J.NEUBIOREV.2020.01.019

Kannen, K., Aslan, B., Boetzel, C., Herrmann, C. S., Lux, S., Rosen, H., et al. (2022). P300 modulation via transcranial alternating current stimulation in adult attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder: a crossover study. *Front. Psych.* 13:1469. doi: 10.3389/ fpsyt.2022.928145

Karabanov, A., Thielscher, A., and Siebner, H. R. (2016). Transcranial brain stimulation: closing the loop between brain and stimulation. *Curr. Opin. Neurol.* 29, 397–404. doi: 10.1097/WCO.000000000000342

Kasten, F. H., Dowsett, J., and Herrmann, C. S. (2016). Sustained aftereffect of α -tACS lasts up to 70 min after stimulation. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 10:245. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2016.00245

Kasten, F. H., and Herrmann, C. S. (2022). The hidden brain-state dynamics of tACS aftereffects. *NeuroImage* 264:119713. doi: 10.1016/J.NEUROIMAGE.2022.119713

Kiiski, H., Bennett, M., Rueda-Delgado, L. M., Farina, F. R., Knight, R., Boyle, R., et al. (2020). EEG spectral power, but not theta/beta ratio, is a neuromarker for adult ADHD. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 51, 2095–2109. doi: 10.1111/ejn.14645

Kim, H. K., Park, J., Choi, Y., and Choe, M. (2018). Virtual reality sickness questionnaire (VRSQ): motion sickness measurement index in a virtual reality environment. *Appl. Ergon.* 69, 66–73. doi: 10.1016/j.apergo.2017.12.016

Kis, B., Lücke, C., Abdel-Hamid, M., Heβmann, P., Graf, E., Berger, M., et al. (2020). Safety profile of methylphenidate under long-term treatment in adult ADHD patients results of the COMPAS study. *Pharmacopsychiatry* 53, 263–271. doi: 10.1055/A-1207-9851

Klimesch, W. (2012). Alpha-band oscillations, attention, and controlled access to stored information. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 16, 606–617. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2012.10.007

Koehler, S., Lauer, P., Schreppel, T., Jacob, C., Heine, M., Boreatti-Hümmer, A., et al. (2009). Increased EEG power density in alpha and theta bands in adult ADHD patients. *J. Neural Transm.* 116, 97–104. doi: 10.1007/S00702-008-0157-X

Lakes, K. D., Cibrian, F. L., Schuck, S. E. B., Nelson, M., and Hayes, G. R. (2022). Digital health interventions for youth with ADHD: a mapping review. *Comput. Hum. Behav. Rep.* 6:100174. doi: 10.1016/J.CHBR.2022.100174

Liu, Z. X., Glizer, D., Tannock, R., and Woltering, S. (2016). EEG alpha power during maintenance of information in working memory in adults with ADHD and its plasticity due to working memory training: a randomized controlled trial. *Clin. Neurophysiol.* 127, 1307–1320. doi: 10.1016/J.CLINPH.2015.10.032

Llevy, F., Pipingas, A., Harris, E. V., Farrow, M., and Silberstein, R. B. (2018). Continuous performance task in ADHD: is reaction time variability a key measure? *Neuropsychiatr. Dis. Treat.* 14, 781–786. doi: 10.2147/NDT.S158308

Loo, S. K., Hale, T. S., Macion, J., Hanada, G., McGough, J. J., McCracken, J. T., et al. (2009). Cortical activity patterns in ADHD during arousal, activation and sustained attention. *Neuropsychologia* 47, 2114–2119. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2009.04.013

Louthrenoo, O., Boonchooduang, N., Likhitweerawong, N., Charoenkwan, K., and Srisurapanont, M. (2022). The effects of neurofeedback on executive functioning in children with ADHD: a meta-analysis. *J. Atten. Disord.* 26, 976–984. doi: 10.1177/10870547211045738

Margraf, J., Cwik, J. C., Pflug, V., and Schneider, S. (2017). Strukturierte klinische Interviews zur Erfassung psychischer Störungen über die Lebensspanne. Z. Klin. Psychol. Psychother. 46, 176–186. doi: 10.1026/1616-3443/a000430

Marquardt, L., Eichele, H., Lundervold, A. J., Haavik, J., and Eichele, T. (2018). Eventrelated-potential (ERP) correlates of performance monitoring in adults with attentiondeficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD). *Front. Psychol.* 9:485. doi: 10.3389/ fpsyg.2018.00485

Mészáros, Á., Czobor, P., Bálint, S., Komlósi, S., Simon, V., and Bitter, I. (2009). Pharmacotherapy of adult attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD): a metaanalysis. *Int. J. Neuropsychopharmacol.* 12, 1137–1147. doi: 10.1017/S1461145709990198

Monastra, V. J., Lubar, J. F., and Linden, M. (2001). The development of a quantitative electroencephalographic scanning process for attention deficit–hyperactivity disorder: reliability and validity studies. *Neuropsychology* 15, 136–144. doi: 10.1037/0894-4105.15.1.136

Montalva-Valenzuela, F., Andrades-Ramírez, O., and Castillo-Paredes, A. (2022). Effects of physical activity, exercise and sport on executive function in young people with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder: a systematic review. *Eur J Investig Health Psychol Educ* 12, 61–76. doi: 10.3390/EIIHPE12010006

Moreno-García, I., Cano-Crespo, A., and Rivera, F. (2022). Results of neurofeedback in treatment of children with ADHD: a systematic review of randomized controlled trials. *Appl. Psychophysiol. Biofeedback* 47, 145–181. doi: 10.1007/s10484-022-09547-1

Mühlberger, A., Jekel, K., Probst, T., Schecklmann, M., Conzelmann, A., Andreatta, M., et al. (2020). The influence of methylphenidate on hyperactivity and attention deficits in children with ADHD: a virtual classroom test. *J. Atten. Disord.* 24, 277–289. doi: 10.1177/1087054716647480

Neguț, A., Jurma, A. M., and David, D. (2017). Virtual-reality-based attention assessment of ADHD: ClinicaVR: classroom-CPT versus a traditional continuous performance test. *Child Neuropsychol.* 23, 692–712. doi: 10.1080/09297049.2016.1186617

Neuling, T., Rach, S., and Herrmann, C. S. (2013). Orchestrating neuronal networks: sustained after-effects of transcranial alternating current stimulation depend upon brain states. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 7:161. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2013.00161

Neuling, T., Wagner, S., Wolters, C. H., Zaehle, T., and Herrmann, C. S. (2012). Finiteelement model predicts current density distribution for clinical applications of tDCS and tACS. *Front. Psych.* 3:83. doi: 10.3389/FPSYT.2012.00083/BIBTEX

Nichols, S. L., and Waschbusch, D. A. (2004). A review of the validity of laboratory cognitive tasks used to assess symptoms of ADHD. *Child Psychiatry Hum. Dev.* 34, 297–315. doi: 10.1023/B:CHUD.0000020681.06865.97

Nilges, P., and Essau, C. (2015). Die Depressions-Angst-Stress-Skalen: Der DASS–ein Screeningverfahren nicht nur für Schmerzpatienten. *Schmerz* 29, 649–657. doi: 10.1007/ s00482-015-0019-z Oldfield, R. C. (1971). The assessment and analysis of handedness: the Edinburgh inventory. *Neuropsychologia* 9, 97–113. doi: 10.1016/0028-3932(71)90067-4

73

Owens, J. S., Goldfine, M. E., Evangelista, N. M., Hoza, B., and Kaiser, N. M. (2007). A critical review of self-perceptions and the positive illusory Bias in children with ADHD. *Clin. Child. Fam. Psychol. Rev.* 10, 335–351. doi: 10.1007/s10567-007-0027-3

Parsons, T. D. (2015). Virtual reality for enhanced ecological validity and experimental control in the clinical, affective and social neurosciences. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 9:660. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2015.00660

Poil, S.-S., Bollmann, S., Ghisleni, C., O'Gorman, R. L., Klaver, P., Ball, J., et al. (2014). Age dependent electroencephalographic changes in attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD). *Clin. Neurophysiol.* 125, 1626–1638. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2013.12.118

Prevatt, F., Proctor, B., Best, L., Baker, L., van Walker, J., and Taylor, N. W. (2012). The positive illusory bias: does it explain self-evaluations in college students with ADHD? *J. Atten. Disord.* 16, 235–243. doi: 10.1177/1087054710392538

Prox, V., Dietrich, D. E., Zhang, Y., Emrich, H. M., and Ohlmeier, M. D. (2007). Attentional processing in adults with ADHD as reflected by event-related potentials. *Neurosci. Lett.* 419, 236–241. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2007.04.011

Rahmani, E., Mahvelati, A., Alizadeh, A., Mokhayeri, Y., Rahmani, M., Zarabi, H., et al. (2022). Is neurofeedback effective in children with ADHD? A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Neurocase* 28, 84–95. doi: 10.1080/13554794.2022.2027456

Retz, W., Retz-Junginger, P., and Rösler, M. (2014). Integrierte Diagnose der ADHS im Erwachsenenalter-Revidierte Version (IDA-R). Iserlohn: MEDICE.

Romero-Ayuso, D., Toledano-González, A., Rodríguez-Martínez, M., Arroyo-Castillo, P., Triviño-Juárez, J. M., González, P., et al. (2021). Effectiveness of virtual reality-based interventions for children and adolescents with ADHD: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Children* 8:70. doi: 10.3390/children8020070

Rösler, M., Retz, W., Retz-Junginger, P., Thome, J., Supprian, T., Nissen, T., et al. (2004). Instrumente zur Diagnostik der Aufmerksamkeitsdefizit-/Hyperaktivitätsstörung (ADHS) im Erwachsenenalter. *Nervenarzt* 75, 888–895. doi: 10.1007/s00115-003-1622-2

Salehinejad, M. A., Nejati, V., Mosayebi-Samani, M., Mohammadi, A., Wischnewski, M., Kuo, M. F., et al. (2020). Transcranial direct current stimulation in ADHD: a systematic review of efficacy, safety, and protocol-induced electrical field modeling results. *Neurosci. Bull.* 36, 1191–1212. doi: 10.1007/S12264-020-00501-X

Sarris, J., Kean, J., Schweitzer, I., and Lake, J. (2011). Complementary medicines (herbal and nutritional products) in the treatment of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD): a systematic review of the evidence. *Complement. Ther. Med.* 19, 216–227. doi: 10.1016/J.CTIM.2011.06.007

Seiffer, B., Hautzinger, M., Ulrich, R., and Wolf, S. (2022). The efficacy of physical activity for children with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *J. Atten. Disord.* 26, 656–673. doi: 10.1177/10870547211017982

Selaskowski, B., Asché, L. M., Wiebe, A., Kannen, K., Aslan, B., Gerding, T. M., et al. (2023a). Gaze-based attention refocusing training in virtual reality for adult attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder. *BMC Psychiatry* 23:74. doi: 10.1186/s12888-023-04551-z

Selaskowski, B., Reiland, M., Schulze, M., Aslan, B., Kannen, K., Wiebe, A., et al. (2023b). Chatbot-supported psychoeducation in adult attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder: Randomised controlled trial. *BJPsych Open* 9:E192. doi: 10.1192/bjo.2023.573

Selaskowski, B., Steffens, M., Schulze, M., Lingen, M., Aslan, B., Rosen, H., et al. (2022). Smartphone-assisted psychoeducation in adult attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: a randomized controlled trial. *Psychiatry Res.* 317:114802. doi: 10.1016/j. psychres.2022.114802

Snyder, S. M., and Hall, J. R. (2006). A meta-analysis of quantitative EEG Power associated with attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder. *J. Clin. Neurophysiol.* 23, 441–456. doi: 10.1097/01.wnp.0000221363.12503.78

Stecher, H. I., Notbohm, A., Kasten, F. H., and Herrmann, C. S. (2021). A comparison of closed loop vs. fixed frequency tACS on modulating brain oscillations and visual detection. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 15:272. doi: 10.3389/FNHUM.2021.661432/BIBTEX

Swanson, J. M. (2019). Debate: are stimulant medications for attention-deficit/ hyperactivity disorder effective in the long term? (against). J. Am. Acad. Child Adolesc. Psychiatry 58, 936–938. doi: 10.1016/j.jaac.2019.07.001

Thut, G., Bergmann, T. O., Fröhlich, F., Soekadar, S. R., Brittain, J. S., Valero-Cabré, A., et al. (2017). Guiding transcranial brain stimulation by EEG/MEG to interact with ongoing brain activity and associated functions: a position paper. *Clin. Neurophysiol.* 128, 843–857. doi: 10.1016/J.CLINPH.2017.01.003

Trejo, L. J., Kubitz, K., Rosipal, R., Kochavi, R. L., and Montgomery, L. D. (2015). EEG-based estimation and classification of mental fatigue. *Psychology* 6, 572–589. doi: 10.4236/PSYCH.2015.65055

van Dongen-Boomsma, M., Lansbergen, M. M., Bekker, E. M., Sandra Kooij, J. J., van der Molen, M., Kenemans, J. L., et al. (2010). Relation between resting EEG to cognitive performance and clinical symptoms in adults with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. *Neurosci. Lett.* 469, 102–106. doi: 10.1016/J.NEULET.2009.11.053

Varao-Sousa, T. L., Smilek, D., and Kingstone, A. (2018). In the lab and in the wild: how distraction and mind wandering affect attention and memory. *Cogn Res Princ Implic* 3:42. doi: 10.1186/s41235-018-0137-0 Volz-Sidiropoulou, E., Boecker, M., and Gauggel, S. (2016). The positive illusory Bias in children and adolescents with ADHD: further evidence. *J. Atten. Disord.* 20, 178–186. doi: 10.1177/1087054713489849

von Conta, J., Kasten, F. H., Ćurčić-Blake, B., Aleman, A., Thielscher, A., and Herrmann, C. S. (2021). Interindividual variability of electric fields during transcranial temporal interference stimulation (tTIS). *Sci. Rep.* 11:20357. doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-99749-0

Vossen, A., Gross, J., and Thut, G. (2015). Alpha Power increase after transcranial alternating current stimulation at alpha frequency (α -tACS) reflects plastic changes rather than entrainment. *Brain Stimul.* 8, 499–508. doi: 10.1016/J.BRS.2014.12.004

Vosskuhl, J., Strüber, D., and Herrmann, C. S. (2018). Non-invasive brain stimulation: a paradigm shift in understanding brain oscillations. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 12:211. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2018.00211

Wasserman, T., and Wasserman, L. D. (2012). The sensitivity and specificity of neuropsychological tests in the diagnosis of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. *Appl. Neuropsychol. Child* 1, 90–99. doi: 10.1080/21622965.2012.702025

Westwood, S. J., Radua, J., and Rubia, K. (2021). Noninvasive brain stimulation in children and adults with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J. Psychiatry Neurosci.* 46, E14–E33. doi: 10.1503/JPN.190179

Wiebe, A., Aslan, B., Brockmann, C., Lepartz, A., Dudek, D., Kannen, K., et al. (2023). Multimodal assessment of adult attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder: a controlled virtual seminar room study. Clin. Psychol. Psychother. 30, 1111-1129. doi: 10.1002/ cpp.2863

Wiebe, A., Kannen, K., Li, M., Aslan, B., Anders, D., Selaskowski, B., et al. (2022). Multimodal virtual reality-based assessment of adult ADHD: a feasibility study in healthy subjects. *Assessment* 30, 1435–1453. doi: 10.1177/10731911221089193

Wilens, T. E., Morrison, N. R., and Prince, J. (2011). An update on the pharmacotherapy of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder in adults. *Expert. Rev. Neurother.* 11, 1443–1465. doi: 10.1586/ern.11.137

Woltering, S., Jung, J., Liu, Z., and Tannock, R. (2012). Resting state EEG oscillatory power differences in ADHD college students and their peers. *Behav. Brain Funct.* 8:60. doi: 10.1186/1744-9081-8-60

Wynchank, D., Bijlenga, D., Beekman, A. T., Kooij, J. J. S., and Penninx, B. W. (2017). Adult attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) and insomnia: an update of the literature. *Curr. Psychiatry Rep.* 19:98. doi: 10.1007/S11920-017-0860-0

Zhang, D.-W., Roodenrys, S., Li, H., Barry, R. J., Clarke, A. R., Wu, Z., et al. (2017). Atypical interference control in children with AD/HD with elevated theta/beta ratio. *Biol. Psychol.* 128, 82–88. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsycho.2017.07.009

Zrenner, C., Belardinelli, P., Müller-Dahlhaus, F., and Ziemann, U. (2016). Closedloop neuroscience and non-invasive brain stimulation: a tale of two loops. *Front. Cell. Neurosci.* 10:92. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2016.00092

4. Discussion with References

4.1 Summary

The current dissertation focuses on assessing ADHD core symptoms (inattention, hyperactivity, and impulsivity) in a standardized, realistic, and multi-modal testing environment and explores tACS, a new NiBS technique, as a potential alternative therapeutic intervention for adult ADHD.

The first study investigates the potential of utilizing the VSR, a VR-based multi-modal assessment, for adult ADHD. This system simulates a real-life seminar room with various distractions, creating a more realistic and complex but standardized testing environment. Testing the VSR with a healthy control group confirmed the feasibility of the VR-based approach. It provides a comprehensive and ecologically valid assessment tool, capturing the complexity of ADHD symptomatology. The developed VSR was afterwards utilized to investigate potential differences in task performance, actigraphy, EEG, eye tracking and fNIRS measurements between adult ADHD patients and healthy controls. Demonstrating its efficacy, the VSR significantly distinguished between patients and healthy controls, with notable differences observed in several parameters (Wiebe et al., 2023).

The second study investigated whether brain stimulation via tACS can increase the P300 amplitude in adults with ADHD, potentially leading to symptom improvement. Examination of active and sham tACS conditions revealed no evidence of an enhanced P300 amplitude following active stimulation compared to sham. Although active tACS stimulation significantly increased the N700 amplitude unlike sham stimulation, this increase was not reflected in any improvement in attention performance measures. In sum, our findings do not support the previous research conducted by Dallmer-Zerbe et al. (2020), which reported symptom improvement in adult ADHD patients through an increase in mean P300 amplitude using tACS.

In the third study, we examined the potential of tACS as a treatment for adult ADHD in combination with the developed VSR. After both, sham and active tACS, a significant increase in alpha band power was observed. Although there was a trend towards an interaction effect, the increase in symptom improvement was not significantly higher after active stimulation compared to sham stimulation. Overall, we did not find any intervention-related symptom improvement.

4.2 Electrical Brain Stimulation as a Therapeutic Approach for Psychiatric Disorders

Several studies have demonstrated the effectiveness of tACS as a therapeutic intervention for various psychiatric disorders (Elyamany et al., 2021; Biačková et al., 2023). For instance, Grover et al. (2023) reported a meta-analysis showing improvements in cognitive functions such as working memory, long-term memory, attention, executive control, and fluid intelligence. The most promising results have been observed in patients with schizophrenia and depression (Frohlich and Townsend, 2021; Lee et al., 2022). However, there is only limited evidence to support the therapeutic efficacy of tACS for the treatment of ADHD (Dallmer-Zerbe et al., 2020; Farokhzadi et al., 2021). In contrast, tDCS, which is a similar brain stimulation technique, has undergone extensive study (Rubia, 2018). Salehinejad et al. (2019) found significant improvements in inhibitory control and working memory in ADHD patients following tDCS application, with a small-to-medium effect size. These findings were supported by a subsequent meta-analysis (Salehinejad et al., 2020). Breitling et al. (2016) also noted improvements in the interference control of patients with ADHD by administering anodal tDCS over the right inferior frontal gyrus. Overall, tDCS is a promising alternative to psychopharmacological therapy. However, further clinical investigations are needed to confirm its efficacy.

4.3 Limitations and Future Perspective

NiBS techniques can modulate targeted brain oscillations by applying a weak current to the scalp (for details see, Antal and Herrmann, 2016). Developing NiBS therapies tailored to ADHD patients requires a comprehensive understanding of ADHD neuromakers. With the application of tACS, it is particularly important to identify the altered brain oscillations underlying ADHD. However, there is no definite consensus on ADHD neuromarkers at present (for an overview, see Kiiski et al., 2020), and recent evidence suggests that neuromarkers can differ between ADHD subtypes (for review, cf. Slater et al., 2022). To examine the therapeutic benefits of tACS, large-scale and highly individualized clinical trials are required. These trials should account for potential differences in neuromarkers for ADHD subtypes. Moreover, further studies focusing on individual neuroanatomy and brain state are needed (Kasten et al., 2019; Laakso et al., 2015, 2019; Opitz et al., 2018; Zanto et al., 2021). Through interdisciplinary collaboration, translational research can make such studies feasible. Nonetheless, translational research faces several obstacles that may add

to the complexity and burden of these time-consuming research projects (Pober et al., 2001). Moreover, integrating tACS in a closed-loop system that simultaneously monitors the patient's brain activity and adjust stimulation parameters based on real-time EEG measurements could be beneficial (Leite et al., 2017; Stecher et al., 2021). The second study of this dissertation aimed to increase the P300 amplitude, which made the experiment time-sensitive as the positive wave of the sinusoidal current had to align with the P300's positive deflection. Future studies should be less time-sensitive, initially focusing on targeting brain oscillations rather than ERPs to avoid overcomplicating the already complex experimental setup. Since transcranial electrical stimulation (TES) is safely tolerated, even in repeated sessions (Nikolin et al., 2018; Riddle et al., 2019; Wilkening et al., 2019), longitudinal studies should investigate whether tACS can sustainably improve ADHD symptoms and ensure that these effects are enduring. Overall, there are several parameters that need further investigation to develop an effective alternative therapy approach for ADHD.

4.4 Implications for Clinical Application of tACS

To introduce tACS into the health care system and especially for the treatment of ADHD, several aspects need to be considered (for tDCS, see Charvet et al., 2020). The main goals are to identify and optimize stimulation parameters to enhance the effectiveness and safety of tACS for symptom improvement, ensuring compliance with the medical device regulations (Elyamany et al., 2021). To this end, randomized controlled trials are necessary to evaluate the therapeutic efficacy and long-term safety of tACS. Following research consensus, it is essential to develop a medical therapy device customizable to each patient, taking into account factors such as age, neuroanatomy, and ADHD subtype. The design focus should encompass user-centered principles, such as participatory design, to create a medical product that meets the actual users' needs (for a systematic review, see Vandekerckhove et al., 2020). Ideally, the design should be compact, costeffective, and mobile to facilitate its accessibility. In addition, the stimulation system should be simple to apply, eliminating the need for complex and time-consuming electrode adjustments, and enhancing time-efficient treatment of psychiatric disorders. Thus, improving the overall user experience and enable continues application at home. Patient safety is crucial in the development and deployment of a medical product. As such the

compliance with regulatory requirements for medical devices is vital to maintain high-guality standards and prevent unexpected side effects. To ensure the ongoing safety and effectiveness, long-term safety monitoring and adverse event reporting mechanisms, for instance a reliable assessment of side effects, should be established. Additionally, clear user guidelines, safety tutorials, and robust trainings as well as instructional programs for medical staff and patients are necessary, particularly for home-based intervention, to ensure the device is used safely and correctly with emphasize on adherence to prescribed stimulation parameters. Safety features, like mechanisms to restrict unlimited access to stimulation settings (e.g., current intensity, duration, number of sessions), should be built into the device to prevent manual changes of stimulation parameters. Moreover, emergency mechanisms are essential to stop the stimulation automatically if the contact quality between the stimulation electrodes and scalp reaches a critical level (shut down mechanism). Finally, healthcare providers and patients should be supported through programs that ensure the safety and efficacy of the device. In conclusion, introducing tACS into the health care system, especially for the treatment of ADHD, requires an initial clinical proof of concept.

4.5 Conclusion

The main objectives of this dissertation were to investigate the feasibility of a multi-modal, realistic, and standardized testing environment to assess ADHD symptoms and to evaluate the potential therapeutic effect of the NiBS technique tACS. Although we were not able to confirm a benefit of tACS for ADHD patients so far, our research highlights the need for further fundamental research on ADHD neuromarkers, a detailed understanding of the tACS mechanisms and applications, and the development of multimodal assessment tools for ADHD. For the latter, the developed VSR appears suitable. As indicated previously, tACS is a new NiBS technique that has shown potential in alleviating cognitive impairment in various psychiatric disorders. The studies presented here provide a foundation for future research on using tACS for treating ADHD, although further investigations are needed to tailor tACS therapies for ADHD.

4.6 References

- Antal A, Herrmann CS. Transcranial Alternating Current and Random Noise Stimulation: Possible Mechanisms. Neural Plast 2016; 5:e3616807
- Biačková N, Adamová, A, Klírová, M. Transcranial alternating current stimulation in affecting cognitive impairment in psychiatric disorders: a review. Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci 2023; 9:1–24
- Breitling C, Zaehle T, Dannhauer M, Bonath B, Tegelbeckers J, Flechtner HH, et al. Improving Interference Control in ADHD Patients with Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation (tDCS). Front Cell Neurosci 2016;10:72
- Charvet LE, Shaw MT, Bikson M, Woods AJ, Knotkova H. Supervised transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) at home: A guide for clinical research and practice. Brain stim 2020;13(3):686–693
- Dallmer-Zerbe I, Popp F, Lam AP, Philipsen A, Herrmann CS. Transcranial Alternating Current Stimulation (tACS) as a Tool to Modulate P300 Amplitude in Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD): Preliminary Findings. Brain Topogr 2020;33(2):191–207
- Elyamany O, Leicht G, Herrmann CS, Mulert C. Transcranial alternating current stimulation (tACS): from basic mechanisms towards first applications in psychiatry. Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci 2021 Feb;271(1):135–156
- Farokhzadi F, Mohamadi MR, Khosli AK, Akbarfahim M, Beigi NA, Torabi P. Comparing the Effectiveness of the Transcranial Alternating Current Stimulation (TACS) and Ritalin on Symptoms of Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder in 7-14-Year-Old Children. Acta Med Iran 2021;58(12): 637–648
- Frohlich F, Townsend L. Closed-Loop Transcranial Alternating Current Stimulation: Towards Personalized Non-invasive Brain Stimulation for the Treatment of Psychiatric IIInesses. Curr Behav Neurosci Rep 2021;8(2):51–57
- Grover S, Fayzullina R, Bullard BM, Levina V, Reinhart RMG. A meta-analysis suggests that tACS improves cognition in healthy, aging, and psychiatric populations. Sci Transl Med 2023;15(697):eabo2044
- Iturrate I, Pereira M, Millán J del R. Closed-loop electrical neurostimulation: Challenges and opportunities. Curr Opin Biomed Eng 2018;8(12):28–37
- Kasten FH, Duecker K, Maack MC, Meiser A, Herrmann CS. Integrating electric field modeling and neuroimaging to explain inter-individual variability of tACS effects. Nat Commun 2019;10(1):5427
- Kiiski H, Bennett M, Rueda-Delgado LM, Farina FR, Knight R, Boyle R, et al. EEG spectral power, but not theta/beta ratio, is a neuromarker for adult ADHD. Eur J of Neurosci 2020;51(10):2095–2109

- Laakso I, Mikkonen M, Koyama S, Hirata A, Tanaka S. Can electric fields explain interindividual variability in transcranial direct current stimulation of the motor cortex? Sci Rep 2019;9(626):1–10
- Laakso I, Tanaka S, Koyama S, De Santis V, Hirata A. Inter-subject Variability in Electric Fields of Motor Cortical tDCS. Brain Stim 2015;8(5):906913
- Lee ARYB, Yau CE, Mai AS, Tan WA, Ong BSY, Yam NE, et al. Transcranial alternating current stimulation and its effects on cognition and the treatment of psychiatric disorders: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Ther Adv Chronic Dis 2022;13:1–11
- Leite J, Morales-Quezada L, Carvalho S, Thibaut A, Doruk D, Chen CF, et al. Surface EEG-Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation (tDCS) Closed-Loop System. Int J Neural Syst 2017;27(6):1750026
- Nikolin S, Huggins C, Martin D, Alonzo A, Loo CK. Safety of repeated sessions of transcranial direct current stimulation: A systematic review. Brain Stim 2018;11(2):278–288
- Opitz A, Yeagle E, Thielscher A, Schroeder C, Mehta AD, Milham MP. On the importance of precise electrode placement for targeted transcranial electric stimulation. Neuroimage 2018;181(11):560–567
- Pober JS, Neuhauser CS, Pober JM. Obstacles facing translational research in academic medical centers. FASEB J 2001;15(13):2303–2313
- Riddle J, Rubinow DR, Frohlich, F. A case study of weekly tACS for the treatment of major depressive disorder. Brain Stim 2019;3:576–577
- Rubia K. Cognitive Neuroscience of Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD) and Its Clinical Translation. Front Hum Neurosci 2018;12(100):1–23
- Salehinejad MA, Wischnewski M, Nejati V, Vicario CM, Nitsche MA. Transcranial direct current stimulation in attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder: A meta-analysis of neuro-psychological deficits. PLOS ONE 2019;14(4):e0215095
- Salehinejad MA, Nejati V, Mosayebi-Samani M, Mohammadi A, Wischnewski M, Kuo MF, et al. Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation in ADHD: A Systematic Review of Efficacy, Safety, and Protocol-induced Electrical Field Modeling Results. Neurosci Bull 2020;36(10):1191–1212
- Slater J, Joober R, Koborsy BL, Mitchell S, Sahlas E, Palmer C. Can electroencephalography (EEG) identify ADHD subtypes? A systematic review. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 2022;139(8):104752
- Stecher HI, Notbohm A, Kasten FH, Herrmann CS. A Comparison of Closed Loop vs. Fixed Frequency tACS on Modulating Brain Oscillations and Visual Detection. Front Hum Neurosci 2021; 15(6):661432

- Vandekerckhove P, de Mul M, Bramer WM, de Bont AA. Generative Participatory Design Methodology to Develop Electronic Health Interventions: Systematic Literature Review. J Med Internet Res 2020;22(4):e13780
- Wiebe A, Aslan B, Brockmann C, Lepartz A, Dudek D, Kannen K, et al. Multimodal assessment of adult attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder: A controlled virtual seminar room study. Clin Psychol Psychother 2023;30(5):1111–1129
- Wilkening A, Kurzeck A, Dechantsreiter E, Padberg F, Palm U. Transcranial alternating current stimulation for the treatment of major depression during pregnancy. Psychiatry Res 2019;279:399–400
- Zanto TP, Jones KT, Ostrand AE, Hsu WY, Campusano R, Gazzaley A. Individual differences in neuroanatomy and neurophysiology predict effects of transcranial alternating current stimulation. Brain Stim 2021;14(5):1317–1329

5. Acknowledgements

I would like to take this opportunity to thank all those who have accompanied me on my academic journey and contributed in diverse ways to the success of my dissertation project. I am particularly grateful to my first supervisor, Prof. Dr. Alexandra Philipsen, for her supervision, encouragement, and patience. My dissertation project greatly benefited from her valuable expertise in adult ADHD. I would like to express my sincere gratitude to Prof. Dr. Christoph S. Herrmann for his support throughout my academic journey, starting from the beginning of my master's degree. As a specialist in the field of non-invasive brain stimulation techniques, I benefitted from his profound knowledge, as he kindly agreed to be the second supervisor of my dissertation.

I am profoundly grateful to Dr. Niclas Braun for his invaluable supervisory support throughout the entirety of my dissertation project and for steadfastly standing by my side, offering unwavering encouragement and guidance, regardless of the challenges or triumphs we encountered. I have always felt well advised and exceedingly comfortable within his research group, and my fondest memories of my academic journey are closely intertwined with the exceptional, wonderful working atmosphere fostered therein.

Furthermore, I wish to extend my heartfelt gratitude to the esteemed members of the dissertation committee, Prof. Dr. Silke Lux and Prof. Dr. Ulrich Ettinger, for their generous support and invaluable contribution to the progress of my dissertation. I am deeply appreciative of the gracious financial support extended by the German Federal Ministry of Education and Research, which has been instrumental in making the 'ATTENTION'-project a reality. I extend my sincerest gratitude to all of the participants who participated in my experiments amidst the extraordinary challenges posed by the COVID-19 pandemic.

I wish to express my gratitude to my esteemed colleagues, particularly Annika Wiebe and Benjamin Selaskowski, for their exceptional collaboration and unwavering support. I am deeply appreciative of all the people who have contributed to my journey, including those who may not have been explicitly mentioned in my acknowledgment. Your support and assistance were invaluable to me. Finally, I extend heartfelt appreciation to my beloved family and friends for their enduring emotional support.